
OVERVIEW SCRUTINY GROUP

This meeting will be recorded and the sound recording subsequently made available via 
the Council’s website: charnwood.gov.uk/pages/committees

Please also note that under the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 
that other people may film, record, tweet or blog from this meeting.  The use of any 
images or sound recordings is not under the Council’s control.

To: Councillors Baines, Bradshaw, Brookes, Capleton (Chair), Gerrard, Paling and 
Ranson (Vice-Chair) (For attention)

All other members of the Council
(For information)

You are requested to attend the meeting of the Overview Scrutiny Group to be held in 
Committee Room 2 - Council Offices on Monday, 11th February 2019 at 6.30 pm for the 
following business.

Chief Executive

Southfields
Loughborough

1st February 2019

AGENDA

1.  APOLOGIES

2.  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 4 - 8

To approve the minutes of the meeting of the Group held on 14th January 2019.

3.  DISCLOSURES OF PECUNIARY AND PERSONAL INTEREST

4.  DECLARATIONS OF THE PARTY WHIP

Public Document Pack

Page 1

file:///C:/Users/karenw/AppData/local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/NU3M8P7G/charnwood.gov.uk/pages/committees


5.  QUESTIONS UNDER SCRUTINY COMMITTEE PROCEDURES 
11.16

No questions were submitted.

6.  CABINET ITEMS FOR PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY

The following items were identified for pre-decision scrutiny from the 
Cabinet agenda for 14th February 2018:

(a)  Lightbulb Service Implementation Update 
A report of the Head of Stratgic and Private Sector Housing to 
provide an update on the implementation of the Lightbulb 
Service in Charnwood and to consider whether to continue 
the project will be presented for pre-decision scrutiny. This is 
in order to make recommendations to the Cabinet as 
appropriate.

9 - 80

(b)  Capital Strategy 2019/20 
A report of the Head of Finance and Property Services to 
consider the Capital Strategy 2019/20 for approval.

81 - 129

7.  OVERVIEW SCRUTINY GROUP PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY - 
CABINET RESPONSE

130 - 134

A report of the Cabinet setting out its responses to recommendations of the Group 
on pre-decision scrutiny items. 

8.  WORK PROGRAMME 135 - 146

A report of the Head of Strategic Support setting out the list of forthcoming 
Executive Key Decisions and the Group’s Work Programme for consideration, in 
order to identify items for future scrutiny.

Page 2



SCRUTINY QUESTIONS

What topics to choose?

• What difference will scrutiny make?
• Is this an area of concern – public/performance/risk register?
• Is this a corporate priority?
• Could scrutiny lead to improvements? 
• What are the alternatives to pre-decision scrutiny?

Pre-decision scrutiny

• What is Cabinet being asked to agree?
• Why? 
• How does this relate to the overall objective? Which is …?
• What risks have been identified and how are they being addressed?
• What are the financial implications?

• What other options have been considered?
• Who has been consulted and what were the results?
• Will the decision Cabinet is being asked to take affect other policies, practices etc.?

Basic Questions

• Why are you/we doing this?
• Why are you/we doing it in this way?
• How do you/we know you are making a difference?
• How are priorities and targets set?
• How do you/we compare?
• What examples of good practice exist elsewhere?

Page 3



1 Overview Scrutiny Group - 14th January 2019
Published - 

OVERVIEW SCRUTINY GROUP
14TH JANUARY 2019

PRESENT: The Chair (Councillor Capleton)
The Vice Chair (Councillor Ranson)
Councillors Bradshaw, Brookes, Gerrard and 
Paling

Councillors Mercer (Cabinet Lead Member for 
Housing), Harper-Davies (Cabinet Lead Member 
for Performance of Major Contracts) and 
Smidowicz (Cabinet Lead Member for Regulatory 
Services, Enforcement and Licensing)

Strategic Director for Neighbourhoods and 
Community Wellbeing
Head of Cleansing and Open Spaces
Head of Leisure and Culture
Head of Strategic Support
Democratic Services Officer (NA)

The Chair stated that the meeting would be recorded and the sound recording 
subsequently made available via the Council’s website.  He also advised that, under 
the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014, other people may film, 
record, tweet or blog from this meeting, and the use of any such images or sound 
recordings was not under the Council’s control.

42. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

The minutes of the meeting of the Group held on 10th December 2018 were confirmed 
as a correct record and signed.

43. DISCLOSURES OF PECUNIARY AND PERSONAL INTEREST 

The following disclosures were made:

Councillor Ranson in respect of item 06A – a personal interest as her son managed 
the Loughborough Dynamo football club.

Councillor Brookes in respect of item 06C – a personal interest as a tenant of a 
Registered Provider property. 

44. DECLARATIONS OF THE PARTY WHIP 

No declarations were made.

45. QUESTIONS UNDER SCRUTINY COMMITTEE PROCEDURES 11.16 

No questions were submitted.

Public Document Pack

Page 1Page 4

Agenda Item 2



2 Overview Scrutiny Group - 14th January 2019
Published - 

46. PLAYING PITCHES, OPEN SPACES AND BUILT FACILITIES STRATEGIES 

A report of the Head of Cleansing and Open Spaces was considered (item 06A on the 
agenda filed with these minutes).

The Lead Member for Performance of Major Contracts, the Strategic Director for 
Neighbourhoods and Community Wellbeing, the Head of Leisure and Culture and the 
Head of Cleansing and Open Spaces attended the meeting to assist with 
consideration of the item and gave the following responses to issues raised:

(i) Confirmation was given that in some cases the Council was not adopting new 
developments, rather they were being managed by not for profit organisations. 
The Council was happy with how the organisations were managing the spaces 
and there did not appear to be any issues with quality, although it was only the 
start of the programme.

(ii) The Council had already committed resources to support some of the plans 
from the General Fund. Further funding would be secured through the SUE’s 
and from partner organisations such as the FA (Football Association).

(iii) A robust strategy was in place to ensure that Section 106 money was spent in 
time. Parish clerks were informed of the timescale and there was a planning 
officer in place to manage the Section 106 agreements and monitor the 
timescales. 

(iv) Reference was made to concerns from County Councillor Max Hunt regarding 
the strategies, which had been circulated to the Group prior to the meeting.

(v) The Council was open to adopting land and open spaces if the developers were 
willing to pay the commuted sum required. Decisions were made on an 
individual basis.

(vi) The strategy was created in line with National guidance which ensured there 
was a consistent approach. 

(vii) The Group was assured that there had been a very thorough public 
consultation with extensive communication to ensure involvement from 
members of the public and parish and town councils. The action plans would 
also continue to involve the public on an ongoing basis.

RESOLVED that the Cabinet be informed that the Group supports the 
recommendations as set out in the report of the Head of Cleansing and Open Spaces.

Reason 

Having considered the report and asked questions of the Lead Member for 
Performance of Major Contracts, the Strategic Director for Neighbourhoods and 
Community Wellbeing, the Head of Leisure and Culture and the Head of Cleansing 

Page 2Page 5



3 Overview Scrutiny Group - 14th January 2019
Published - 

and Open Spaces on the matter, the Group concluded that it would be appropriate for 
the Cabinet to approve the recommendations set out in the report. 

47. DISCRETIONARY HOUSES IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION LICENSING SCHEME 
OPTIONS 

A report of the Head of Strategic and Private Sector Housing was considered (item 
06B on the agenda filed with these minutes).

The Lead Member for Regulatory Services, Enforcement and Licensing and the Head 
of Strategic and Private Sector Housing attended the meeting to assist with 
consideration of the item and gave the following responses to issues raised:

(i) The Group was advised that the evidence gathered for the report was based on 
the level of formal complaints received regarding HMO properties. In 
Charnwood the complaint level was under 20% whereas other Councils who 
had introduced a discretionary licensing scheme cited complaint levels of up to 
45%. The Council had to ensure that there was sufficient demonstrable 
evidence to prove the need for a discretionary licensing scheme in the Borough 
and at present the evidence suggested that the need was not there.  However, 
the Lead Member for Regulatory Services, Enforcement and Licensing referred 
to many Members having additional anecdotal evidence that problems with 
HMO’s were much more widespread than as indicated by the available formal 
evidence.  

(ii) Funding of £65,000 from the Rogue Landlord Enforcement Scheme had been 
secured to carry out further research in the Borough relating to HMO’s. The 
Group was advised that £15,000 would be used by the Planning Department 
and be invested in actions for the Local Plan. The other £50,000 would be used 
to pay for external staff to carry out research in the area, investigating 
properties and interviewing residents.

(iii) The Group was advised that once further research evidence had been gathered 
it would be used to assess whether a discretionary licensing scheme could be 
justified. If so, this would involve setting license fees to cover the administration 
costs of the proposed scheme.

(iv) The Council already had a Corporate Enforcement Policy in place to address 
complaints using an incremental approach which was replicated in service 
specific policies.

(v) The Group was concerned that there was a void between the anecdotal 
evidence they had regarding HMO’s and the evidence reported to the Council. 
There was an agreement that something needed to be done to gather the 
further evidence required to be able to introduce an appropriate scheme.

RESOLVED that the Cabinet be informed that although the Group disputes some of 
the data provided in the report the Group supports the recommendations as set out in 
the report of the Head of Strategic and Private Sector Housing.

Page 3Page 6



4 Overview Scrutiny Group - 14th January 2019
Published - 

Reason 

Having considered the report and asked questions of the Lead Member for Regulatory 
Services, Enforcement and Licensing and the Head of Strategic and Private Sector 
Housing on the matter, the Group concluded that it would be appropriate for the 
Cabinet to approve the recommendations set out in the report. 

48. TENANCY STRATEGY 2019 - 2024 

A report of the Head of Strategic and Private Sector Housing seeking approval for the 
updated Tenancy Strategy was considered (item 06C on the agenda filed with these 
minutes).

The Lead Member for Housing and the Head of Strategic and Private Sector Housing 
attended the meeting to assist with consideration of the item and gave the following 
responses to issues raised:

(i) The Group was advised that under the Localism Act there was an option for 
local authorities and Registered Providers to use fixed term tenancies. The 
strategy made reference to the guidelines, but the Council had not yet decided 
whether to adopt the fixed term tenancies as part of their own policy. 

(ii) The report was commended for recognising the need to provide affordable 
housing for residents and the Group was pleased with the way the Council 
dealt with tenants on an individual basis.

(iii) A separate Tenancy Policy would be presented to Cabinet after consultation 
had been completed with tenants to get their views.

RESOLVED that the Cabinet be informed that the Group supports the 
recommendations as set out in the report of the Head of Strategic and Private Sector 
Housing.

Reason 

Having considered the report and asked questions of the Lead Member for Housing 
and the Head of Strategic and Private Sector Housing on the matter, the Group 
concluded that it would be appropriate for the Cabinet to approve the 
recommendations set out in the report. 

49. OVERVIEW SCRUTINY GROUP PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY - CABINET 
RESPONSE 

A report of the Cabinet was considered setting out its responses to the 
recommendations of the Group on pre-decision scrutiny items (item 7 on the agenda 
filed with these minutes).     

Page 4Page 7



5 Overview Scrutiny Group - 14th January 2019
Published - 

RESOLVED that the Cabinet’s responses to the Group’s recommendations be noted.

Reason 

The Group was satisfied that it added value where appropriate and welcomed the 
Cabinet’s consideration of the Group’s views and recommendations as part of its 
decision making process. 

50. WORK PROGRAMME 

A report of the Head of Strategic Support was considered, to enable the Group to 
consider its work programme and forthcoming Key Decisions and decisions to be 
taken in private by the Cabinet in order to schedule items for pre-decision scrutiny and 
to provide an opportunity for members of the Group to raise suggestions on issues for 
scrutiny (in addition to pre-decision scrutiny) which fell within the Group’s remit, for 
scheduling by Scrutiny Management Board (item 8 on the agenda filed with these 
minutes).

The Group considered the report (and further information on the forthcoming Key 
Decisions and decisions to be taken in private by the Cabinet provided by the Chief 
Executive at this meeting) and agreed to schedule items for pre-decision scrutiny prior 
to the next Cabinet meeting, but that the following pre-decision scrutiny items should 
be added to its work programme at this stage:

 Council Tax – Amendment to Empty Homes Premium and Exemptions – 
February 2019

RESOLVED that the Group’s current work programme be noted and updated following 
this meeting, in accordance with the decisions taken during consideration of this item 
and at this meeting and any items of pre-decision scrutiny that require changing due to 
their reprogramming by the Cabinet.

Reason

To ensure effective and timely scrutiny, either to provide Cabinet with advice prior to it 
taking a decision or to ensure that the Council and external public service providers 
and partners were operating effectively for the benefit of the Borough.

NOTES:

1. No reference may be made to these minutes at the Council meeting on 25th 
February 2019 unless notice to that effect is given to the Democratic Services 
Manager by five members of the Council by noon on the fifth working day following 
publication of these minutes.

2. These minutes are subject to confirmation as a correct record at the next meeting 
of the Overview Scrutiny Group.

Page 5Page 8



CABINET – 14TH FEBRUARY 2019 
 

Report of the Head of Strategic and Private Sector Housing 
Lead Member: Councillor Mercer 

 
Part A 

 
 

LIGHTBULB SERVICE MODEL UPDATE 

Purpose of Report 
 
To present an update of the Lightbulb Service model and to seek approval for the 
continuation of the Lightbulb Service in Charnwood, and to agree the additional 
expenditure outlined in the report. 
 
Recommendations   
 
1. Cabinet note the implementation, review and performance of the Lightbulb 

Service model in Charnwood. 
 
2. Cabinet agree to participate in the Lightbulb Service Model, for a period of 3 

years with a possible 2 year extension (ie financial years 2019-2020 to 2023-
2024).  
 

3. Cabinet agree to approve Option 1 at a cost of £123,158 for 2019-2020, this is 
capital expenditure financed through the Disabled Facilities Grant. 

  
4. If there are any significant changes to costs or Government funding during the 

agreement period, Charnwood’s participation in the Scheme will be reviewed 
and a report brought back to Cabinet. 

 

Reasons   
 
1. To enable Cabinet to understand the performance and the benefits of the model 

to residents of the Borough. 
 

2.&3. To enable Cabinet to agree the continuation of the Lightbulb Service Model, 
following presentation of the Lightbulb Business Case, internal review and the 
method of funding.  

 
4. To allow reconsideration if Government funding is withdrawn or reduced or the 

costs of the Scheme to Charnwood alter significantly. 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6a



Policy Justification and Previous Decisions 
 
In April 2015, District and County Council partners were awarded £1m Transformation 
Challenge Award funding from the Department for Communities and Local 
Government to transform practical housing support services in Leicestershire through 
the Lightbulb Programme. 
 
A Programme Team was appointed to take this work forward with partners and 
develop a new, integrated model for housing support that would: 
 

• Deliver savings to the health and care economy by maximising the part housing 
support can play in keeping people independent in their homes; preventing or 
reducing care home placements or demand on other social care services, 
avoiding unnecessary hospital admissions/readmissions or GP visits and 
facilitating hospital discharge. 

•  Improve the customer journey; making services easier to access and navigate 
and ensuring the right solution is available at the right time with the right outcome. 

• Provide efficient, cost effective service delivery, particularly in relation to the 
delivery of Disabled Facilities Grants. 

 

In May 2017, minute number 113 Cabinet approved the following: 
 

• Charnwood’s participation in the Lightbulb Service Model be approved;  

• Participation be on the basis of the Locality Team Option set out in Section 3.1 
of Part B of the report of the Head of Strategic and Private Sector Housing;  

• Charnwood’s participation in the project be reassessed should funding provision 
for the Service change in the future;  

• The report of the Overview Scrutiny Group be noted. 
 

Implementation Timetable including Future Decisions and Scrutiny 
 
The Cabinet is asked to approve the continuation of the Lightbulb Service Model set 
out in the Business Case (Appendix 1) and continue to deliver services.  
 
Report Implications 
 
The following implications have been identified for this report. 
 
Financial Implications 
 
If Cabinet agree to the continuation of the Lightbulb Service Model in Charnwood, it 
be noted that there will be no additional costs to Charnwood, as the Service will be 
fully funded through the Disabled Facility Grant. 
  
Risk Management 
 
The risks associated with the decision Cabinet is asked to make and proposed actions 
to mitigate those risks are set out in the tables below: 
 

Lightbulb Service Model  

Page 10



   

Risk Identified  
Current Risk 

Likelihood Impact Risk Management Actions 
Planned to reduce the risks 

Organisational 
culture is change 
resistant and not 
able to implement 
Lightbulb effectively 
or to timescales. 

Possible Major Develop and implement a 
continual programme of 
engagement. 
 
Lightbulb partners to undertake a 
‘readiness audit’ and develop a 
transition plan following sign off of 
the Business Case. 

Lack of buy in from 
Elected Members 
(across all partner 
authorities) means 
the Business Case 
does not get signed 
off, preventing 
implementation of 
the Lightbulb 
service. 

Unlikely Moderate Regular engagement with 
Members to raise awareness and 
promote the benefits of Lightbulb 
both for 
partner authorities and 
customers. 

Budget holders 
cannot agree a 
demand based 
funding allocation to 
support the Hub 
and Spoke 
Lightbulb service 
Model. 

Unlikely Moderate Develop Business Case setting 
out the benefits to all partners of 
the Lightbulb model and use this 
to engage with officers and 
Members. 
 
Engage with finance offices from 
partner organisations to develop 
the financial model. 

  

Charnwood Borough Council    
 
In addition to the risks outlined above for the Lightbulb Programme the Cabinet need 
to consider the following: 
 

Risk Identified Likelihood Impact Risk Management Actions 
Planned to reduce the risks 

Partner budget 
contributions reduced 
or withdrawn from the 
Scheme. 

Possible Major Engage with finance officers 
from partner organisations to 
identify alternative sources of 
funding to continue with the 
service model. 

Charnwood deliver 
the Locality Team 
model we would have 
3 Housing Support 
Coordinators that we 
would need to either 
fund or make 
redundant if the 
County removed their 
contribution for the 
Lightbulb Service 

Possible Major Recruit 3 Housing Support 
Coordinators on Fixed Term 
contracts. 

Page 11



Model. 

Ministry of Housing and 
Communities and 
Local Government 
Disabled Facilities 
funding  
reduced or withdrawn. 

Unlikely Major There are no actions to reduce 
this risk. Should this occur the 
service would need to be 
reviewed and a recommendation 
has been made to that effect. 

 

Equality and Diversity 
 
An equality and impact assessment has been completed by Blaby District Council as 
the Project Managers (see Appendix 3). 
 
 
Key Decision:   Yes 
 

Background Papers:  Cabinet Report, 11th May 2017 
https://www.charnwood.gov.uk/committees/cabinet
?paper_q=&paper_classification=&paper_startDat
e=2017-05-11&go=Search 

 
     Overview and Scrutiny Report, 8th May 2017 

https://www.charnwood.gov.uk/files/papers/osg_08
_may_2017_minutes1/OSG%2008%20May%2020
17%20Minutes.pdf 

 
     Performance Scrutiny Report, 20th November 2018 

https://charnwood.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocume
nts.aspx?CId=135&MId=139&Ver=4  

 

Officer to contact:   Alison Simmons 
     Head of Strategic and Private Sector Housing 

01509 634780 
alison.simmons@charnwood.gov.uk 

 
 
  

Page 12

https://www.charnwood.gov.uk/committees/cabinet?paper_q=&paper_classification=&paper_startDate=2017-05-11&go=Search
https://www.charnwood.gov.uk/committees/cabinet?paper_q=&paper_classification=&paper_startDate=2017-05-11&go=Search
https://www.charnwood.gov.uk/committees/cabinet?paper_q=&paper_classification=&paper_startDate=2017-05-11&go=Search
https://www.charnwood.gov.uk/files/papers/osg_08_may_2017_minutes1/OSG%2008%20May%202017%20Minutes.pdf
https://www.charnwood.gov.uk/files/papers/osg_08_may_2017_minutes1/OSG%2008%20May%202017%20Minutes.pdf
https://www.charnwood.gov.uk/files/papers/osg_08_may_2017_minutes1/OSG%2008%20May%202017%20Minutes.pdf
https://charnwood.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=139&Ver=4
https://charnwood.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=139&Ver=4
mailto:alison.simmons@charnwood.gov.uk


Part B 
 
Background 
 
1. In May 2017, minute number 113 Cabinet approved the following: 
 

• that Charnwood’s participation in the Lightbulb Service Model be approved;  

• that participation be on the basis of the Locality Team Option set out in Section 
3.1 of Part B of the report of the Head of Strategic and Private Sector Housing;  

• that Charnwood’s participation in the project be reassessed should funding 
provision for the Service change in the future;  

• that the report of the Overview Scrutiny Group be noted. 
 
2. The Lightbulb offer includes setting out how local housing services can support 

and promote the health and wellbeing of Leicestershire citizens; offering to 
concentrate the collective efforts of the 7 Borough and District Councils on 
developing services to help health and social care partner ships achieve the 
Better Care Fund objectives. 

 
3. Lightbulb aims to provide a less complex and fragmented service, with reduced 

handoffs and waiting times for customers. 
 

4. The current 15th month agreement is coming to an end on the 31st March 2019.  
There is currently no budget included in 2019-2020 for the continuation of the 
Scheme.  All costs are fully funded by Disabled Facility Grant.  It is proposed that 
participation in the Scheme be continued. 

 
Lightbulb Business Case (Appendix 1) – Highlights 
 

5. Lightbulb went live in October 2017; there was a delay in Charnwood signing the 
agreement as we are providing a Locality based Team.  Charnwood went live in 
January 2018. 

 
6. Since the full roll out of the service, Housing Support Coordinators (HSCs) have 

completed approximately 4,300 cases for the benefit of customers across 
Leicestershire. This is an increase of around 50% to the projected workload. 

  
7. The additional productivity has had an impact on Occupational Therapists (OTs) 

allowing them to concentrate on delivering more complex caseloads. The OTs 
that operate to support the Lightbulb model have completed an additional 37% 
of cases than projected to be delivered prior to full roll out of the service. 

 
8. This means that across these roles, the service has been significantly more 

productive and efficient than initially projected with an improvement on delivery 
by approximately a week compared to the previous contracts in place. 

 
9. Delivery of the Disabled Facility Grants (DFG) have seen a reduction in hand offs 

and the number of cases being referred for a DFG has reduced by 43%.  
 

Page 13



10. This is partially due to the predicted shift from major adaptations to minor 
adaptations delivered by HSC’s and is in line with the objectives of the original 
Business Case and the prevention ambitions of Local and Central Government.  

 
11. Two Districts so far have reached the target delivery time of 20 weeks with all 

showing improved delivery times (Except for Melton Borough Council who had a 
large volume of cases handed over).   

 
12. Analysis of DFG performance shows that historical cases have had an impact on 

projected delivery timescales. As with Melton it is anticipated that this will improve 
as more existing cases follow the new pathways for delivery.  

 
Customer Impact  
 
13. The Customer Insight work conducted prior to the development of the original 

Business Case showed that 95% customers wished to have a single point of 
contact.  

 
14. This principle has been developed within the service for all cases that do not 

involve a DFG. Where a DFG is required there is a single hand off to a Technical 
Officer. As part of the roll out of the future Trusted Assessor model, HSCs will 
become the single point of contact for some DFG categories, helping to fulfil the 
ideology developed in the Customer Insight work.   

 
15. In addition, Lightbulb has been able to undertake targeted prevention work with 

vulnerable individuals with the aim of reducing or delaying their need to access 
more costly services and have signposted them to wider prevention through 
Leicestershire’s First Contact Plus.  

 
16. Further Customer Insight work is programmed into the future developments 

phase over the next 5 years. 
 
Charnwood’s Review (Appendix 2) - Highlights   
 

17. Following completion of the revised Lightbulb Business Case for Transforming 
and Integrating Practical Housing Support in Leicestershire, in December 2018, 
an internal review of the progress and impact of Lightbulb within Charnwood has 
been undertaken. 

 
18. The full Review Report is attached as Appendix 2. 
 
19. With the Locality Team model, Charnwood directly employ a locality based 

Lightbulb team and deliver the service directly across the Borough (linking with 
the central Hub to ensure consistency of operating procedures and resilience in 
the overall system). 

 
20. The Lightbulb Team within Charnwood consists of 3 Housing Support 

Coordinators (HSCs), 1 Technical Officer, 0.5 FTE Administrative Officers, in 
addition to 1 FTE co located Occupational Therapist (OT). Information about the 
demand for services and learning from the Lightbulb Pilots was used to quantify 

Page 14



the staffing resources required across different Council areas in the original 
Lightbulb Business Case. The breakdown of total Lightbulb demand by Council 
area for Charnwood was estimated at 26%, this has now been reduced to 24% 
following implementation. 

 
Housing Support Coordinators 
 
21. Charnwood’s Housing Support Coordinators (HSCs) are trained and skilled to 

deliver: 
 

• Assessment and ordering of minor adaptations and equipment  

• Assessment of non-complex DFGs 

• Assessment and resolution of wider practical housing support needs 

• Housing related health and wellbeing support (warm homes, falls prevention 
etc.) 

• Planning for the future (housing choices and options) 

• Advice, sign posting, self help 
 
22. At go live within Charnwood in January 2018, 172 cases were awaiting 

assessment. This large number was due in part to the delay in the signing of the 
Legal Agreements between Leicestershire County Council, Blaby District Council 
and Charnwood Borough Council. 

 
23. The inherited backlog of cases awaiting assessment, which accrued as a result 

of the delay, is still impacting on the overall waiting times of those residents 
waiting for an assessment within the Borough. 

 
24. The waiting list is not static with an average of around 17 new referrals a week 

coming into Charnwood from the Customer Contact Centre at Leicestershire 
County Council. 

 
25. At the time of writing this report, almost a year since go live, the number of people 

on the waiting list is 125. The aim is to reduce this number to 100 by the end of 
March 2019. 

 
Disabled Facilities Grants 
 
26. Where a HSC or OT identifies that a major adaptation is required, a referral is 

made to the Central Hub (this was previously made to the Adaptations Team at 
County Council, but this function is gradually moving to the Central Hub). In the 
case of a HSC, within Charnwood, they will complete a Provisional Test of 
Resources with the client to indicate the likelihood of eligibility, based on the 
means test, of a DFG prior to making the referral.  

 
27. The Technical Officer will then assess the referral and progress the application 

as necessary. In some cases this will involve working with an Architect 
Technician, or an OT, in other cases a scheme of work will be developed directly 
by the Technical Officer.  

 

Page 15



28. In respect of DFG referrals received in 2017, the average delivery time for a DFG 
within Charnwood was 26 weeks. Post Lightbulb go live in 2018, has fallen to 18 
weeks. 

 
Benefits of the Lightbulb Service Model for Residents 
 
29. The Lightbulb assessment ensures that ‘Every Contact Counts’, working 

effectively so people are referred earlier, rather than at crisis point. 
 
30. Robust research is beginning to show that adaptations improve physical and 

mental wellbeing and reduce the fear of falling, enabling people to live 
independently in their own homes for longer. 

 
31. Lightbulb Customer Feedback has been extremely positive, with frequent calls 

to express appreciation from those assessed and their family members. 
 
32. Case Studies for Charnwood Residents are included in the Review Report 

attached as Appendix 2. 
 
Business Case (Appendix 1) Proposals 
 
33. It is proposed that the Lightbulb Service model which is set out in the Lightbulb 

refreshed Business Case (Appendix 1), is continued to be supported as the 
mechanism for delivering the Housing Support offer across Leicestershire. 

 
34. The original Lightbulb structure is built on a ‘Hub and Spoke’ model, with Blaby 

District Council acting as the ‘Hub’, which provides the centralised functions of 
management, performance reporting, resilience planning and quality assurances 
on behalf of all partners.  

 
35. Blaby District Council will continue to deliver the locality ‘Spoke’ service on behalf 

of the other Boroughs and Districts (with the exception of Charnwood who 
employ their own Lightbulb staff). 

 
36. Since the original Lightbulb Business Case in December 2016, the central 

administration has been co-located (except for Charnwood) which although was 
not built into the original model, has proved to be beneficial in terms of offering 
resource resilience for the participating Boroughs and Districts. 

 
37. The Business Case (Appendix 1) outlines 4 options for Charnwood to consider: 
 

• Option 1 - Existing staffing structure, application of an 11% increase in 
service running costs.  

 
This uplift is comprised of national salary increases and national changes to 
Local Authority grading structures and the reallocation of costs to reflect 
forecasted demand by Borough and District for 2019-2020, including for the 
Central Hub and Operational Officers. 
 

Page 16



• Option 2 - Option 1 plus an Office Manager position to manage the 
administration officers and deliver requirements around performance, 
support back office systems and processes and proposed service 
improvements listed below. 

 
It has been agreed that Option 3 and 4 be looked at outside the scope of the 
Business Case as they are temporary measures. 

 
Review and Recommendations of the Options 
 
38. The table below provides comments against each of the Options: 
 

 
Options 

 

 
Comments 

1 Existing staffing structure with an 
indicative 11% increase in service 
running costs, covering salary 
increases etc. This includes the 
reallocation of costs to reflect demand 
in each area including central hub and 
operational 
officers 

Cabinet are asked to approve this Option. 
 
The demand for Charnwood 2019-2020 is 
forecasted at 24%. 
 
The total budget required for 2019-2020 
would be £123,158, which includes staffing 
costs of £107,635 and Central Hub costs of 
£25,112. 
 
This is an increase of £1,565 on the 2018-
2019 budget. 
 
All costs are fully funded by Disabled 
Facility Grant. 

2 Option 1 plus an Office Manager 
position to manage the 
administration officers and deliver 
requirements around performance, 
support back office systems and 
processes and proposed service 
improvements  

Charnwood does not support this Option as 
the Administration function is managed by 
internal resources at Charnwood. 

3 Option 1 plus increases in Housing 
Support Co-ordinators and 
Technical Officers to address demand 

This Option was discussed at the Board 
and it was agreed that Option 3 be looked 
at outside the scope of the Business Case 
as they are temporary measures. 

4 To financially support all options 1-3 
above 

This Option was discussed at the Board 
and it was agreed that Option 4 be looked 
at outside the scope of the Business Case 
as they are temporary measures. 

 

Lightbulb Agreement Arrangements 
 
39. The Board have recommended that all the Partners sign up to a 5 year 

agreement.   
 

40. It is proposed that the Charnwood agree to a period of 3 years with a possible 2 
year extension.    

Page 17



 
41. Any approval for annual variations will be picked up in the annual budget setting 

process. 
 

42. If there are any significant changes to costs and or Government funding during 
the agreement period, Charnwood’s participation in the Scheme will be reviewed 
and a report brought back to Cabinet. 

 
Funding required for the Lightbulb Service Model 2019-2020 
 
43. The total budget required to continue with the Lightbulb Service model for the 

next financial year is detailed in the table below: 
 

 
Costs 

 

 
Amount 

 
CBC - Management and Admin 
 

 
£29,400 

 
CBC - Technical Officer 
 

 
£43,000 

 
CBC - Overheads 
 

 
£9,300 

 
Lightbulb – Staffing     
                   Mileage 
 
Additional CBC overhead 
 

 
£107,635 
£4,200 

 
£1,965 

 

 
Lightbulb – Central Hub 

 
£25,122   

 

 
Sub-Total  
 

 
£220,622 

  
Minus LCC contribution 

 
£97,464 * 

 

 
Total Costs  
 

 
£123,158 

* Charnwood’s participation is subject to Leicestershire County Council’s 
confirming their funding contribution towards the Scheme. 

 
 

Appendices 
 
Appendix 1   Lightbulb Business Case 
Appendix 2  Lightbulb Review (Charnwood) 
Appendix 3  Equalities and Impact Assessment (Blaby) 

Page 18



 

1 
 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Lightbulb Business Case 

 for Transforming and Integrating Practical 

Housing Support in Leicestershire 

 

 

 

November 2018 (0.7)

Page 19

lauras
Text Box
APPENDIX 1



 

2 
 

Amendment History: 

Version Date Author Changes 

0.1 11.10.18 Lisa Carter / Richard 

Smeeton 

Deleted unnecessary text from original 

doc 

0.2 29.11.18 Lisa Carter / Richard 

Smeeton 

Incorporated comments from J Toman, 

Q Quinney, Tara Bhaur, C Davenport 

and N Brown 

0.3 2.12.18 John Richardson Executive Summary and 

Recommendations 

0.4 3.12.18 Lisa Carter Revisions to tables, incorporated text 

from Quin Quinney 

0.5 4.12.18 John Richardson Final amends following conference call 

with Lisa Carter 

0.6 13.12.18 Lisa Carter / Richard 

Smeeton 

Further amendments to financial tables 

0.7 03.01.18 Lisa Carter / Richard 

Smeeton 

Further amendments 

0.8 24.01.18 Lisa Carter Amends from CBC and LCC 

  

Page 20



 

3 
 

Index           Page 

1. Foreword              4 
 

2. Executive Summary           6 - 7 
 
3. Introduction            8 - 9 

- Background 
 

4. Strategic Context         10 - 12 
- Lightbulb as part of the Unified Prevention Offer 
- Lightbulb supporting the Adult Social Care Strategy 
- Disabled Facilities Grants and the Better Care Fund 

 
5. The Lightbulb Service        13 -20 

- Benefits to the health and Care economy 
- Medium and longer term benefits 
- Delivering process improvements and efficiencies 
- Role of the Housing Support Co-ordinators 
- Customer impact 

 
6. The financial model         21 - 26 

- Option 1 - existing staffing structure with an indicative 11% 
 increase in service running costs 

- Option 2 - Option 1 plus an Office Manager position  
- Option 3 - Option 1 plus increases in Housing Support  

Co-ordinators and Technical Officers to address demand 
- Option 4 – To financially support all options 1-3 above 
 

7. Future direction and service development     27 - 28 
- Service Development 

 
8. Programme Governance           29 
 
9. Recommendations           30 
 
10. Next Steps            31 
 

  

Page 21



 

4 
 

1. Foreword  

 

This document represents a scheduled refresh of the original business case for the 
Lightbulb service that transformed housing support in Leicestershire and which began 
in October 2017. In the context of our County wide Integration Programme, housing, 
health and social care partners recognised a major opportunity to radically redesign 
housing support, moving away from a historically fragmented set of services and 
constructing a new integrated housing offer focused on health and wellbeing outcomes, 
such as maximising independence in the home and preventing falls.  

The Lightbulb service originally benefited from a £1m transformation grant from the 
Department for Communities and Local Government, with a view to local learning being 
shared for the benefit of other parts of the country as an exemplar. 

The original business case was constructed from the following core components of 
work. 

 Demand analysis across a wide range of services and client groups 
 

 Customer insight analysis and lean methodology applied to end to end processes 
to challenge existing practices 

 

 Comparing housing support processes across different localities (for example 
examining the variation in the delivery of adaptations funded by Disabled Facilities 
Grants and how this could be streamlined) 

 

 Testing components of the integrated offer and measuring their impact in different 
settings  - e.g. integrated housing support for hospital discharge pathways, 
referrals from GP practice risk stratification lists, social prescribing for vulnerable 
people 

 

 Developing performance metrics and dashboards to assess the impact of delivery 
-  both operationally in terms of housing services performance, and strategically in 
terms of tracking the impact of housing support across the health and care system 
as a whole 

 

 Developing the workforce and skill mix assumptions associated with the new 
model of service - crucially setting out how a more holistic “housing MOT” could 
be delivered, and how integrated housing support could be coordinated via case 
management in the future 

 

 Developing a hub and spoke model of service with locality based teams, 
supported by a central hub 

 

 Developing a costed model of the service, based on commissioning the new 
service offer from within existing funding sources 

 

 Seeking agreement by stakeholders/commissioners to the new model of care and 
locality based costing model, with a view to implementation from 2019 onwards 

Page 22



 

5 
 

 
The first year of the service has presented an opportunity to evaluate demand 
against the original costed projections, adjust the development of process delivery, 
measure performance and benefits to customers and lastly to investigate future 
opportunities for the service.  

 

 

Cheryl Davenport      Jane Toman 
Director of Health and Care Integration   Chief Executive, Blaby DC 
Lightbulb Programme Sponsor              Lightbulb Programme Sponsor 
 
 
 
 

Key facts – Overview 
 

 The transformation of housing support services is supported by a number of 
national and local strategic drivers 

 Evidence and analysis show Lightbulb offers significant savings to the local 
health and care economy by helping to reduce falls, emergency admissions and 
length of hospital stay.  Pilot projects have already demonstrated the potential to 
save around £1.9m annually 

 Remodelling and integrating services through Lightbulb delivers process 
efficiencies for partners with potential to reduce the delivery cost of Disabled 
Facilities Grants 

 Lightbulb improves the customer journey, reducing handoffs and waiting times 
and putting the customer at the heart of the process.  Customers have access to 
a wider and consistent offer of housing support across Leicestershire 

 A targeted, proactive approach ensures Lightbulb is supporting the shift towards 
prevention 

 The locality based delivery model enables Lightbulb to align with and support the 
development of locality integrated health and social care teams  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



 

6 
 

2. Executive Summary 

 
Lightbulb is part of Leicestershire’s Unified Prevention Offer and Adult Social Care 
Strategy which brings together resources within Local Councils and NHS partners to 
ensure people can get the right level and type of support at the right time to help 
prevent, delay or reduce the need for on-going support and maximise their 
independence.  
 
Disabled Facilities Grants are funded through the Better Care Fund and managed 
within Lightbulb to encourage areas to think strategically about the use of home 
adaptations and technologies to support people in their own homes and to take a 
joined up approach to improve outcomes across health, social care and housing. 
 
As part of the original evaluation of Lightbulb it showed potential savings of 
£250,000. In addition the transfer of caseload management from Occupational 
Therapists to Housing Support Co-ordinators has realised an additional saving of 
£110,000 within the first year of service. 
 
Further savings are projected to arise from reduced falls, emergency admissions and 
ambulance call outs and by integrating service delivery.  Reducing length of stay in 
hospitals can also realise significant savings and synergies have been identified with 
the hospitals Housing Enablement Team. 
 
Lightbulb has been operating as a single team since April 2018 and has faced 
significant challenges including: 
 
- Bringing together a new team from a variety of agencies through TUPE which 

has resulted in a considerable turnover of staff 
- Establishing a central administrative hub, contrary to the agreed business case 
- Inheriting a sizeable backlog of cases 
- The replacement of the service manager (following promotion) 
- Difficulties with access to IT systems and the replacement of the performance 

management system  
 
Despite the above challenges, Lightbulb has successfully managed to deliver the 
expected improvements during the first year of delivery, including: 
 
- Reduced handoffs from 8 to 3  for assessment and installation of stairlifts and 

reduced costs by 11% 
- Reduced stages from 27 to 13 for level access showers and reduced costs by 

4% 
- Managing a significant increase in demand across the board 
- Transferred lower threshold work from high cost Occupational Therapists 

(OT’s) to Housing Support Co-ordinators allowing OT’s to focus on complex 
cases resulting in increased capacity for that team, enabling them to deal with 
an additional  37% case work increase 

- Improved DFG delivery times in all but one District, achieving the stretch target 
of 20 weeks in two Districts 

- Trained  Housing Support Co-ordinators to become Trusted Assessors -  this 
will further speed up delivery times as we move forwards  

Page 24



 

7 
 

- Outcome star showing significant improvement in all areas from pre to post 
Housing MOT 

- 96% customers answering yes to ‘has the service achieved everything you 
wanted’ 

- Inclusion of Home Support Grant through increased flexibility by adopting 
Regulatory Reform Order 

 
The initial funding for Lightbulb draws to an end on 31st March 2019 and, as such, it 
is timely to review the resources allocated for 2019/20. In order to do this, financial 
options have been prepared for consideration: 
 
- Option 1 - existing staffing structure with an indicative 11% increase in service 

running costs, covering salary increases etc. This also includes the reallocation 
of costs  to reflect demand in each area including central hub and operational 
officers 

- Option 2 - Option 1 plus an Office Manager position to manage the 
administration officers and deliver requirements around performance, support 
back office systems and processes and proposed service improvements listed 
below 

- Option 3 - Option 1 plus increases in Housing Support Co-ordinators and 
Technical Officers to address demand 

- Option 4 – To financially support all options 1-3 above 
 
It is recommended that partners sign up to a new 5 year Legal Agreement to provide 
service and staffing stability based on option 1, 2, 3 or 4. 
 
In signing up to the continuation of Lightbulb for Leicestershire the Management 
Board will continue to strive for further public sector cost savings and customer   
service improvements through the following; 
 
- Future Integration of Adaptations and Assistive Technology 
- Enabling GP’s and community health teams to access Lightbulb through First 

Contact Plus 
- Investigating how Lightbulb can be used to target ‘high risk’ patients using 

practice based data and case management information 
- Collective and smarter procurement practices 
- Development of more flexible DFG solutions 
- Engagement with social housing providers to discuss potential delivery of home 

adaptations in their stock 
- Continued customer insight and sharing of best practice 
- Development of a self serve offer for practical housing support 
 
Next Steps 
 
- Management Board to agree which option to progress through a collective 

governance process 
- Partners to take a standardised  report through individual governance 

processes to enable Legal and Information Sharing Agreements to be finalised 
prior to year 2 start date of 1 April 2019 

 

Page 25



 

8 
 

3. Introduction 

 
Background 

Leicestershire has a strong track record of collaborative work around housing issues.  
In 2013 Leicestershire’s Housing Services Partnership developed the Housing Offer 
to Health in conjunction with the Chartered Institute of Housing, which was adopted 
by the Leicestershire Health & Wellbeing Board.   

The Housing Offer to Health set out how housing services can support and promote 
the health and wellbeing of residents across the County.  The concept of Lightbulb 
was one of a number of practical opportunities to emerge from the Housing Offer to 
Health; now part of the BCF Unified Prevention Offer. 

In September 2014, the County and District Councils made a partnership bid to the 
Department for Communities and Local Government and were successfully awarded 
a £1m Transformation Challenge Award grant to develop the Lightbulb concept. A 
Programme team was appointed in 2015 to work with partners and take this concept 
forward.   

The previous model of service delivery in Leicestershire was fragmented and 
complex to navigate.  Support was funded and managed across two tiers of eight 
local authorities meaning it was difficult for customers to know where to start.  There 
were frequent handoffs and different housing support needs were often assessed 
and dealt with in isolation by different agencies, involving a range of different 
practitioners. 

Waiting times within the various parts of the system were lengthy and uncoordinated 
delaying the social, health and economic benefits to be gained from supporting 
individuals to continue to live independently in their homes, and missed opportunities 
for more holistic solutions. 

In October 2017, the Lightbulb service began, integrating practical housing support 
into a single service across Leicestershire. Lightbulb created an integrated, customer 
focused pathway across Leicestershire using a new Housing Support Co-ordinator 
role and the locally developed Housing MOT Checklist to identify a range of non-
complex housing support needs and to deliver and co-ordinate the solutions.  As well 
as reducing the complexity and handoffs associated with the current system, 
Housing Support Co-ordinators work with customers and carers to identify their own 
needs and preferred solutions; supporting the shift towards a lower cost, lower 
intervention and preventative approach, and one which is ultimately more person-
centred.  

The service delivers: 

 A single access point into a range of practical housing support solutions 
 

 A common, holistic housing needs assessment process 
 

 A broader, targeted offer of practical housing advice, information and support, 
including self-help and self-service options 

 

Page 26



 

9 
 

 An improvement in the Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) process and delivery 
times 

 
The shared ambition and key objectives detailed in the original business case have 
been rolled out to teams supporting each Leicestershire district locality. The key 
drivers of this integrated approach are to: 

 Support health and social care integration and deliver savings by maximising the 
part that housing support can play in keeping people independent in their homes 

 

 Helping to prevent, delay or reduce care home placements or demand for other 
social care services 

 

 Avoid unnecessary hospital admissions/readmissions or GP visits and facilitating 
timely hospital discharge 

 

 Improve the customer journey; making services easier to access and navigate 
and ensuring the right solution is available at the right time with the right outcome 

 

 Provide efficient, cost effective service delivery (particularly in relation to the 
delivery of Disabled Facilities Grants) through service redesign; capitalising on 
opportunities to realise economies of scale, more effective working practices, and 
improved processes to create greater capacity   

 
This refresh of the Lightbulb business case is aimed primarily at local authority 
partners - County and District councils in Leicestershire – who will need to review the 
changes proposed since the original business case to realise and sustain the aims 
and ambitions of the Lightbulb Programme for the next 5 years of service delivery.  It 
also presents important evidence to health colleagues and commissioners of the 
benefits of an integrated, targeted approach to housing support to the wider health 
and social care economy and evidences transformation of service delivery. 

 

 

 

 

4. Strategic context  

 

Lightbulb as part of the Unified Prevention Offer 

 

 

 

 

Key facts – Overview 
 

 The concept of Lightbulb was one of a number of practical opportunities to emerge 
from the Housing Offer to Health; now part of the BCF Unified Prevention Offer. 

 In October 2017, the Lightbulb service began, integrating practical housing support 
into a single service across Leicestershire 

 This refresh business case presents important evidence to health colleagues and 
commissioners of the benefits of an integrated, targeted approach to housing support 
to the wider health and social care economy and evidences transformation of service 
delivery. 

Page 27



 

10 
 

4.  Strategic Context  

 
Lightbulb as part of the Unified Prevention Offer 

Lightbulb sits alongside a range of other initiatives as part of Leicestershire’s Unified 
Prevention Offer, ensuring a co-ordinated approach to preventative services both 
across the county and different stakeholder organisations.   

This represents a comprehensive preventative offer, bringing together resources 
available to Local Councils and NHS partners.  Through this offer, every opportunity 
is taken to improve health and wellbeing, support vulnerable people, maintain 
people’s independence, manage demand, and address the wider determinants of 
health and wellbeing. 

The strategic direction provided by the multi-agency Unified Prevention Board 
ensures that the integrated housing pathway is developed through the Lightbulb 
Programme and is fully aligned with other initiatives as part of this comprehensive 
preventative offer. 

 

Diagram 2 –Unified prevention offer for Leicestershire 

 

 

Lightbulb supporting the Adult Social Care Strategy 

Leicestershire’s Adult Social Care Strategy builds on the vision to ‘make the best use 
of available resources to keep people in Leicestershire independent’.  Lightbulb’s 
integrated approach to housing support directly aligns with this vision and supports 
the model for future service delivery; helping to ensure people can get the right level 
and type of support at the right time to help prevent, delay or reduce the need for 
ongoing support and maximise their independence. The below shows how the 
Lightbulb model meets the various strategic needs of the Adult Social Care Strategy. 

 

 

Page 28



 

11 
 

5. Preventing need:  
 

 Housing expertise supports the advice and information offer; enabling individuals 
to make informed choices about their accommodation options and plan effectively 
for their future  

 

 Lightbulb is a vehicle for the development of a countywide approach to 
preventative housing solutions such as equity release, independent financial 
advice and planning 
 

 The development of self-help options is informed by a real understanding of the 
home environment and its impact on health and wellbeing, helping to maximise 
the preventative benefits of this approach and minimise hazards within the home 
environment. 

 
6. Reducing need: 

 

 Proactive targeting of ‘at risk’ individuals who would benefit from housing support 
interventions to improve their health and wellbeing, better manage existing 
conditions or prevent deterioration (for example through work with GP practices, 
environmental health teams, risk stratification etc) 
 

 Effective triage that utilises housing expertise at point of enquiry 
 

 A holistic approach to housing support that is able to identify the right option at 
the right time and make best use of available solutions, including a focus on 
innovative, customer led solutions and integration with other offers such as 
Assistive Technology. 
 

 Integrated, countywide processes that reduce waiting times for DFGs and  are 
more customer focussed 

 
7. Delaying need: 

 

 Supporting timely hospital discharge and preventing re-admissions through the 
Housing Enablement service within the overall Lightbulb model 
 

 Aiding recovery through the development and mobilisation of innovative, 
customer focussed housing support 

 
8. Meeting need: 

 

 Help ensure the best use of resources (including equipment); delivering 
efficiencies through, for example,  integrated procurement, use of the trusted 
assessor role, making the most effective use of specialist skills and roles 

 

 

 

Page 29



 

12 
 

Disabled Facilities Grant and the Better Care Fund  

Statutory funding for major adaptations in the home is allocated in the form of the 
Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG). Since 2015/16 these allocations have been made to 
District Councils through the Better Care Fund (BCF) plans and their pooled budgets 
operating between NHS and LA partners in each upper tier authority area.  The 
rationale for the DFG allocations to be included within the BCF plans/pooled budgets 
is to encourage areas to think strategically about the use of home adaptations and 
technologies to support people in their own homes and to take a joined up approach 
to improve outcomes across health, social care and housing. 

The Government’s Spending Review (November 2015), outlined a commitment to 
increase the amount given to local authorities for DFG from £200m in 2015/16 to 
£500m nationally in 2019/20.  The BCF, coupled with the Regulatory Reform Order, 
provides the opportunity to look more flexibly at how DFG funding is spent, including 
strengthening links to health and social care priorities. 

In addition to increased DFG allocations, the revised BCF Policy Framework and 
planning guidance for 2016/17 introduced a new national condition requiring local 
areas to develop a clear, focused action plan for managing delayed transfers of care 
from hospital (DTOC).  Local BCF plans are required to consider how the voluntary 
and community sector can contribute to reductions in DTOC and to consider whether 
other local stakeholders, such as housing providers have a role to play in efforts to 
reduce delays. 

Coupled with the continued emphasis on avoided hospital admissions and 
readmissions, these developments both support the Lightbulb vision and act as a 
further driver for change. 

 

Key facts; strategic context and the case for change 
 

 Service transformation is supported by a number of national and local strategic 
drivers, including the BCF and national targets to improve hospital discharge. 

 A growing body of evidence is demonstrating that savings can be achieved from 
a targeted, preventative and holistic housing support offer 

 Leicestershire’s ageing population will increase the pressure on health and social 
care services, driving the need to find more integrated, targeted and efficient 
service solutions such as Lightbulb 

 An integrated approach to housing support improves the customer journey and 
support the challenges faced by the local health and social care economy 

 The opportunity of additional funding is leading to increased innovation and 
transformation. 

 

 

 

 

Page 30



 

13 
 

 
Benefits to the health and care economy 

The original business case showed that the Lightbulb service would provide savings 
to the local health and care economy through the new service offer. Pilot projects 
undertaken prior to Go Live demonstrated the potential to save around £2m annually 
for health and social care. 

As part of the original evaluation of the potential savings, measured within the 
Lightbulb pilots, 18 Housing Support Co-ordinator cases were analysed looking at 
pre and post Lightbulb intervention. This showed the potential costs savings to Adult 
Social care of £250,000 per year. In addition, the redistribution of caseload 
management from Occupational Therapy to Housing Support Coordinators has 
realised an actual saving to Adult Social Care of £110k, in the first year of service. 

Further savings are projected to arise from reduced falls, emergency admissions and 
ambulance call-outs, integrated service delivery and reduced length of hospital stay. 

The Lightbulb service will therefore be one of a number of contributory factors to 
achieving improved performance on these metrics. 

Medium and longer term benefits, potential financial return and opportunities for 
savings through Lightbulb are outlined below:  
 

 Benefits to Savings 

Reduction in Falls Health and Social 
Care 

£614,000 

Falls call-out and conveyances EMAS £55,000 

Housing Support Co-ordinator 
role 

Adult Social Care £250,000 

UHL Hospital Housing Enabler* Health £550,000 

Bradgate Unit Housing Enabler* Health £475,000 

DFG process reduction District Council’s £92,000 

DFG delivery cost reduction District Council’s £65,000 

 Total £2,101,000 

 * These services operate across both Leicester and Leicestershire and benefits are therefore across 

the wider, local health economy 

Sitting alongside the hub and spoke Lightbulb model, is the Hospital Housing 
Enabler service (HET) which is seeking mainstream funding as part of its own 
business case.  This service operates across Leicester and Leicestershire. Savings 
projected as part of this service to the health economy are included in the table 
above. 

Delivering process improvement and efficiencies – year one 
 
Lightbulb service redesign is based on existing functions that were directly aligned to 
the functions to be carried out through the Lightbulb hub and spoke service model. 
Key revenue funding streams were identified and comprise the existing funding ‘pot’: 

5. The Lightbulb Service 

Page 31



 

14 
 

• Funding that currently supports the delivery/administration of Disabled Facilities 
Grants (i.e. excluding capital grant expenditure; district council funding stream) 

• For those District Councils that utilise DFG grant monies to fund the 
administration of DFGs, advice has been sought that suggests this practice may 
continue, however, Councils will be required to ensure their own external auditors 
are in agreement with this practice during the transformation. 

• Funding that currently supports the delivery and processing of assessments for 
minor adaptations and equipment 

• (Leicestershire County Council funding stream) 
• Funding that currently supports the housing based advice, information and 

signposting offer (Leicestershire County 
• Council funding stream) 
• A proportion of existing Occupational Therapy funding, freed up as a result of a 

move towards a trusted assessor model through the HSC role (Leicestershire 
County Council funding stream) 

 
It is also important to acknowledge that in addition to the above, the Occupational 
Therapy (OT’s) services of Leicestershire County Council (LCC) have also been 
realigned to support the Lightbulb model. This includes 7 OT’s that deliver the 
statutory function regarding complex adaptations at a cost to the County Council of 
around £288k. This does not form part of the overall Lightbulb budget as staff are 
retained by LCC. This includes a manager position that supports the OT’s across the 
County Council. These posts also provide training and mentoring to the HSC’s to 
support them in the delivery of adaptations. This is included in the role of the OT’s. 
 
The model was based on demand totals for workload that was to be included in the 
service and staffing resources employed according to the needs evidenced in this 
demand. However, at go live, there were several hundred cases as an inherited 
backlog hadn’t been accounted for that the Lightbulb service had to complete. This 
caused initial underperformance in terms of predicted timescales for delivery so it is 
worth noting that the good performance detailed below has been with a backdrop of 
excessive additional upfront workload. 
 
It was agreed that demand would be evaluated and adjusted based on current 
service demands for the first full year in operation and this business case would 
include any increase in staffing costs and overheads and any additional changes to 
the percentage contribution each district makes which could arise from any changes 
to the original demand model. 
 
Original demand was mapped as per the below table. This table includes the revised 
demand based on the first year of service and any increases: 

District Based 
Localities 

Previous % 
Demand 

Revised % 
demand 

Variance 

Blaby 13 14 +1 

Charnwood 26 24 -2 
Harborough 10 14 +4 

Hinckley & Bosworth 18 17 -1 

Melton 9 8 -1 

Page 32



 

15 
 

The Lightbulb service has greatly reduced processes, saving time for customers and 
provides efficiencies for all organisations involved in respect of staff time and costs.   

New, integrated processes have delivered reduced steps in the processes for 
delivery of certain types of DFG’s (shown in the table below. Consequently this has 
reduced the number of handoffs for customers representing a better service.  

 Number of 
steps prior 

Number of 
steps post 

Number of 
handoffs prior 

Number of 
handoffs post 

Stair lifts 24 10 8 3 

Level access showers 27 13 9 5 

 
It is important to note the following: 
 

 Where there are handoffs in these processes, they are co-ordinated by the 
Housing Support Co-ordinator role to ensure a more customer focused service 
with one point of contact. 
 

 The business case for the Lightbulb service calculated that improvements to the 
process for assessment and installation of a stair lift would reduce the current 
unit cost of this activity by 11% (from £2429 to £2164 (approx.) and for level 
access showers by 4% from £5408 to £5210 (approx.). It was predicted that this 
would save £92000 in year one. The actual saving is £96000 based on158 stair 
lifts and 275 level access showers being fitted in Leicestershire between October 
2017 and September 2018.  

 
Role of the Housing Support Co-ordinators 
 
The offer delivered by the Housing Support Co-ordinators is detailed below and 
shows the differing referral route that is more prevention targeted and the wider 
range of services that can be organised and delivered in a quicker and more efficient 
way. It is important to note that a DFG may also be required but this becomes only 
one option from a range of interventions.  

NW Leicestershire 15 14 -1 

Oadby & Wigston 9 9 0 

Page 33



 

16 
 

The Lightbulb Customer Journey

 

Since the full roll out of Lightbulb in October 2017, the service has completed 
approximately 4300 housing support coordinator cases for the benefit of customers 
across Leicestershire. This represents an increase of around 50% to the projected 
workload. The previous demand was based on the throughput and productivity of 
cases through the previous CAT contract held by Adult Social Care and the 
projected number of OT cases that could have been completed within the HSC role.  

The additional productivity shown by the Housing Support Coordinators, over and 
above that was projected, will have also had an impact on Occupational Therapists 
allowing them to concentrate on delivering more complex caseloads, representing a 
better return on investment for Adult Social Care. The OTs that operate to support 
the Lightbulb model have completed an additional 37% of cases than projected to be 
delivered prior to full roll out of the service. 

This means that across these roles, the service has been significantly more 
productive and efficient than initially projected. Analysis of HSC cases during the first 
year of delivery is shown in the table below: 

District HSC case delivery times (days) 

Blaby  29 

Charnwood  93 

Harborough 23 

Hinckley & Bosworth 26 

Melton 23 

NW Leicestershire 27 

Oadby & Wigston 33 

Average 36 

 

Timescales show the average overall delivery of a case is 36 days. This is measured 
from date of referral from source (e.g. CSC, First Contact) to the date that the case is 
closed. The average for Charnwood is significantly larger than for the other districts. 

Page 34



 

17 
 

This is due to the increased backlog that occurred at the start of go live. This delay in 
Charnwood Borough Council starting the Lightbulb Programme was due to legal 
agreements not being in place. 

Delivery of this workload is largely comparable to the CAT contract that was in place 
prior to the start of the Lightbulb service. Average delivery timescales for these 
cases were around 42 days, meaning the new delivery of the service is around 1 
week quicker.   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Disabled Facilities Grants delivery 
 
Prior to go live, existing service pathways for the assessment and completion of 
Disabled Facilities Grant were complex and lengthy, for example: Initial analysis for 
the original business case showed that 

 The previous process for assessing and installing a stair lift incorporated 24 
different stages with approximately 8 handoffs  
 

 The previous process for assessing and installing a level access shower 
incorporated 27 different steps and 9 handoffs 

 
Throughout the year the number of cases being referred for a DFG has reduced by 
43%. This is partially due to the predicted shift from major adaptations to minor 
adaptations delivered by HSC’s and is in line with the objectives of the original 
business case and the prevention ambitions of local and central government.  

During the pilot phase, DFG delivery times were monitored regularly as part of the 
performance framework. The chart below compares average DFG completion times 
in weeks since go live, to completion times for 2016-17, the last full financial year of 
data available. An overall target for Leicestershire of 20 weeks for DFG end to end 
times was set at Go Live:  

“If it hadn’t been for (the Housing Support Co-ordinator) I probably would have not been able to stay in my 

home in the long term, they have helped me so much. I now feel quite confident compared to what I use to.”   

 

Page 35



 

18 
 

 

The chart shows that, so far, two districts, have reached the DFG delivery target with 
one district slightly above target. All districts but one have achieved improved 
delivery times with Melton being the outlier. Delivery times for Melton are an outlier 
due to historical caseload backlog that came into the Lightbulb service at go live. 
When the data for completion times is broken down since go live, it can be seen 
clearly, that performance has significantly improved and is now in line with the target 
of 20 weeks. Quarter 3 2017/18, shows an average completion time of 36 weeks. 
Quarter 4 saw this reduce to 26 weeks and by Quarter 1 of 2018/19, this has 
reduced further to 20 weeks. This is in line with the target and the service is 
confident this will be maintained. 

Analysis of DFG performance shows that historical cases have had an impact on 
projected delivery timescales. As with Melton it is anticipated that this will improve as 
more existing cases follow the new pathways for delivery.  
 
Throughout the 2018/19 financial year it is forecast that DFG delivery times will 
improve with the advent of Housing Support Coordinators becoming Trusted 
Assessors for category A DFG’s (stair lifts). Alongside this, the service is working 
towards creating a framework for contractors which will speed up the process around 
quotes for services, particularly relevant for level access showers. 
 
The below table charts DFG spend against allocation for the 2018/19 financial year 
as at October 2018. It details the allocation for DFG spend from the Better Care 
Fund 18/19, the actual spend to date, what the predicted spend will be once all 
DFG’s that are currently in the system have been completed and the agreed 
contributions to the Regulatory Reform Order. The last column shows what allocation 
is likely to remain for each district taking into account projected spend and the cost of 
the RRO: 

District 

Allocated 
funding 
18/19 

Actual 
spend on 
DFG’s to 

date 

Predicted 
spend on 

jobs in 
workflow RRO allocation 

*Estimated 
costs  of 
jobs not 

started by 
area 

Predicted 
DFG 

Allocation at 
end of 18/19 

BDC £542,165.00 £161,225.75 £273,108.00 £30,000.00 £221,138.00 -£143,306.75 

NWLDC £621,202.00 £200,389.34 £133,669.00 £30,000.00 £23,225.00 £228,918.66 

MBC £281,543.00 £92,519.88 £73,150.00 £30,000.00 £77,683.00 £18,190.12 

0

10

20

30

40

BDC CBC HBBC HDC MBC NWLDC OWBC

DFG Completion Times (Ave number of weeks) pre 
and post Lightbulb 

Number of weeks pre

Number of weeks post

Target

Page 36



 

19 
 

HDC £418,476.00 £86,506.05 £227,058.00 £30,000.00 £226,111.00 -£151,199.05 

HBBC £472,848.00 £191,227.00 £316,084.00 £30,000.00 
 

-£64,463.00 

CBC £920,160.00 £115,941.03 £128,350.00 £30,000.00   £645,868.97 

OWDC £375,897.00 £70,406.42 £144,317.22 £30,000.00 £202,946.00 -£61,772.64 

 
DFG capital funding has increased within the Better Care Fund, however, revenue 
remains the same, meaning that unless the number of requests for DFG’s increases, 
capital expenditure cannot be fully utilised. However, under the Regulatory Reform 
Order (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) Order 2002, local authorities can 
use DFG funding in a preventative way to promote independence for service users in 
their own homes. 

It is proposed that this additional assistance to customers includes: 

 Relocation Grant – where a property cannot be adapted and relocation is the 
most cost effective option 

 Supporting individuals with diagnosed Mental Health or learning disability to 
remain in their own home  

 Home support Grant – for essential repairs to help people remain safe in their 
homes 

 Ceiling track hoists / Equipment for long term diagnosed conditions 

 Extended warranty cover on equipment 

 Module Ramping / suitcase / folding ramps to support hospital discharge 

 Cover funding gaps 

 Drop kerbs  
 

This work will help the service shift to a preventative model offering further scope to 
deliver additional needs to customers in their home. This is aligned to the expansion 
options in the below section of the document.  
 
Customer impact  
 
The customer insight work conducted prior to the development of the original 
business case showed that 95% customers wished to have a single point of contact. 
This principle has been developed within the service for all cases that do not involve 
a DFG. Where a DFG is required there is a single hand off to a Technical Officer. As 
part of the roll out of the future trusted assessor model, Housing Support 
Coordinators will become the single point of contact for some DFG categories, 
helping to fulfil the ideology developed in the customer insight work.   

Some Lightbulb customers have been known to services, however a significant 
proportion have not been known, apart from visiting their GP, Lightbulb has been 
able to undertake targeted prevention work with these individuals with the aim of 
reducing or delaying their need to access more costly services and can signpost 
customers very effectively to Leicestershire’s wider prevention offer via First Contact.  

Further customer insight work is programmed into the future developments phase 
over the next five years. 

 

Page 37



 

20 
 

Service Model – A customer perspective 
 
The Lightbulb service involves the measuring how outcomes have improved for 
customers post intervention. Housing Support Coordinators work with residents to 
evaluate the impact of interventions; scoring themselves against a set of outcomes 
to track improvements. The outcomes star below shows how customers score 
themselves on a scale of 1-10 for each element. The scores are averaged from 100 
Lightbulb customers, before and after intervention. The start line shows the average 
scores against each outcome at the beginning of the Housing MOT with the end line 
showing how customers ranked themselves at the end of the process.  

The biggest impact was against the quality of life post-intervention and mental health 
outcomes, followed by home warmth and managing in the home. 

 

Housing Support Coordinators ask customers if the service has achieved everything 
they wanted us to do. Overwhelming, 96% customers answered ‘yes’ to this 
question. 

 

 

 

 

0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0
Physical Health

Mental Health

Confidence in
accessing services

Managing in the
home

Home warmth

Getting around the
home

Quality of life post-
intervention

Start

End

“The level of independence is immeasurable and makes us feel much better. We are grateful for all 

the help we received and impressed how quickly things got done. Our lives are much improved.” 

 

Page 38



 

21 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Key facts: The Lightbulb Service 

 A targeted, proactive approach ensures Lightbulb is supporting the shift towards 
prevention. Lightbulb is delivering services in an efficient and productive way. 

 Service solutions and interventions are customer focused and include support to 
self-help. 

 The service is delivering excellently against customer expectations. 

 The Housing MOT checklists provide a tool for identifying and responding to a 
range of housing needs in a holistic way 

 A hub and spoke Lightbulb model ensures effective links with other locality 
services and functions and enable housing support to be fully integrated with 
health and social care teams in each area 

Page 39



 

22 
 

 
It is important to note that within the financial options costs are indicative at this 
stage. Accurate salary and establishment costs are being drafted along with 
forecasted increases on additional expenditure for example, car allowances, small 
supplies and service provision. The approximate 11% uplift is an estimate as to what 
this will equate to and has been used to enable initial costings to be calculated. This 
business case will be updated with finalised costings for 19/20 as soon as they 
become available.  
 
The Lightbulb service and associated financial contribution model was predicated on 
partners paying a percentage of the costs according to the demand in workload and 
over 65 population statistics for each locality prior to October 2017. Each locality’s 
proportion of the overall share of the demand across Leicestershire was then used to 
calculate both their overall contribution and the proportion from that, would be used 
to fund services within the central hub. 
 
For this refresh, the demand totals have been evaluated and adjusted based on 
current service workload for the first full year in operation along with predicted 
population for over 65’s by 2020.  
 
Population numbers have been included in this refresh as it was included in the 
demand calculations for the original business case. Therefore, to make a true 
comparison it should also be used in any refresh. Secondly, it gives a good 
indication as to which localities may show future increases in workload for 
adaptations, particularly minor ones delivered by HSC’s. As these types of 
adaptations are not means tested, demand is more likely to increase based on the 
population and not necessarily those eligible for Adult Social Care services in 
general.  
 
It is important to note that the percentage figures are only approximate and will be 
adjusted annually based on the same formula and that these are used for financial 
contributions and not to determine levels of required staffing.  
 
Table 1:  

 BDC CWD HDC HBBC MBC NWLDC OWBC Totals 

HSC cases 636 1204 410 705 397 610 374 4336 

OT cases 178 264 146 266 132 194 98 1278 

Non-complex 
DFG's 

121 168 75 78 41 86 42 611 

Complex 
DFG’s 

26 30 18 5 6 7 14 106 

First Contact 38 157 27 123 23 103 23 494 

Population 
over 65 

20900 34800 21000 25500 12200 21100 12600 148100 

Total 21752 36425 21583 26594 12752 22007 13095 154208 

% demand 14 24 14 17 8 14 8 100 

The revised percentages can be seen in the table below: 
 

6. The financial model 

Page 40



 

23 
 

Table 2: Lightbulb Service Demand for 18/19 and 19/20 

 
Option 1 – Current level of service  
Option 1 of the business case shows the indicative additional contributions required 
from partners to meet the proposed increase of 11% for 2019/20. This percentage 
covers rises to reflect basic salary increases and overheads of around 11% on 
average, which takes into account any increments and the already agreed pay award 
alongside additional costs to service delivery. 
 
This option does not include any increases in establishment staffing to meet any 
increase in workload demand (this is detailed in options below).   
 
Current costs for the Lightbulb service are £791,063 for 2018/2019. In July 2018, the 
Management Board for Lightbulb agreed to an indicative uplift to costings to the 
threshold of 11% which equates to an additional £91,767 for Option 1, making a total 
of £882,830.  
 
The below table shows the revised total contributions for each partner. This 
contribution includes contributions to the central hub, based on the suggested 11% 
increase in service running costs and has been reapportioned to the revised demand 
percentages for each area as detailed in the table 1 above: 
 
Table 3: Contribution for Frontline Staffing for 18/19 and 19/20  

District Current 
contribution 

Future Contribution inc 
service costs adjusted by 

demand (11%)  

Variance 

Blaby  £74,251 £77,640 £3,389 

Charnwood * £103,833   £107,635 £3,802 

Harborough £48,216 £56,503 £8,287 

Hinckley & Bosworth £67,679 £86,246 £18,567 

Melton £38,601 £42,207 £3,606 

NW Leicestershire £54,182 £65057 £10,875 

Oadby & Wigston £38,601 £41,442 £2,841 

LCC £365,700 £406,100 £40,400 

Total £791,063 £882, 830 £91,767 

*Charnwood’s contribution equals £25,122 to the central hub only. 
 
Table 4: Partner Contribution to the Central Hub 18/19 against 19/20  
 

District Based Localities Previous % Demand 
(18/19) 

Revised % demand 
(19/20) 

Variance 

Blaby 13 14 +1 

Charnwood 26 24 -2 

Harborough 10 14 +4 

Hinckley & Bosworth 18 17 -1 

Melton 9 8 -1 

NW Leicestershire 15 14 -1 

Oadby & Wigston 9 9 0 

Page 41



 

24 
 

District Current 
contribution to 

central hub based 
on prev demand % 

Future Contribution 
to central hub based 
on revised demand %  

Variance 

Blaby  £13,529 £14,341 £812 

Charnwood * £23,166 £23,838 £672 

Harborough £9,707 £10,600 £893 

Hinckley & Bosworth £15,576 £16,191 £615 

Melton £8,292 £8,620 £328 

NW Leicestershire £12,723 £13,226 £503 

Oadby & Wigston £8,292 £8,707 £415 

LCC £79,413 £83,384 £3,971 

Total £170,698 £178,907 £8,209 

 

Option 2 –inclusion of the role of Office Manager   
In addition to Option 1, this option includes introducing the role of Office Manager. 
This addition to the Central Hub establishment is required to line manage additional 
admin staff (allocated to each locality) that partners requested be included in the 
establishment. The alternative to this would be to manage admin at a local level by 
individual organisations. The benefit of having all admin staff together enables 
efficiencies of scale and resilience especially relevant when locality admin posts are 
not full time.    

The post would also support delivery of the Major Adaptions service which is 
currently provided by LCC and will be transferred to Lightbulb in February 2019 
along with additional administrative resource provided by LCC to meet current 
service demand; and will oversee the administration derived from the newly 
implemented Home Support Grant. 

Management Board are aware of the difficulties that the Central Hub have had in 
providing performance data and it will be this Officer’s duty to undertake all 
performance data requirements and supervision of all Administrators.   

Expansion and future developments to the service and will release capacity from the 
Service Manager to deliver more strategic elements as part of the 5 year forward 
view. Additional information on the developments for the next 5 years is detailed in a 
section below.  

The cost of this post to each locality and to the County Council is shown in table 5 
below: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 42



 

25 
 

Table 5: 

District Option 1 
contribution 

Option 2 
Contribution inc 
Office Manager 

Variance to 
option 1 

Blaby  £77,640 £80,187 £2,547 

Charnwood *   £107,635 £112,002 £4,367 

Harborough £56,503 £59,050 £2,547 

Hinckley & Bosworth £86,246 £89,339 £3,093 

Melton £42,207 £43,663 £1,456 

NW Leicestershire £65,057 £67,604 £2,547 

Oadby & Wigston £41,442 £43,079 £1,637 

LCC £406,100 £421,600 £15,500 

Total £882, 830 £916,524 £33,694 

*Charnwood’s contribution equals £29,489 to the central hub only. 
 
The Officer Manager post is essential to create the resilience for the service and 
support the Administrators who book all appointments for the HSC’s (of which this is 
approximately 50% of their work) as well as collect and disseminate data on HSC 
performance from IAS and an internal database. This post is also instrumental in 
making sure referrals are processed and appointments made and customers update 
by ensuring the coordination of resource across the County. 

Option 3 –increase of Technical Officers and Housing Support Co-ordinators 
 
As mentioned previously, Lightbulb staffing resources are mapped to meet the 
current demand in workload. As part of the refresh for the business case, the 
resources required from April 2019 onwards have been calculated in the same way 
as the original business case, by using existing information about the demand for 
services to quantify the staffing resources required to deliver the Lightbulb service 
overall.  

This has been refreshed based on the first year caseload of referrals both completed 
and awaiting completion. This level of analysis is used to determine what staffing 
resources will be needed to meet the demand. 

Demand mapping has included all key elements of the holistic Lightbulb offer 
currently being undertaken: 

 Housing Support Coordinator workload 

 Occupational Therapist caseload 

 Non-complex disabled facilities grant 

 Complex disabled facilities grants 

 First Contact referrals 
 
This will include the 11% additional staffing costs. This level of funding will ensure 
the increased and existing demand is met without detriment to service standards and 
it is anticipated that service standards will improve further with the proposed increase 
in resources. 

By mapping this demand against the HSC, Occupational Therapist and Technical 
Officer roles, the following staffing resources are anticipated across each local 

Page 43



 

26 
 

Lightbulb team and within the central hub. This work presents an overall picture of 
Lightbulb demand across the county, broken down by District Council area as 
follows: 

Table 6: 

District Based 
Localities 

Current 
HSC FTE 

Future 
HSC 
FTE 

Current 
Technical 
Officers 

FTE 

Future 
Technical 

Officer 
FTE 

Current 
Admin 

FTE 

Future 
Admin 

FTE 

Blaby 1.7 1.9 0.7 1.1 0.5 0.5 

Charnwood 3.0 3.7 1.0 1.2 0.5 0.5 

Harborough 1.2 1.2 0.7 0.7 0.4 0.5 

Hinckley & 
Bosworth 

2.3 2.1 0.6 0.5 0.5 0.5 

Melton 1.0 1.4 0.3 0.2 0.4 0.3 

NW Leicestershire 1.8 1.7 0.4 0.6 0.4 0.5 

Oadby & Wigston 1.0 1.2 0.3 0.4 0.4 0.3 

Leicestershire 
(locality based) 

12 13.2 4* 4.7 3.1 3.1 

OT resource are also part of the Lightbulb team in each locality 
*an additional 0.4 fte is employed to work across the localities to support delivery  

There is additional HSC requirement, firstly due to increased demand but also when 
the increased demand for stair lifts (to be undertaken by HSC’s in a trusted assessor 
role) is included in the HSC workload, staffing at this level increases by 1.2 FTE. The 
Technical Officer resource across Leicestershire currently equates to 4 FTE. As per 
the table above, this will increase to 4.7 to meet the current demand of DFG cases in 
the system.  

This increase in resource is in large part required due to the backlog of cases that 
were inherited and carried over from the CAT contract, from Papworth and from 
some Districts as part of the DFG integration into Lightbulb. Also, HSC’s have only 
just achieved trusted assessor qualification and the spreadsheet is calculated on the 
basis of work completed and pieces of work in the system. The increase in resource 
would also help achieve the 20 week aspiration for all Districts quicker and allow 
increased capacity for RRO opportunities as they evolve. The spreadsheet and 
formulas are the same as used in the initial Lightbulb business case and can be 
further explained at Delivery Group/Management Board.  

The costs for the service with apportioned additional staffing to deliver the increase 
in demand for 2019/20 is shown in table 6 below. As workload demand could be 
calculated annually and staffing levels adjusted to meet this, the proposed additional 
staffing could be for a fixed term only and readjusted once any backlog is cleared or 
delivery targets are being consistently met. 

 
 

Page 44



 

27 
 

Table 7: 

District Option 1 
contribution 

Option 3 
Contribution inc TO 

and HSC 

Variance to 
option 1 

Blaby  £77,640 £86,466 £8,826 

Charnwood *   £107,635 £122,755 £15,120 

Harborough £56,503 £65,323 £8,820 

Hinckley & Bosworth £86,246 £96,956 £10,710 

Melton £42,207 £47,247 £5,040 

NW Leicestershire £65,057 £73,877 £8,820 

Oadby & Wigston £41,442 £47,112 £5,670 

LCC £406,100 £422,100 £16,000 

Total £882, 830 £961,830 £79,000 

*Charnwood’s contribution equals £26,227 to the central hub only. 
 
Option 4 – 11% salary uplift, addition of an Office Manager and increase in 
Technical Officers and Housing Support Co-ordinators 
This is the combination of options 1, 2, and 3 detailed above. This option gives the 
service greater opportunity to reduce the backlogs that currently exist and to provide 
greatest resilience, ability to focus management and leadership on the strategic 
elements and expansion of the service creating a truly preventative approach to all 
housing related services across Leicestershire.  

The financial contributions for this option are shown below in table 8. 

Table 8: 

District Option 1 
contribution 

Option 4 
Contribution inc TO 

and HSC and OM 

Variance to 
option 1 

Blaby  £77,640 £89,007 £11,367 

Charnwood *   £107,635 £127,122 £19,487 

Harborough £56,503 £67,870 £11,367 

Hinckley & Bosworth £86,246 £100,049 £13,803 

Melton £42,207 £48,703 £6,496 

NW Leicestershire £65,057 £76,424 £11,367 

Oadby & Wigston £41,442 £48,749 £7,307 

LCC £406,100 £437,600 £31,500 

Total £882, 830 £995,524 £112,694 

*Charnwood’s contribution equals £30,642 to the central hub only. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 45



 

28 
 

7. Future direction and service development 

 
Service development 
 
The development of Lightbulb as an integrated service delivery vehicle presents a 
number of opportunities for authorities to work collaboratively to achieve efficiencies 
and further improve the customer experience.  A number of opportunities were 
highlighted during the development phase of Lightbulb and the model includes scope 
within the central hub to explore and address these further in a co-ordinated and 
integrated way, including: 

 Collective, smarter procurement practices such as bulk purchasing and common 
supplier lists 

 Development of more flexible DFG solutions 

 Sharing good practice and process improvement 

 Opportunities to engage in a consistent, single dialogue with social housing 
providers regarding the delivery of home adaptations in their stock to ensure this 
offer is better aligned with that for home owners 

 Continued customer insight work to identify services gaps and deliver countywide 
improvement 

 Developing and improving the self-serve offer for practical housing support 

 Embedding a new assistive technology offer as part of the Housing MOT. 

 Creating efficiencies across District partners and Social Care 
 
Leicestershire’s population growth patterns have implications for the provision of 
services for older people in particular.  An increasing number of older people with 
complex care needs means more pressure on health and social care services.  
Supporting people to maintain their independence and manage their own health and 
care needs are key to managing demand on these resources.  

The Government’s commitment to increase funding for Disabled Facilities Grants 
through the Better Care Fund does, in itself, present challenges in terms of 
resources required to deliver additional activity and the continuation of the Lightbulb 
service sees Leicestershire well placed to respond. 

The Lightbulb service is developing a 5 year future development plan in order to help 
create a preventative approach to care across Leicestershire that aims to support 
people in their own homes and further meet their needs.  

The service is investigating incorporating the following into future service delivery: 

• Merge and manage the work of the adaptations team and creating further 
efficiencies across all partners 

• Lead Assistive Technology initiatives 
• Manage additional DFG Funding 
• Co-ordinate further engagement with Public Health 
• Lightbulb RRO – to procure modular ramping, hoists etc  
• Dementia Friendly Homes 
• Extension of Hospital Housing Enablement Team 
• Extension of Programme across all Tenures 

Page 46



 

29 
 

• Incorporating the work on major adaptations currently undertaken by the County 
Council and creating further efficiencies in association with this 

• Targeted work for identified cohorts i.e. Integrated Locality Teams patient cohorts 
including those who are frail and with 5 or more long-term conditions 

 
The Lightbulb model is also working to embed the learning and good practice from 
the Hinckley and Bosworth integrated locality teams pilot and provides a vehicle to 
roll out this proactive, targeted approach across Leicestershire by: 
 

 Enabling GPs and community healthcare teams to access the Lightbulb housing 
offer through the existing First Contact Plus service for presenting patients as 
part of a social prescribing approach 

 Providing an opportunity to target the Lightbulb housing offer to ‘high risk’ 
patients including using practice based data and case management information 
to identify target cohorts of people for this service (those that are frail or multi-
morbid, for example) 

 
Lightbulb provides a sound infrastructure and performance framework to further build 
the body of evidence around the contribution of this integrated and proactive 
approach towards housing support to the health and social care economy; placing 
partners in a strong position to engage with health colleagues around support for 
growth through the Better Care Fund. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Key facts: Future Direction and Service Development 

 The Lightbulb service is required to support ongoing pressures and demand for 
housing services. 

 Opportunities exist for even greater efficiencies around procurement, more 
flexible DFG solutions, process improvement, fit for purpose home adaptations, 
customer self-service and new technology in the home 

Page 47



 

30 
 

 

8. Programme governance 

 
Since go live. the programme has been supported by a dedicated Management 
Board comprising senior level representation from the seven District Councils, the 
County Council’s Adult Social Care and Public Health services and the Director of 
Health and Social Care Integration.  A Delivery Group supports the Management 
Board operationally and has responsibility for the development and delivery of the 
operational service design, programme plan and programme risks.   

The programme governance structure also ensures a formal link into the countywide 
Unified Prevention Board which, in turn reports through the Integration Executive to 
the Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board. 

The lightbulb programme has clear governance links to the decision making and 
governance in each district council, the County Councils Adult Social Care 
department and Cabinet and the Members Advisory Group for Health and Housing. 

 
Equality Impact and Needs Assessment  

Alongside our continued engagement with customers and user groups, an initial 
equality impact and needs assessment (EINA) has been completed, to support the 
development and implementation of the Lightbulb service.  This enables us to 
identify any negative or adverse impact on particular groups and put actions in place 
to minimise or remove such impact as part of the programme plan. 

The Lightbulb Programme Board will consider how best to take this forward as a joint 
impact assessment across partners organisations as part of the sign off of this 
business case.  The programme continues to be informed by ongoing customer 
engagement to ensure the EINA remains fit for purpose. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 48



 

31 
 

 

9. Recommendations 

 
 
The initial funding for Lightbulb draws to an end on 31st March 2019 and, as such, it 
is timely to review the resources allocated for 2019/20. In order to do this, financial 
options have been prepared for consideration: 
 
- Option 1 - existing staffing structure with an indicative 11% increase in service 

running costs, covering salary increases etc. This also includes the reallocation 
of costs  to reflect demand in each area including central hub and operational 
officers 

- Option 2 - Option 1 plus an Office Manager position to manage the 
administration officers and deliver requirements around performance, support 
back office systems and processes and proposed service improvements listed 
below 

- Option 3 - Option 1 plus increases in Housing Support Co-ordinators and 
Technical Officers to meet increased demand 

- Option 4 – To financially support all options 1-3 above 
 

It is recommended that partners sign up to a new 5 year Legal Agreement to provide 
service and staffing stability based on Option 2. 
 
It is recommended that Option 3 be dealt with outside of the main contributions as 
this is a temporary measure. The total of another Technical Officer is £44,306 for 
which the costs can be capitalised. The total cost for the additional HSC resource 
would be £34,694 which if split 7 ways would equate to £4,956 each. (Over a 12 
month period). 
 
In signing up to the continuation of Lightbulb for Leicestershire the Management 
Board will continue to strive for further public sector cost savings and customer   
service improvements through the following; 
 
- Future Integration of Adaptations and Assistive Technology 
- Enabling GP’s and community health teams to access Lightbulb through First 

Contact Plus 
- Investigating how Lightbulb can be used to target ‘high risk’ patients using 

practice based data and case management information 
- Collective and smarter procurement practices 
- Development of more flexible DFG solutions 
- Engagement with social housing providers to discuss potential delivery of home 

adaptations in their stock 
- Continued customer insight and sharing of best practice 
- Development of a self-serve offer for practical housing support 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 49



 

32 
 

 
 

10. Next Steps 

 
 
1, Management Board to agree which option to progress through a collective 

governance process. 
 
2. Partners to take a standardised  report through individual governance 

processes to enable Legal and Information Sharing Agreements to be finalised 
prior to year 2 start date of 1 April 2019. 

 
  

Page 50



 

lead member briefing – lightbulb 

   

 
 

 

lightbulb review 
 

 
Following completion of the revised Lightbulb Business Case for 

Transforming and Integrating Practical Housing Support in 

Leicestershire, in December 2018, an internal review of the 

progress and impact of Lightbulb within Charnwood was 

undertaken. 

Project Overview 

 

The concept of Lightbulb was one of a number of practical opportunities to emerge 

from Leicestershire’s Housing Services Partnership through the development of the 

Housing Offer to Health in 2013. This set out how local housing services could 

support and promote the health and wellbeing of Leicestershire citizens; offering to 

concentrate collective efforts on developing services to help health and social care 

partners achieve Better Care Fund objectives.  

 

Lightbulb aimed to bring together a range of practical housing support into a single, 

integrated pathway. A holistic housing needs assessment (to become known as the 

Housing MOT) would ensure that housing support needs are proactively identified 

and that the right solutions are found. The overall ambition was to maximise the 

contribution that housing support can play in keeping vulnerable people independent 

in their homes; helping to avoid unnecessary hospital admissions or GP visits and 

facilitating timely hospital discharge. 

 

The County Council, Districts and Boroughs of Leicestershire made a successful 

partnership bid for a £1m Transformation Grant from the Department for 

Communities and Local Government to take the concept of Lightbulb forward. 

 

The service delivery model for Lightbulb is a Hub and Spoke model. The ‘Spokes’ 

comprise a Lightbulb team in each Council area (7 local teams) to deliver the 

integrated service (the functions that were previously carried out at District Council 

level and the functions previously carried out by County Council), supported by a 

Central Hub operated by Blaby District Council. 

 

 

Page 51

lauras_1
Text Box
APPENDIX 2



 

 

lead member briefing – lightbulb 

   

 
 

 

 

At May 2017 Cabinet, the decision was made to adopt the Lightbulb ‘Locality Team’ 

delivery model within Charnwood, the remaining Districts and Boroughs chose the 

Lightbulb ‘Full Service Model’ facilitated by Blaby District Council. 

 

With the Full Service model, the central Hub carries out the full service for the 

Council by delegating the locality element (including secondment or TUPE of existing 

staff where appropriate). 

 

With the Locality Team model, Charnwood directly employ a locality based Lightbulb 

Team and deliver the service directly across the Borough (linking with the Central 

Hub to ensure consistency of operating procedures and resilience in the overall 

system). 

 

The Lightbulb Team within Charnwood consists of 3 Housing Support Coordinators 

(HSCs), 1 Technical Officer and 0.5 FTE Administrative Officers, in addition to 1 FTE 

co-located Occupational Therapist (OT). Demand information for services and 

learning from the Lightbulb Pilots was used to quantify the staffing resources 

required across different Council areas in the original Lightbulb Business Case. The 

breakdown of total Lightbulb demand by Council area for Charnwood was estimated 

at 26%. 

 

The Project went live across the County in October 2017 in all areas other than 

Charnwood. This delay to go live was due to the delegation of functions from 

Leicestershire County Council to Blaby District Council and then to Charnwood 

Borough Council, required to establish the Locality Team. The Lightbulb go live date 

for Charnwood was January 2018.  

 

 

Housing Support Coordinators (HSCs) 

 

Our Housing Support Coordinators (HSCs) are trained and skilled to deliver: 

 

• Assessment and ordering of minor adaptations and equipment  

• Assessment of non complex DFGs 

• Assessment and resolution of wider practical housing support needs 

• Housing related health and wellbeing support (eg warm homes, falls 

prevention) 

• Planning for the future (housing choices and options) 

• Advice, sign posting, self help 

Page 52



 

lead member briefing – lightbulb 

   

 
 

 

 

 

Each HSC has either completed or is undergoing assessment under the Trusted 

Assessor competency framework to ensure that they have the skills, knowledge and 

experience needed to carry out full assessments.  

 

From the moment Lightbulb went live within Charnwood, our HSCs have undertaken 

the full range of duties and assessments intended as part of the initial Housing MOT, 

including, where required, stairlift assessments and the completion of provisional 

tests of resources for potential Disabled Facilities Grants. Each Housing MOT 

assessment is a tailor made review of the resident’s housing situation which can 

include; 

 

• Mobility around the home - getting out and about, negotiating steps and stairs 

• Use of the toilet 

• Bathing facilities  

• Getting in and out of bed 

 

This assessment may result in the ordering of equipment for the resident (for 

example a bath board or a perching stool), a minor adaptation (for example grab rails 

to assist people with their mobility around the home) and in some cases, a major 

adaptation such as a stairlift or level access shower may be necessary. 

 

The HSC will go on to complete;  

 

• A personal safety check with the client - reviewing matters including any 

history of falls, any obvious trip hazards, the presence of adequate lighting 

and smoke/carbon monoxide detectors  

• A home environment check  - considering any potential disrepair, hoarding 

and general suitability of the property including the manageability of the 

garden 

• A home security check - discussing with the client any potential ASB or crime 

experienced, whether they feel secure in the home and have keychains, 

window locks etc.  

 

This may result in referrals for Home Repair Grants or Home Security Grants where 

appropriate, or for support where hoarding tendencies are evident and the client 

would like support with this. Further referrals to the Fire Service are made for the 

installation of smoke detectors and to the Community Safety Team, through First 

Contact Plus. 

  

Page 53



 

lead member briefing – lightbulb 

   

 
 

 

 

The ability of the client to keep their home warm, the adequacy of the heating 

system, their fuel tariff and their income (including whether they may require benefit 

advice) are considered by the HSC and referrals to Warm Homes can be initiated, 

where the client will be assessed for grant funding for heating measures and 

improvements. 

 

Lastly, but by no means least, socialising, involvement in the community, interests 

and hobbies and getting out and about are all discussed with the client to ensure that 

they are achieving the things that they would like to. Sign posting to transport 

opportunities and community groups and clubs of interest can all be arranged by the 

HSC in conjunction with the Local Area Coordinators. 

 

Capturing these wide ranging housing support needs in one Housing MOT 

assessment ensures that no issues are missed. Maximising the impact of the contact  

and working in a more preventative way that is based on the long term health and 

wellbeing of the client. See Appendix 1 for a selection of case studies about 

residents who have used the Lightbulb Service and what the Service has meant to 

them. 

 

The graph below shows the number of referrals for a wide range of services 

generated by HSC Housing MOT Assessments across the County. Charnwood 

residents have benefited from a significant number of referrals for services that may 

otherwise have been missed. 

 

 

Page 54



 

lead member briefing – lightbulb 

   

 
 

 

 

At go live within Charnwood in January 2018, 172 cases were awaiting assessment. 

This large number was due in part to the delay in the signing of the Legal 

Agreements between LCC, Blaby DC and Charnwood BC. 

 

The waiting list is continually changing as assessments are completed and every 

week, on average, a further 17 new referrals for assessment are added. 

 

The Quarterly Performance Tables for 2018-2019 so far can be seen at Appendix 2. 

The tables detail the number of: 

 

• Cases on the waiting list as a snapshot each month 

• New visits, follow up visits and duty cases completed by the HSCs  

• Complex cases identified and referred to an Occupational Therapist 

• Cases closed 

 

At the time of writing this report, almost a year since go live, the number of people on 

the waiting list is 125. Our target is to reduce this number to 100 by the end of March 

2019. 

 

Requests have been made to the Central Hub, via the Project Management Board 

and Delivery Group, for consideration to be given to focusing all HSC resources 

holistically, which would tackle the historic peak in assessment waiting times within 

Charnwood, thereby offering a consistent service across the County for all 

Leicestershire residents.  This would involve the refocusing, temporarily, of some 

HSCs working in other Districts and Boroughs to reduce the average waiting times 

within Charnwood until they reflect those in other areas, creating an equal service, 

irrespective of where residents live within Leicestershire. 

 

It is appreciated that drawing HSC resource away from other Districts and Boroughs 

to support the reduction of waiting times in Charnwood will impact negatively on 

waiting lists and times within those areas for a short period of time. However, in order 

to offer a consistent service across the County in line with the original objectives of the 

Lightbulb project, it is felt that this would be worthwhile. 

 

All HSCs across the County meet quarterly to update their knowledge, discuss their 

work and share ideas. Each HSC meets with a Senior HSC to ensure performance 

and workload are monitored and fortnightly internal meetings are held with the 

Occupational Therapists (OTs) and Technical Officer to identify issues and 

implement improvements.    

 

 

Page 55



 

lead member briefing – lightbulb 

   

 
 

 

 

 

 Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) 

 

Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) are funded through the Better Care Fund (BCF), a 

pooled budget seeking to integrate health, social care and (through DFGs) housing 

services. Currently, the DFG element of the BCF must be transferred to the Districts 

and Boroughs from LCC each year. 

 

In 2018, 94 Disabled Facilities Grants were completed within Charnwood. 82% of 

these were for owner occupiers (compared to a national average of 60%*), 14% for 

tenants of Registered Providers (formally known as Housing Associations) 

(compared to 32% nationally*) and 4% for private tenants (8% of DFGs nationally 

are carried out for private tenants*). 

 

The average cost of a DFG in Charnwood in 2018 was £7,488.70 (nationally the 

average cost is £9,000*).  

 

The total BCF allocation for 2018-2019 was £905,000. The overall DFG budget for 

2018-2019, including additional Ministry for Housing Communities and Local 

Government funding awarded in January 2019 is £1,138,600. 

 

Where a HSC or OT identifies that a major adaptation is required, from 4th February 

2019, a referral will be made to the Central Hub (this was previously made to the 

Adaptations Team at LCC, but this function is gradually moving to the Central Hub to 

further streamline the process). In the case of a HSC, within Charnwood, they will 

complete a Provisional Test of Resources with the client to indicate the likelihood of 

eligibility (based on the means test) for a DFG, prior to making the referral.  

 

The Lightbulb Technical Officer will then assess the referral and progress the 

application as necessary. In some cases this will involve working with an Architect or 

an OT, in other cases a scheme of work will be developed directly by the Technical 

Officer.  

 

In respect of DFG referrals received in 2017, the average delivery time for a DFG 

within Charnwood was 26 weeks. Post Lightbulb go live in 2018, this fell to 18 

weeks. 

 

 

*Independent external review of the Disabled Facilities Grant in England, conducted by the University 

of the West of England for MHCLG (Dec 2018)  

Page 56



 
 

 

lead member briefing – lightbulb 

   

 
 

 

 

The Comparison graph below, contained within the review of the Lightbulb Business 

Case (page 17), concludes that Charnwood Borough Council were the first (and only 

Council to date) within Leicestershire to meet the overall Lightbulb delivery target 

time of 20 weeks since go live in October 2017 (January 2018 for Charnwood). 

 

 
 

The Council’s Private Sector Housing Grants Policy, written in accordance with the 

Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance)(England and Wales) Order 2002, aims to 

increase the number of vulnerable people who are able to live independently at 

home. In line with the Order, the Policy has been developed to provide a more 

flexible use of the DFG within Charnwood, for example, offering: 

 

• Relocation Grant – to assist people with the cost of moving into suitable 

accommodation, where there is no possibility of appropriate modification to 

the existing home  

• Discretionary Minor Works – to fund non eligible works that are deemed 

necessary for the benefit of a disabled person eg an extended warranty on 

stairlifts, step lifts, specialist toilets or to fund work outside the boundary of 

the property to provide safe access and egress to the home eg a dropped 

kerb 

• In exceptional circumstances, where the cost of the works for a Mandatory 

DFG is in excess of £30,000 and the applicant and or disabled occupant is in 

financial hardship an additional discretionary DFG up to a maximum of 

£10,000 will be considered on a case by case basis  

 

 

 

Page 57



 

 

lead member briefing – lightbulb 

   

 
 

 

 

The Benefits of Lightbulb for Charnwood Residents 

 

A recent independent review of DFGs in England, conducted by the University of the 

West of England highlighted several current challenges with DFGs and a number of 

suggestions as to how things could be improved nationally. 

 

One of the challenges identified was the need to ‘join up the process’, shifting 

thinking from ‘welfare’ to ‘investment’, so that decisions are taken, not at crisis point, 

but in a more preventative way that is based on the long-term health and wellbeing 

of disabled people and their families. The Lightbulb model embraces this approach 

with joint commitment at a senior and strategic level between Housing and Social 

Care, Districts, Boroughs and County continuing to streamline the process. This, 

along with the Private Sector Housing Grant Policy, which is allowing flexible use of 

discretionary grant funding, allows an enhanced focus on prevention and a reduction 

on restrictive upper limits for those in financial hardship. 

 

The Lightbulb assessment ensures that ‘Every Contact Counts’, working effectively 

so people are referred earlier, rather than at crisis point. 

 

Robust research is beginning to show that adaptations improve physical and mental 

wellbeing and reduce the fear of falling, enabling people to live independently in their 

own homes for longer. 

 

Lightbulb Customer Feedback has been extremely positive, with frequent calls to 

express appreciation from those assessed and their family members. An example of 

feedback for the Lightbulb Team is given below: 

 

Housing Support Co-ordinator 

You recently sent one of your excellent staff to assess me. I found Helena Lynch very polite, calm, 

helpful and sympathetic. 

Her attitude and work organisational skills are great. Helena has improved my difficult, miserable life 

by about 50%, by providing and organising the aids l required. Furthermore she contacted different 

departments for further support and advise on my behalf, which l didn’t have knowledge about. 

I would like to thank her very much for her kind support. I think she should train all future new 

recruits because she is a great example and asset to Lightbulb Team. Please don’t ever lose her. 

Thank you very much. 

 

 

 

  

 

Page 58



 

lead member briefing – lightbulb 

   

 
 

 

Future Direction 

 

 

A number of opportunities were highlighted during the development phase of 

Lightbulb and the model includes scope within the Central Hub to explore and 

address these further in a coordinated and integrated way. The opportunities include; 

 

• Collective, smarter procurement practices such as bulk purchasing and 

common supplier lists 

• Development of more flexible DFG solutions 

• Sharing good practice and process improvement 

• Opportunities to engage in a consistent, single dialogue with social housing 

providers regarding the delivery of home adaptations in their stock to ensure 

this offer is better aligned with that of home owners 

• Continued customer insight work to identify service gaps and deliver 

countywide improvement  

• Developing and improving the self serve offer for practical housing support 

• Embedding a new assistive technology offer as part of the Housing MOT 

 

The Lightbulb service has developed a 5 year future development plan in order to 

meet the need and to help create a preventative approach to care across 

Leicestershire that aims to support people in their own homes. Further information 

can be found in the Business Case, which includes the merging and managing of the 

work of the Adaptations Team (currently based at LCC) which is being migrated to 

the Lightbulb Central Hub to further streamline the process on 4th February 2019. 

 

Recommendation 

 

One year on from Lightbulb go live within Charnwood, the benefits and improved 

service to residents are clear.  

 

With, on average, 59 Charnwood residents receiving the support of a Housing 

Support Coordinator each month, 49 receiving a customer focussed assessment and 

associated solutions through the Housing MOT, including integrated work with other 

stakeholders such as Community Fire and Rescue. Lightbulb is supporting 

Charnwood residents to live more independent lives. 

 

The award winning Lightbulb Partnership won 3 major accolades in the first year; 

 

Page 59



 

lead member briefing – lightbulb 

   

 
 

 

• Local Government Chronicle award for best Public/Public Partnership 

• Association for Public Service Excellence award for Best Collaborative 

Working Initiative 

• Highly commended at the Home Improvement Agency Awards  

 

Future developments to improve the Service will include improving links with GPs 

and Community Healthcare Teams, encouraging the presenting of patients to 

Lightbulb as part of a social prescribing approach. In addition, plans also include the 

targeting of the Lightbulb housing offer to ‘high risk’ patients including using practice 

based data and case management information to identify target cohorts of people for 

this service (eg those that are frail). 

 

Proposed developments will further enhance the service, capturing more vulnerable 

Charnwood residents to ensure that they receive an early assessment and triage of 

any housing issues.  

 

The recommendation of this report is that the Council continue to participate in 

Lightbulb. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 60



 

lead member briefing – lightbulb 

   

 
 

Appendix 1 

 

Case Study One 

 

The Service User was referred to Adult Social Care by her Son, for a general 
assessment within her home. He was worried about how she was managing in her 
home, and the referral was sent through to the Lightbulb Service. 
 
The Service User is an 83 year old lady that lives with her husband, who is 80, in their 
owner occupied 3 bedroomed house in Loughborough. 
 
The Service User presented as a very jolly and independent lady, the Husband was 
present on my visit as well as her Son.  The Husband is the Service User’s main 
support and carer at home, the Service User advised ‘we look after each other’. The 
Husband continues to drive and they go out most days, for lunch, shopping or just a 
drive out.  The Son offers support to both his Mum and Dad; he reports that his Dad 
does a grand job. 
 
The Housing MOT is a holistic assessment of how a person is managing to remain 
independently living in their own home. 
 
The Service User has a diagnosis of Arthritis in both hands, diverticulitis, right foot 
fused (she cannot bend her foot from the ankle) and she has daily pain in her foot.  
The Service User has early onset dementia though she reports her memory is fine. 
 
The assessment highlighted some concerns about how the Service User was 
managing transfers: 
 

• Both the front and back doors, while getting in and out, the Service User 
was holding onto the door frame. Her hands did not have a secure grip on 
this. 
 
Grab Rails were provided at both doors. 
 

• Getting on and off the toilet the Service User was holding onto the window 
cill to pull herself up and could easily slip off this with her hands. 
 
Grab rail by the side of toilet was provided, fitted to a solid brick wall. 
 

• The Service User could not safely access her garden and was crawling up 
the pathway with her hands and grabbing freestanding garden pots. 
 
Half steps and kee klamp railings were provided to enable a safe and 
independent way of accessing the garden. 
 
 
 

Page 61



 

lead member briefing – lightbulb 

   

 
 

 
 

• The Service User could not independently get off her sofa in the lounge, this 
was too low, and her Husband was pulling her up, putting strain on both of 
them. 
 
Sofa Raise ordered through the Community Equipment Provider 
raised the sofa 3” giving the Service User a better height to transfer 
from a seated to a standing position without the need for assistance. 
 

• The Service User has an over bath shower, she does not use the shower, 
both her and her Husband like to have a soak in the bath. The Husband was 
taking the weight of the Service User, assisting her with transferring in and 
out of the bath.  The Service User wanted to bathe independently and the 
Husband could no longer manage to take her weight, carer strain.   
 
Recommended a bath lift – this is a piece of equipment whereby the 
Service User does not have to step into the bath, she transfers onto it 
by shuffling her bottom onto it, once her bottom is in place on the bath 
lift seat, she then brings her legs over the bath.  The bath lift is 
operated by battery and takes you down to the bottom of the bath and 
brings you up to safely transfer off and out.  I demonstrated how to 
use the bath lift to the Service User and her Husband, the Service User 
was observed to getting on the bath lift with ease, she could not wait 
to try it! 
 

• The major concern with the Service User was transferring up and down the 
stairs. She went up the stairs, taking a break half way up and then 
continuing, however on the way down she walked backwards. This is really 
unsafe; the Service User reports she had been transferring like this for a 
while and said it was because of the pain in her foot.   
 
Recommended a stair lift, as the Service User is a home owner, a 
Means Test was carried out to see if they were eligible for a Disabled 
Facilities Grant administered by Private Sector Housing at the Council, 
on this occasion they did not qualify for a grant.   
 
The Service User provided permission to obtain a stair lift quote from 
the procured contractor from Leicestershire County Council for them 
to decide if they wanted to go ahead and purchase directly. 

 
During the visit benefits were discussed and it was established that the Service User 
was not in receipt of any benefits and that potentially she would be eligible for 
Attendance Allowance. 

 
A referral was made to First Contact Plus for a Benefit Check and asked that a 
professional goes to the Service User’s home to discuss Attendance Allowance 
and help fill out any necessary forms. 
 

Page 62



 

lead member briefing – lightbulb 

   

 
 

 
 
 
After the closure of this task, the Housing Support Coordinator was given a Thank 
you card, it read: 
 
‘You made my Mum and Dad feel so valued, it’s much appreciated – Thank you, Son’. 
 
 

Case Study Two 

 
 
The Service User was referred to the Lightbulb service by Adult Social Care who had 
received a request from the Service User’s Son for an assessment of his Mum’s needs. 
 
The Service User is a 90 year old lady, who lives alone in a 2 bedroomed bungalow 
which is owned by her other Son. 
 
The Service User has various medical conditions, Heart Failure, Arthritis in neck, spine 
and hands, balance conditions and is hard of hearing.  The Service User has had knee 
replacements in both knees and her general mobility is poor.  The Service User’s Son 
reports that her memory is failing. 
 
The Service User presented as frail, she was wrapped up well, heating on and it was 
a warm day on my visit and she said that she does feel the cold. 
 
The Service User’s Son was her main carer, he was assisting his Mum with all the 
chores, some personal care, visits to the doctors, and the Son was very tired and worn 
out.  The Service User walks with a stick in the home; she does not leave her home 
without the help of someone else, mainly her Son. 
 
The assessment highlighted interventions that were needed, along with some 
Adaptation works to the bungalow and some equipment: 
 

• The Service User goes out of the patio door to access her garden, large step 
down to the slabbed area, she holds onto the side of the patio door or her 
Son. 

Half step to reduce the height of the drop down onto the patio area and 
Kee Klamp rails to each side of the half step so that the Service User 
has something to hold onto. 
 

• The Service User’s main entrance door is to the side of the house, smaller 
step, no rails and she was observed to hold into the door frame to steady 
herself. 

 
 

Page 63



 

 

lead member briefing – lightbulb 

   

 
 

 
Grab rails to be placed each side of the side door. 
 

• At night the Service User is alone and if she requires the toilet in the night, 
she has to walk across the bungalow to get to the bathroom; she doesn’t 
always get to the toilet in time. 

 
Prescribed a commode in her bedroom for use at night. 
 

• The Service User does not shower alone, her Niece helps her once a week 
when the shower cubicle is used, it has a step in that is high and grab rails 
are in place.   

 
Prescribed a shower step to reduce the height of the step in, for the 
niece to place down and remove each time she assists the Service User 
with having a shower. 
 
The assessment identified the need to make referrals to First Contact Plus 
to arrange further interventions: 
 

• Smoke alarm referral. 

• Tariff check – the Service User’s utility provider had not been changed in a 
while; generally we advise this should be looked at annually. 

• Assistive Technology – the Service User is hard of hearing, a vibrating pad 
under the pillow on her bed was advised, and this would alert her to smoke 
alarms going off when she is sleeping. 

• Benefit check – the Service User’s Son has been trying to get help to see if 
his Mum is entitled to any support, referral made to assist the Son. 

• Carer’s assessment information to be sent to the Son about help and support 
for his Mum. 

Further referrals were made to Charnwood’s Lifeline Service and to the Single Point 
of Access (Health Professionals) as it was evident that the Service User had a sore to 
the bottom of her back that needed urgent attention. 
 
Following the closure of this task, a Package of Care has been offered to the Service 
User and this has started to help with her personal care. Assistive Technology have 
visited and provided equipment, smoke alarms have been fitted and all the other 
referrals and Adaptations are imminent. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 64



 

 

lead member briefing – lightbulb 

   

 
 

Case Study Three 

 

The Service User was referred to Adult Social Care by her Daughter in June 2018.  
 
Daughter was concerned that Mum was struggling since being discharged from 
hospital following breaking her elbow and shoulder. 
 
Service User is a bright 97 year old lady of sound mind who lives alone in an annex 
attached to her Daughter’s owner occupied house. 
 
Service User was up and dressed and was sitting in her chair awaiting my visit.  
 
The Service User’s Daughter was present for the assessment.  The Service User has 
a carer call every morning 7 days a week to assist with getting up, washed and 
dressed, making tea and toast, making the bed and checking meds and lifeline.  
 
The Service User used to come through to the main house for her evening meal but 
since coming out of hospital she hasn’t felt up to it. Since being discharged from 
Hospital the Service User has had to resort to strip washing which she wasn’t happy 
about as she was able to use the shower before. 
 
The Housing MOT document is our assessment tool; it is a holistic assessment of how 
a person is managing to remain independently living in their own home. 
 
The Service User has Hypertension, Osteoarthritis, Gastro Oesophageal reflux 
disease, Macular Degeneration and Diverticulitis. She reports that since she broke her 
right elbow and shoulder she has experienced a general weakness in that arm. The 
Service User wears hearing aids in both ears. 
 
The assessment highlighted the following; 
 

• The Service User walks about the property using 2 walking sticks unless she 
is transporting items such as a cup of tea from the kitchen. Then she would 
use a kitchen trolley to get the tea from the kitchen to the sitting room. There 
was a threshold joining the carpet of the sitting room to the lino flooring of 
the kitchen that the Service User was having difficulty getting the trolley 
wheels to go over. 

Recommended a replacement (wider and flatter) threshold strip.  
 
Potential trip hazard eliminated and Service User can now go from room to 
room with ease. 
 

• The Service User reported that she no longer felt safe using her shower as 
she struggles to step up the high 20cm step into the cubicle to get in. There  

 

Page 65



 

lead member briefing – lightbulb 

   

 
 

is one grab rail in situ inside the cubicle but she could no longer make use of 
it due to it being on her weak side and because of her low blood pressure 
she would ideally feel safer if she could sit down in the shower.  

 
The Service User was clear that she wanted to be able to use the shower 
again to wash herself with assistance. 
 
Ordered the Service User a corner shower seat from NRS so she was 
able to sit down in the shower and a bath step to decrease the height 
of the step up to the cubicle.  
 
Recommended 2 offset grab rails on the bathroom walls to assist her 
when using the bath step to step into the cubicle and another non slip 
grab rail in the shower cubicle to aid the Service User with getting on 
and off the shower stool, being mindful that she is now experiencing 
left side weakness.  
 
The Service User is now able to use the shower again safely with assistance 
which she is very happy about. The Service User’s Daughter is happy that 
her Mum’s wishes have been met. 
 

• When asked about her hearing, the Service User commented that she has 
to have the television turned right up and sometimes doesn’t hear the door 
or phone. 

 
A referral was made to First Contact Plus for Assistive Technology who 
can offer a wide range of equipment, technology and gadgets such as 
alarms, sensors, adapted telephones, television loops to assist the 
Service User. 
 
Assistive Technology provided adapted smoke alarm, personal listener and 
flashing doorbell and a radio link loop system. 

 
 
After the closure of this task, the Service User thanked the Housing Support 
Coordinator for their help in enabling her to use the shower again and was grateful  
for the radio link which she says is the best she has been able to hear the TV in years! 

Page 66

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/adult-social-care-and-health/living-independently-at-home/equipment-home-adaptations-and-assistive-technology


    

lightbulb performance 
   

 

lightbulb performance 
 

 
 

 Quarter 1, 2018/2019 
 

 

 
Month 

 
Waiting 

List 
Snapshot 

 

 
New visits  

 
Follow 

up 
visits  

 

 
Number 

Appointments 
Made 

 
Completed 
Duty Cases 

 
OT Cases 

Referred by 
HSC 

 
Cases 
Closed 

 
Cases 

returned 
to SHSC 

 
April 

 

 
213 

 
38 

 
6 

 
42 

 
Not recorded 

 
2 

 
29 

 
0 

 
May 

 

 
121 

 
53 

 
9 

 
76 

 
10 

 
3 

 
57 

 
1 

 
June 

 

 
132 

 
55 

 
10 

 
Not recorded 

 
6 

 
2 

 
53 

 
0 

Q1 
Totals 

 

 
-- 

 
146 

 
25 

 
118 

 
16 

 
7 

 
139 

 
1 

P
age 67



    

lightbulb performance 
   

 

lightbulb performance 
 

 
 

 Quarter 2, 2018/2019 
 

 

 

 

 
Month 

 
Waiting 

List 
Snapshot 

 

 
New visits  

 
Follow 

up 
visits  

 

 
Number 

Appointments 
Made 

 
Completed 
Duty Cases 

 
OT Cases 

Referred by 
HSC 

 
Cases 
Closed 

 
Cases 

returned 
to SHSC 

 
July 

 

 
169 

 
50 

 
12 

 
Not recorded 

 
16 

 
6 

 
43 

 
2 

 
Aug 

 

 
204 

 
34 

 
7 

 
Not recorded 

 
9 

 
2 

 
23 

 
3 

 
Sept 

 

 
191 

 
48 

 
13 

 
Not recorded 

 
17 

 
2 

 
34 

 
0 

Q2 
Totals 

 

 
-- 

 
132 

 
32 

 
 

 
42 

 
10 

 
100 

 
5 

P
age 68



    

lightbulb performance 
   

 

lightbulb performance 
 

 
 

 Quarter 3, 2018/2019 
 

 

 

 
Month 

 
Waiting 

List 
Snapshot 

 

 
New visits  

 
Follow 

up 
visits  

 

 
Number 

Appointments 
Made 

 
Completed 
Duty Cases 

 
OT Cases 

Referred by 
HSC 

 
Cases 
Closed 

 
Cases 

returned 
to SHSC 

 
Oct 

 

 
178 

 
61 

 
10 

 
Not recorded 

 
10 

 
2 

 
56 

 
2 

 
Nov 

 

 
175 

 
59 

 
9 

 
Not recorded 

 
14 

 
1 

 
52 

 
1 

 
Dec 

 

 
170 

 
42 

 
13 

 
Not recorded 

 
8 

 
1 

 
56 

 
0 

Q3 
Totals 

 

 
-- 

 
162 

 
32 

 
 

 
32 

 
4 

 
164 

 
3 

P
age 69



 1 

 Equality Impact & Needs Assessment (INA) Form. 
 
Name of the policy, function or project: Lightbulb 
 
 
Service: Community Services 
 
 
Complete this form for any existing/proposed policy/function/project regardless of whether it is aimed at external customers or internal 
staff.  Please also be aware that equality policy applies to staffing/human resources issues as much as to external service delivery issues. 
Please note that existing policies/functions will be assessed as per an agreed annual programme. However if you are reviewing or 
devising a policy etc that is not currently in the 3 year plan it still needs an INA 
 
Answer every question – even if it is negative. 
 
If you conclude that there is a negative impact you will need to review the policy/function/project to improve the equalities performance 
and minimise or remove the impact.  This should be done using the ‘Improvement Actions Planned’ table.  Where appropriate such 
actions should be included in your Service Plan for the following year. 
 
If the Corporate Equalities  & Access Group (CEAG) feels this impact assessment needs further consideration, you will be asked to 
review your conclusions. 
 
As a result of this exercise, you will have checked that your policy/function/project does not have negative/adverse impacts in terms of 
Gender, Gender re-assignment/ transgender, Ethnicity/Race, Disability, Age, Sexual Orientation, Religion or Belief, Marriage/Civil 
Partnerships, Pregnancy/Maternity (equality target groups).If it does you will have identified relevant actions needed to minimise or 
remove such impact and their likely resource implications. 
 
This is not simply a paper exercise – it is designed to make sure that your policy/function/project and service (development) is 
delivered fairly and effectively to all sections of our local community, and our employees! 
 
Please note that the Council is required to publish the results of these assessments, and update; therefore your completed form may be 
a public document. 
 
 

P
age 70

lauras_2
Text Box
APPENDIX 3



 2 

Once completed and/or  when your corresponding report is submitted to Management Board –Cabinet, please pass this form, together 
with documentation describing both the policy/function/project it concerns and any evidence relating to assessed impacts, to Alison Moran, 
Performance Manager. If this is a new policy/service/procedure/function/project this form will also need to be attached to your 
draft  report for  approval by your Director  prior to its first submission to Management Board.  Reports cannot be considered by 
Management Board unless both  they  & this INA have had prior approval by the relevant Director. 
 
For further details please see separate Guidance Note on process for completion of INA’s 
 
To complete the form using ‘check marks’ in the boxes, position the cursor over the box you require, left double click, then 
select ‘checked’ in the ‘check box form field options’ box that appears on screen. 
 
a. Preparation 
 
The work on this section should be done in advance and be used as part of your INA. Please attach examples of available evidence, 
including monitoring information, research and consultation reports. 
 
1a. Do you have relevant data available on the number of people within the scope of your policy/function/project? E.g. whole population 

of the district/ward or employee data. 
           In relation to: 

Yes  No 

• Women and men               

• Gender reassignment              

• Black and minority ethnic communities           

• People with disabilities             

• Age groups               

• Sexual orientation               

• Religion or belief              

• Marital status/civil partnership             

• Pregnancy/Maternity              
 
1b. Do you have relevant data available on the number of people subject to or impacted by your policy/function/project? E.g. numbers 

of disabled people using the service. 
           In relation to: 

Yes  No 

• Women and men               

P
age 71



 3 

• Black and minority ethnic communities           

• Gender reassignment             

• People with disabilities             

• Age groups               

• Sexual orientation               

• Religion or belief              

• Marital status/civil partnership             

• Pregnancy/Maternity             
 

2. If you have answered ‘yes’ to the above questions your monitoring data should be compared to the current available census data to see 
whether a proportionate number of people are taking up your service.  Please make any comments regarding service take up if 
relevant: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
If you have answered ‘no’ please explain reasons for lack of relevant data: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3. Are you aware of any relevant equality or diversity related consultation, research, or good practice guidance in relation to this area? If 

so then please list and attach here:          Yes  No 
   

 
 
 
 
 
 

Disabled Facility Grant applications are specifically for people with a disability or long term health condition so this will be recorded on their 
application along with their age. We are not aware if this is a fair representation of this equality group across the county as there will be people who 
will go through the self help route and/or self fund adaptations and not apply for a grant.  
We are able to collect equalities data for hospital patients being supported by the Housing Enabler Team through the “Patient Centre”.  
The Lightbulb model requires all staff to be mobile in terms of visiting customers across the local area and on different wards at the hospital. Staff 
will also be expected to be peripatetic to cover other local areas and this will be reflected in revised job descriptions. 

A demographic profiling exercise was completed as part of the customer insight work to inform the development of Lightbulb. This considered 
factors such as:  
Population, age, caring responsibilities, ethnicity, Income deprivation and poverty, including fuel poverty, Household characteristics including 
analysis of tenure and property characteristics, urban/rural classification, health conditions and disability, including excess winter deaths, 
hoarding, usage of social care services. 
Also Alzheimer’s society – making your home dementia friendly / Housing charter, Foundations – preparing a policy under the regulatory reform 
order. Age UK, Disability Rights UK, Scope, Leonard Cheshire Publications 

Equalities monitoring forms are not completed by Occupational Therapists or Technical Officers for people applying for Disabled Facilities Grants.  
Limited equalities information as part of the pilots has been collected by the Housing Support Coordinators (HSC’s).  
There is data on equalities within the shared Adult Social Care system which can be reported on via Tableau system which is being implemented. 

P
age 72



 4 

4. Do you need to carry out further research/ consultation to identify impacts, needs etc? Please specify what and who with? 
Yes  No 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
b. Your policy, service, function or project 
 
1. What is the title and main aim or purpose of the policy/function/service/project? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2. List the areas of activity of the policy/function/project, e.g. the recruitment strategy might have advertising, interviewing, short listing etc. 
as activity areas. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3. Who are the main intended beneficiaries of the policy/function/service/project? 

Lightbulb’s vision is to integrate practical housing support into a single service that is available to all, easier to access, easier to use and will provide 
support shaped around an individual’s needs not an organisation’s processes. 

Lightbulb will see health, social care and housing partners working together to deliver:-  
 A single access point into a range of practical housing solutions  

 A common, holistic housing needs assessment process  

 A broader, targeted offer of practical housing support  
This will be via application and assessment of grant funding to provide service and equipment to meet an individuals needs 
 

 

However we will continuously consult with service users to ensure their needs are being met. 

P
age 73



 5 

 
 
 
 
 
 
4.Which people / groups may be affected by the policy/function/project – whole population or particular groups? 
 
 
 
 
5. Are you expecting to make any changes during the next year? 

•   Policy              Yes  No  

•    Function             Yes  No  

•    Project             Yes  No  

•    Procedure             Yes  No  
 
6. Who else will be involved in undertaking the INA ( names and roles)? 
 
 
 
 
 
c.  Impact Assessment  
 
1. Complete the following tables for each equality target  group, by inserting a check mark or tick in one of the 3 options columns  - 

Positive impact,  Negative impact,  Neutral. 
 Consider the information gathered in Section (a) of this form, compare monitoring information with census data, and considering any 

other evidence, research or consultations, identify any instances where you believe people in different equality groups could be 
impacted differentially.  

 This is particularly important where you think that the policy/function/project could have a negative impact on any of the equality 
target groups, i.e. it could disadvantage them, but also  

• Where you think that the policy/function/project could have a positive impact on any of the equality target groups or contribute to 
promoting equality, equal opportunities or improving relations within equality target groups 

• Otherwise, if  you think that neither negative nor positive apply, then choose neutral impact  

Leicsetershire Residents – particularly those who have a disability or are vulnerable and meet the key eligibility criteria. 
People at risk of being admitted to hospital or visiting a GP because of their health condition and people who are in hospital ensuring 
they are able to return home as soon as they are medically able to do so. The needs of these individuals will be identified using a 
Housing MOT Checklist. 

The service will be available to residents across Leicestershire however it will be based on a person centred needs assessment. It is likely to be 
vulnerable people who use the service, particularly those people with a health condition, long term illness or disability and carers. 

Partner organisations will be required to take the Lightbulb Business Plan through their governance procedure and will need to take the EINA 
as part of this. As we make changes to policies, functions, project and procedures we will review the equalities needs assessment and will 
consider Human Rights 

P
age 74



 6 

• Note that only  one type of  impact can be applicable  for any particular  equality group category e.g. male or female. 

• In all cases, please state briefly the reason/rationale for your assessment. 
 

a) How will the policy/function/project/procedure impact on men, women and those who are transgendered or have gone through gender re-
assignment? e.g. flexible working arrangements might have a positive impact on women with caring responsibilities 

 
Gender Positive impact Negative impact Neutral  Reason/Rationale for Assessment 

Male    The service applied across all genders as it is based 

Female    On need 

Transgender/GR     

 
b) How will the policy/function/project/procedure impact on people from different or minority ethnic communities?  This may involve using Council 

services differently, e.g. will Muslim women use the Council’s swimming pool more often if separate sex swimming arrangements are in place? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

c) How will the policy/function/project/procedure impact on people with disabilities, e.g. if information about Council Tax benefits are not made 
available in large print or alternative formats, access to such benefits might be denied to people with a visual impairment or learning disability. 
 

Disability/Health Positive impact Negative impact Neutral Reason/Rationale for Assessment  

Visually impaired    

One of the key objectives for Lightbulb will be maximising 
the part that housing support can play in keeping people 
independent in their homes. The Housing Support 
Coordinators will have access to a wealth of options that 
could help someone who is visually impaired get around 
and stay safe in their own home. 

Hearing impairment    

One of the key objectives for Lightbulb will be maximising 
the part that housing support can play in keeping people 
independent in their homes. The Housing Support 
Coordinators will have access to a wealth of options that 

Ethnicity Positive impact Negative impact Neutral Reason/Rationale for Assessment  

White British    The service is applied across all ethnicities, based 
White European    On an applicants need and support required 
Mixed Ethnicity    To help them remain independent at home 
Asian       
African or Caribbean     
Gypsy/Roma     
Other ethnic group     

P
age 75



 7 

could help someone who is visually impaired get around 
and stay safe in their own home  

Physically disabled    

One of the key objectives for Lightbulb will be maximising 
the part that housing support can play in keeping people 
independent in their homes. Disabled Facilities Grants will 
be part of the Lightbulb offer  

Learning difficulty    

There will be elements of the Lightbulb Model that can 
provide specific support to people with learning difficulties. 
When discussing housing options with this group we will 
take into account their specific need.  

Mental health problem    
Housing Enabler Team within the hospitals will support 
people with low mental health to be discharged from the 
hospital to a property which is suitable to their needs.  

Other longstanding 
health problem which 
limits  day to day 
activities 

   

Key objective for Lightbulb is to help prevent, delay or 
reduce care home placements or demand for other social 
services, avoiding unnecessary hospital 
admissions/readmissions or GP visits and facilitating timely 
hospital discharge. Lightbulb will also minimise the number 
of different professionals a customer needs to tell their 
story to.  

 
 
 
 
d) Does the policy/function/project/procedure impact on people differently based on their age, e.g. a job advertisement that requires at least ten 
years post qualification experience would clearly prevent people in their twenties from applying 
 

Age Group Positive impact Negative impact Neutral  Reason/Rationale for Assessment 

Children (under 16)    
Disabled Facilities Grants are available to families who 
have a disabled child in order that the property can be 
adapted to meet the child’s needs.  

(16 to 29)    

Lightbulb will be available to all residents who are 
vulnerable due to a health condition, long term illness or 
disability. This could be a patient at risk of falls, frailty or 
mobility issues, wider health and wellbeing needs.  

(30 – 44)    As Above 

(45 – 59)    As Above 

P
age 76



 8 

(60 – 74)    

One of the key objectives for Lightbulb will be maximising 
the part that housing support can play in keeping people 
independent in their homes. We know from the JSNA that 
the population aged 65-84 is predicted to grow by 56%, 
from 106,000 to 164,900. Therefore we have assessed 
that in the future this group will be a priority for Lightbulb.  

Older (over 75)      

We know from the JSNA that population growth in aged 85 
years and over is predicted to grow by 190% from 15,900 
to 45,600. Therefore we have assessed that in the future 
this group will be a priority for Lightbulb  

 
 
e) Does the policy/function/project/procedure impact on people differently based on their sexual orientation, e.g. if housing policy is 
only to offer temporary accommodation to couples of different sex a gay or lesbian couple would be unable to be housed 

 
Sexual Orientation  Positive impact Negative impact Neutral  Reason/Rationale for Assessment 

Heterosexual    
The service will be available to all residents regardless of 
their sexual orientation.  

Gay or Lesbian    As Above 

Bisexual    As Above 

 
 
f) Does the policy/function/project/procedure impact on people differently based on their religion or belief e.g. would a person of the 
Hindu religion be able to give a binding affirmation if a procedure requires the swearing of an oath on the Bible? 

  
Religion or Belief Positive impact Negative impact Neutral Reason/Rationale for Assessment 

Christian    

Lightbulb service will be promoted across the whole  
community. The staff will be able to arrange appointments 
with customers to meet their specific needs thus avoiding 
any religious days/events/activities  

Hindu    As Above 
Muslim    As Above 
Sikh    As Above 
Jewish    As Above 
Other    As Above 
Non believer    As Above 

P
age 77



 9 

 
 

g) Does the policy/function/project/procedure impact on people differently based on any of the other protected characteristics where these 
are affected by aspects of the Equality Act ( e.g. marital status and civil partnership; pregnancy or maternity) 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
If you conclude that there is a negative impact in one or more of the target groups you will need to amend the policy/function/project  
and/or take further action,  to minimise or remove the impact This should be done using the ‘Improvement Actions Plan’ table 
overleaf.   If you think that other  actions could be taken to increase any positive impacts,  please include these too.  Where 
appropriate,  such actions should be included in your current/proposed Service Plan. 
 
 
  
 

The policy does not impact on people differently based on any other protected characteristics.  
The financial assessment for a Disabled Facilities Grant takes into account the income where two people are in a relationship regardless of 
whether they are married or in a civil partnership 

P
age 78



 10 

Impact & Needs Assessment: Improvement Actions Plan 
 

 
Please list below any recommendations for action to improve the equalities performance of the policy/function/project that you plan to take as  a result 
 of this impact assessment. This could be to change the policy itself or involve other initiatives.   Where appropriate,  these actions should also  be 
 included  in your  current/proposed  Service Plan. 

 
Issue/Link to INA 
question number 

Action Required Lead 
Officer 

Time-
scale 

Resource 
implications 

Comments 

 
 
 

For partner organisations to take 
the Business Plan and the EINA 
through their governance 
procedures.  

Lightbulb 
Service 
Manager 

From 
January 
2019 

Within 
current 
resources 

 

 
 
 

As part of the communication 
strategy linked to the roll out of 
Lightbulb we will make available 
easy read versions of any publicity 
developed, we will ensure we are 
able to have things produced in 
different languages if needed. Use 
a range of different 
communication routes including 
social media  

Lightbulb 
Service 
Manager 

June 
2019 

Within 
current 
resources 

 

 
 
 

To produce quarterly equalities 
monitoring data to identify groups 
that are not using the service and 
proactively marketing this group.  

Lightbulb 
Service 
Manager 

April 
2019 

 Will need to see if possible from the 
current system 

 
 
 

     

 
 
 

     

 
 
 

     

P
age 79



 11 

  
 
 

    

 
 
 

     

 
 
 
 
Please ensure that the section below is completed and signed by  one or both   NAMED officers as applicable: 
  
 
NAME: Quin Quinney 
 
Signed:_________________________________ 
(Corporate/Group/Service Manager) 
 
Date: 28.1.19 
 
 
NAME: Tara Bhaur 
 
Signed:_________________________________ 
(Completing Officer) 
 
Date28.1.19 
 
 
 
 
Please keep a copy on record to which the public could have full access.  Also send or e-mail a copy of this completed form along with 
documentation describing the policy/function/project it concerns to:  
 
Alison Moran, Performance  & Systems Manager 

P
age 80



  

CABINET – 14TH FEBRUARY 2019 

Report of the Head of Finance and Property Services 
Lead Member: Councillor Tom Barkley 

 

Part A 

CAPITAL STRATEGY (INCLUDING THE TREASURY 

MANAGEMENT STRATEGY) FOR 2019-20 

Purpose of Report 

This report introduces the Capital Strategy, which is newly required under the 

terms of the ‘Prudential Code’, a statutory code of practice.  The report also sets 

out the Treasury Management Strategy Statement together with the Annual 

Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy. These 

latter strategies and the MRP policy are integral to the overarching Capital 

Finance Strategy and are therefore presented within a single report for context. 

This Cabinet report recommends the approval of the above strategies to 

Council.  

Recommendations 

1. That the Capital Strategy, as set out at Appendix A of this report be 

approved and recommended to Council. 

2. That the Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Annual Investment 

Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy as shown at Appendix 

B of this report be approved and recommended to Council. 

3. That the Prudential and Treasury Indicators, also set out in within 

Appendix B of this report be approved and recommended to Council. 

Reasons 

1.     To enable the Council to comply with the statutory code of practice issued 

by CIPFA: ‘The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities, 

2017 Edition’. 

2. To ensure that the Council’s governance and management procedures 

for  Treasury  Management  reflect  best  practice  and  comply  with  the 

CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services Code of Practice, 

Guidance Notes and Treasury Management Policy Statement. 

3.     To ensure that funding of capital expenditure is taken within the totality 

of the Council’s financial position and that borrowing and investment is 

only carried out with proper regard to the Prudential Code for Capital 

Finance in Local Authorities. 

Page 81

Agenda Item 6b



  

Policy Justification and Previous Decisions 

The Capital Strategy must be approved by Council on an annual basis.  The 

presentation of a Capital Strategy was optional for the 2018/19 financial year 

but is a requirement for the 2019/20 and subsequent financial years. 

The Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Prudential and Treasury 

Indicators and Annual Investment Strategy must be approved by Council each 

year and reviewed half yearly. 

 Implementation Timetable including Future Decisions and Scrutiny 

This report is available for the consideration of the Overview Scrutiny Group on 

11 February 2019. 

Report Implications 

The following implications have been identified for this report. 

Financial Implications 

There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 

Financial issues arising from the implementation of the strategies are covered 

within the report. 

Risk Management 

Risk Identified Likelihood Impact Risk Management actions 

planned 

Poor treasury investment 

decisions due to inadequate 

treasury management 

strategies in place 

Unlikely Moderate Strategy developed in accordance 

with CIPFA guidelines     and     

best practice. 

Adherence to clearly defined 

treasury management policies and 

practices 

Loss of council funds through 

failure of borrowers 

Remote Severe Credit ratings and other 

information sources used to 

minimise risk 

Adherence to clearly defined 

treasury management policies and 

practices 

Volatile market changes (such 

as interest rates or sector 

ratings) occur during year 

Possible Moderate Approved strategy in place, 

regular monitoring of position and 

use of Treasury Consultants and   

other   sources to provide the 

latest advice. 

Page 82



  

Risk Identified Likelihood Impact Risk Management actions 

planned 

Significant losses arising from 

investments in non-financial 

instruments (such as loans to 

third parties or property 

investments) 

Possible Major Professional advice will be sought 

in advance of non-standard or new 

investment activity. 

Adherence to strategy which set 

out limits to investment in 

individual asset classes. 

 

Key Decision:                   Yes 

 
Background Papers:        Cabinet Report 13th September 2018 – Updated 

Treasury Management Practices 

 
Officers to contact:           Tina Stankley 

Head of Finance and Property Services 
(01509) 634810 
tina.stankley@charnwood.gov.uk 
 
Simon Jackson 
Strategic Director of Corporate Services 
(01509) 634699 
simon.jackson@charnwood.gov.u

Page 83

mailto:tina.stankley@charnwood.gov.u
mailto:simon.jackson@charnwood.gov.u


  

Part B 

Background 

1. The Capital Strategy is a new requirement arising from the extant version of 

the ‘Prudential Code’.  This code is a statutory code of practice and was 

published by the Chartered Institute of Public Financial Accountants (CIPFA) 

in November 2017.  It was issued by the Secretary of State under section 

15(1)(a) of the Local Government Act 2003.  Under that section local 

authorities are required to ‘have regard’ to ‘such guidance as the Secretary 

of State may issue’. 

2. The Council’s treasury management activities also fall within the scope of the 

Prudential Code. 

3. The Capital Strategy forms part of the Council’s integrated revenue, capital 

and balance sheet planning. It sets out the long-term context in which capital 

expenditure and investment decisions are made, considers risks and 

rewards and the potential impacts on Council objectives 

4. The Capital Strategy is an overarching strategy that encompasses the 

following aspects: 

• Capital expenditure and governance 

• Capital financing and the borrowing  

• Treasury management investments (essentially financial assets) 

• Commercial strategy – non-financial assets (including commercial 

properties and prospective housing development) 

• Access to knowledge and skills (enabling the strategy to be delivered) 

• Treasury management policy statement and practices (presented as 

a separate appendix) 

5. The most recent Medium Term Financial Strategy (approved at the Council 

meeting of 21st January 2019) includes a transformation and efficiency plan 

that sets out a range of responses to the likely future financial challenges 

facing the Council.  These included a more proactive approach to treasury 

management, prospective investments in commercial property and 

development of commercial opportunities.  Additionally, a report to Cabinet 

of 14th January 2019 outlined the Council’s aspirations to deliver affordable 

housing through the mechanism of a Housing Development Company. In 

order to enable these initiatives new flexibilities in the Council’s treasury 

management and borrowing policies are required.   

Page 84



  

6. The principal expanded flexibilities are that the Council would be able to 

make commercial investments, e.g. to provide loans to the Housing 

Development Company, which would generate investment income for the 

General Fund. The other main change is that an Minimum Revenue Provision 

Policy has been included in the Treasury Management Strategy and will 

require full Council approval 

7. Advice has been obtained from the Council’s treasury management advisers 

in developing the above proposals. 

8. In addition to those noted above, the Capital Strategy also outlines other 

flexibilities (and associated governance arrangements) that are likely to be 

required in future, principally around the prospective acquisition of 

commercial properties and making commercial investments.  These are 

presented within the Strategy for illustrative purposes.  It is envisaged that a 

further report will be presented to Cabinet in due course setting out final 

proposals for these flexibilities requesting that these be recommended for 

approval by Council.  

9. As noted above and in Part A, this report also requests that the Treasury 

Management Strategy Statement, Annual Investment Strategy and 

Minimum Revenue Provision Policy together with the Prudential and 

Treasury Indicators, be approved and recommended to Council 

10. The Treasury Management and Annual Investment Strategy have been 

prepared in accordance with the revised code and accordingly include: 

• the treasury limits in force which will limit the treasury risk and 

activities of the council, 

•    the Prudential and Treasury Indicators 

•    the current treasury position 

•    the borrowing requirement 

•    prospects for interest rates 

•    the borrowing strategy 

•    policy on borrowing in advance of need 

•    debt rescheduling 

•    the investment strategy 

•    creditworthiness policy 

•    the use of external fund managers and treasury advisers 

Page 85



  

•    Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy 

 

Appendices 

Appendix A:  Capital Finance Strategy 

Appendix B: Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Annual 

Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision 

Policy for 2019-20 

 

Page 86



APPENDIX A 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Charnwood Borough Council 
 

Capital Strategy 
 

2019 – 2020 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 87



 

Foreword 
 

Robust financial planning is a critical component of the 

Council’s overall system of financial management.  

Although the Capital Strategy is a new requirement that 

arises from the updated terms of the ‘Prudential Code’, a 

statutory code of practice, much of its content reflects the 

pre-existing management parameters and controls 

already in place within the Council including, in particular, 

those which govern our treasury management activities. 
 

However, in many ways the requirement to publish a Capital Strategy is very 

timely.  In the most recent Medium Term Financial Strategy we outlined some 

the potential financial challenges facing the Council and set out our responses 

to these within the transformation and efficiency plan that formed part of this 

document.  Our plans include a more proactive approach to treasury 

management, prospective investments in commercial property and the 

development of commercial opportunities.  Additionally, we have aspirations to 

deliver affordable housing through the mechanism of a Housing Development 

Company in order to meet the ongoing demand for new homes within our 

Borough.  Enabling these initiatives require new flexibilities in the Council’s 

treasury management and borrowing policies which are introduced within the 

Capital Strategy and associated Treasury Management Strategy. 

 

Security and liquidity will remain as key elements of the Council’s approach to 

financial management but the anticipated challenges ahead point us towards a 

more proactive approach in respect of treasury management, prudent borrowing 

and commercial opportunities.  We have already made changes (for example, our 

recent investments in property funds) but this inaugural Capital Finance Strategy 

starts to consider how we could rebalance risk and reward as we continue on this 

journey.   

 
 

Councillor Tom Barkley 
 
Cabinet Lead Member for Finance & Property 
 
February 2019 
 

  

Page 88



CAPITAL STRATEGY (INCLUDING TREASURY MANAGEMENT) 

The purpose of the Capital Strategy is to demonstrate that the Council takes capital 
expenditure and investment decisions in line with service objectives and properly takes 
account of stewardship, value for money, prudence, sustainability and affordability. It 
sets out the long term context in which capital expenditure and investment decisions 
are made and gives due consideration to both risk and reward and impact on the 
achievement of priority outcomes. The Capital Strategy comprises a number of distinct, 
but inter-related, elements as follows:  

• Capital expenditure; which includes an overview of the governance process for 
approval and monitoring of capital expenditure, including the Council’s policies on 
capitalisation, and an overview of its capital expenditure and financing plans.  

• Capital financing and borrowing; provides a projection of the Council’s capital 
financing requirement, how this will be funded and repaid. It therefore sets out the 
Council’s borrowing strategy and explains how it will make prudent revenue provision 
for the repayment of debt should any borrowing be required.  

• Treasury management investments; explains the Council’s approach to treasury 
management investment activities, including the criteria for determining how and 
where funds will be invested to ensure that the principal sums are safeguarded from 
loss and that sufficient liquidity is maintained to ensure that funds are available when 
needed.  

• Commercial investments; provides an overview of those of the Council’s current 
and any potential commercial investment activities that count as capital expenditure, 
including processes, due diligence and defining the Council’s risk appetite in respect 
of these, including proportionality in respect of overall resources.  

• Knowledge and skills; summarises the knowledge and skills available to the Council 
and provides confirmation that these are commensurate with the Council’s risk 
appetite. Further details are provided in the following sections.  

• Treasury management policy statement and practices; this is presented as a 
separate report, for approval, updates to the Council’s Treasury Management Policy 
Statement and to its Treasury Management Practices. These set out the Council’s 
policies, objectives and approach to risk management of its treasury management 
activities, and the manner in which it seeks to achieve its policies and objectives for 
treasury management. 

1. Capital expenditure  
1.1. Capitalisation policies  

1.1.1. Capital expenditure involves acquiring or enhancing non-current assets 
with a long-term value to the Council, such as land, buildings, and major 
items of plant and equipment or vehicles, as well as the contribution or 
payments of grants to others to be used to fund capital expenditure. 
Capital assets shape the way services are delivered for the long term 
and may create financial commitments for the future in the form of 
financing costs and revenue running costs.  Subsequent expenditure on 
existing assets is also classified as capital expenditure if these two 
criteria below are met. 

1.1.2. Expenditure is classified as capital expenditure when the resulting asset:  

Page 89



• Will be held for use in the delivery of services, for rental to others, or 
for administrative purposes; and  

• Is of continuing benefit to the Council for a period extending beyond 
one financial year.  

1.1.3. There may be instances where expenditure does not meet this definition, 
but would nevertheless be treated as capital expenditure. This is known 
as ‘Capitalisation’ and it is the means by which the Government, 
exceptionally, permits local authorities to treat revenue costs as capital 
costs. It allows exceptional revenue costs, that should be met from 
revenue resources to be treated as capital expenditure. Permission is 
given through capitalisation directions, which the Secretary of State can 
issue under section 16(2)(b) of the Local Government Act 2003.  

1.1.4. The Council operates a de-minimis limit of £10,000 for capital 
expenditure. This means that items below this limit are charged to 
revenue rather than capital.  

 
1.2. Governance 

1.2.1. A three year Capital Plan is prepared by officers and approved by 
Council. The process to formulate the Capital Plan is that, potential 
schemes are submitted to the SMT, each one of which is supported by 
a Capital Application form and scored by the relevant Head of Service.  
The SMT peer review the applications and then, via the Head of Finance 
& Property, submit a report to Cabinet covering its recommendations on 
which schemes to include in the Plan, how the Plan could be funded and 
other elements such as risk and compliance with the  Prudential Code. 

1.2.2. Once adopted the three year Capital Plan is formally reviewed by 
Cabinet at the end of year two when Heads of Service are asked to 
submit proposals for the following three years.  ‘Year three’ of the current 
plan would then become ‘year one’ of the new plan.  

1.2.3. New schemes can only be added outside of this procedure where they 
are in substitution of existing schemes or have a separate source of 
funding so that the actual total level of the Plan would not increase. 

1.2.4. All schemes of £50,000 in value or greater require a Capital Appraisal 
agreed by the Capital Programme Team plus all contracts must adhere 
to the Contract Procedure Rules.  The s151 Officer makes 
recommendations to Cabinet as to whether funding should be released 
to a scheme included in the Capital Plan. 

1.2.5. After the end of the financial year a report detailing the total amount of 
capital expenditure incurred during the year is submitted to Cabinet by 
the Section 151 Officer. 

1.2.6. Prior to the closure of the Council’s accounts a report detailing the 
proposed method of funding the capital expenditure incurred is 
submitted to Cabinet by the Section 151 Officer as required by the Local 
Government & Housing Act 1989. 

  

Page 90



Current Three Year Capital Plan  

1.2.7. The Capital Plan for 2018/19 - 2020/21, is currently £31,450,800 
(originally adopted by Council on 26th February 2018 with the latest 
amendments approved by Cabinet at its meeting on 13th December 
2018). The Capital Plan is fully funded by a combination of the following 
sources:  

1.2.8. Capital grants and contributions - amounts awarded to the Council in 
return for past or future compliance with certain stipulations.  

1.2.9. Capital receipts – amounts generated from the sale of assets and from 
the repayment of capital loans, grants or other financial assistance.  

1.2.10. Revenue contributions – amounts set aside from the revenue budget. 

1.2.11. In addition to this the Council also has the option to borrow to fund capital 
expenditure. At this point in time the Council has taken any borrowing to 
fund General Fund capital expenditure. The Council has taken out 
borrowing to fund the purchase of its housing stock from the Government 
under the 2012 Self-Financing Regime. This totals £79m.     

1.2.12. Borrowing allows the Council to defer the funding of its capital 
expenditure so that it does not need to fund immediately from cash 
resources, but instead charges to the revenue budget over a number of 
years into the future.  

1.2.13. The implications of financing capital expenditure from ‘borrowing’ are 
explained later on in Treasury Management Investments.  

2. Capital Financing Requirement and Borrowing Context  

2.1. The Council is required by regulation to comply with the CIPFA Prudential Code 
for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (referred to as the ‘Prudential Code’) 
when assessing the affordability, prudence and sustainability of its capital 
investment plans. Fundamental to the prudential framework is a requirement to 
set a series of prudential indicators. These indicators are intended to collectively 
build a picture that demonstrates the impact over time of the Council’s capital 
expenditure plans upon the revenue budget and upon borrowing and investment 
levels, and explain the overall controls that will ensure that the activity remains 
affordable, prudent and sustainable.  

2.2. The full details of the Council’s CFR position and the limits that have been set 
for borrowing and all the associated prudential indicators are provided In the 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement (Appendix B).  

  
3. Treasury Management Investments  

3.1. The Treasury Management Code and statutory regulations require the Council 
to prepare an annual strategy that explains how the Council will invest its funds, 
giving priority to security and liquidity, and then to yield. This Annual Investment 
Strategy can be found in the Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
(Appendix B).  

 
4. Commercial investments  

4.1. The prolonged low interest rate environment has meant that treasury 
management investments have not generated significant returns. However, the 

Page 91



introduction of the general power of competence has given local authorities far 
more flexibility in the types of activity they can engage in. These changes in the 
economic and regulatory landscape, combined with significant financial 
challenges, have led many authorities to consider different and more innovative 
types of investment.  

4.2. CIPFA recently issued an update to its Treasury Management in the Public 
Services: Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral Guidance Notes (the Treasury 
Management Code). One of the main changes introduced by the new Code is 
to require authorities to incorporate all of the financial and non-financial assets 
held for financial return in authorities’ annual capital strategies.  

4.3. Separately, the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government has 
issued Statutory Guidance on Local Government Investments under section 
15(1)(a) of the Local Government Act 2003 and effective for financial years 
commencing on or after 1 April 2018 

 
4.4. The primary objectives of commercial investment activities for a council should 

be:  

• Security – to protect the capital sums invested from loss; and  

• Liquidity – ensuring the funds invested are available for expenditure when 
needed.  

4.5. The generation of a yield is distinct from the two objectives above. However, 
once proper levels of security and liquidity are determined, it would then be 
reasonable to consider what yield can be obtained consistent with these 
priorities.  

4.6. At present the non-core activities and investments are primarily undertaken by 
the Council in order to generate income to support the delivery of a balanced 
budget. Such investments are only entered following a full assessment of the 
risks and having secured expert external advice (i.e. where it is relevant to do 
so). It is intended that separate reports to present a policy on commercial 
investment will be brought to Cabinet and full Council for consideration and 
approval. This will discuss the options open to the Council along with the risks 
and benefits for each. It will also include proposals on limits, diversification and 
governance. Each policy, as approved will then be incorporated as part of this 
Capital Strategy and will in future years be reviewed annually as part of this 
strategy.  

4.7. Below are details of some options open to the Council that would generate a 
yield for the Council. The details below are indicative of options that will be 
considered and are provided for information only. They are not for approval at 
this stage.  

 
Investment properties  

4.7.1. The Council already owns land and buildings that have been acquired for 
capital appreciation and/or solely to earn rentals, rather than for the supply 
of goods or services or for administrative purposes. Such assets are 
classified as investment properties (unless they are acquired as the 
outcome of a regeneration priority).  

Page 92



4.7.2. In considering its approach to investment properties the Council will need 
to consider the application of parameters including: 

• Maximum and minimum cost of prospective acquisitions 

• The maximum proportion of the Council’s investment assets that 
should be held in the form of investment properties 

• The balance of property assets held with different sectors of the 
market; for example, an approach might be agreed that excludes retail 
property acquisitions 

• The geographical limits on prospective acquisitions; for example, 
acquisitions could be limited to sites within the Borough, within the 
area of the Local Economic Partnership, or unrestricted 

• Whether properties are acquired purely on commercial grounds or 
whether other policy objectives, such as regeneration, should also be 
taken into account  

• The required rental yield from properties held for investment, and 
whether different yield hurdle rates be applied to prospective 
acquisitions fulfilling non-financial policy objectives 

4.7.3. As noted above in paragraph 4.6, it is envisaged that a further report 
would be brought to Cabinet and then Council prior to commencing 
commercial property investment.  In addition to addressing the above 
parameters this would address the requirements for specific knowledge 
and skills, and the governance structure that would support this activity 
given the need to make investment decisions that do not lend themselves 
to the standard committee cycles. 

Loans to local enterprises and third parties  

4.7.4. Loans to local enterprises or partner public sector bodies could be 
considered, as part of a wider strategy for local economic growth, even 
though they may not all be seen as prudent if adopting a narrow definition 
of prioritising security and liquidity. Such loans could be considered as an 
option to generate a yield. There would need to be a set of criteria drawn 
up which would need to be met before any loan was given. These might 
include: 
 

• Whether or not the loan has security 

• The term of the loan 

• The profile of capital repayments 

• The credit rating of the counterparty 

 
Support to Subsidiaries 
 
4.7.5. The Council does not currently have any wholly owned local trading or 

housing companies. Should the Council decide to form a subsidiary then 

Page 93



Council could decide to provide the funding required to support these 
organisations. As with providing loans to local enterprises and third parties 
there would need to be a set of criteria drawn up which would need to be 
met before any loan was given. This would mitigate the risk of loss to the 
Council. 

  
Other commercial investments 

4.7.6. There may be other commercial investment opportunities that present 
themselves. If this happens then a report would be presented to Cabinet 
for approval and the Capital Strategy will be updated to cover their 
inclusion.  

5. Knowledge and Skills  

5.1. The Council recognises the importance of ensuring that all officers involved in 
the treasury management function (including commercial investment activities) 
are fully equipped to undertake the duties and responsibilities allocated to them. 
The Strategic Director for Corporate Services is responsible for recommending 
and implementing the necessary arrangements and does this by:  

• Appointing individuals who are capable and experienced.  

• Providing training and technical guidance to all individuals involved in the 
delivery of the treasury management function to enable them to acquire and 
maintain an appropriate level of expertise, knowledge and skills to undertake 
the duties and responsibilities allocated to them.  

• Appointing a treasury management advisor and other professional advisors 
when required. This ensures that the individuals involved in delivery of the 
Council’s treasury management activities have access to specialist skills and 
resources. In addition, professional advisors are employed as required to 
ensure that the Council has access to the specialist skills and resources 
necessary to undertake commercial investment activities.  

5.2. Treasury management advisors - The Council employs Link Asset Services 
(Treasury Solutions) to provide it with treasury management advice. The 
services provided by Link Asset Services (Treasury Solutions) include advice on 
treasury matters and capital finance issues, economic and interest rate analysis 
and creditworthiness information. Notwithstanding this, the final decision on all 
treasury matters remains vested with the Council. The services received from 
Link Asset Services (Treasury Solutions) are subject to regular review, including 
through periodic re-tendering.  

 
6. Treasury management Policy Statement and Treasury Management 

Practices  

6.1. The Council’s Treasury Management Policy Statement and its Treasury 
Management Practices have been updated to reflect the requirements of the 
updated Treasury Management Code. They are presented for approval in the 
Treasury Management Strategy (Appendix B)  

Page 94



  

APPENDIX B 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Charnwood Borough Council 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement 

Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement 
            and Annual Investment Strategy   

 

 

2019/20

Page 95



1 
 

INDEX 
 
Section  Page 

no. 
1 INTRODUCTION 2 

1.1 Background 2 
1.2 Reporting requirements 3 
1.3 Treasury Management Strategy for 2019/20 4 
1.4 Training 4 
1.5 Treasury management consultants 5 

   
2 THE CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2018/19 – 2021/22 5 

2.1 Capital expenditure 5 
2.2 The Council’s borrowing need (the Capital Financing 

Requirement) 
6 

2.3 Minimum revenue position (MRP) policy statement 7 
2.4 Core funds and expected investment balances 7 

   
3 BORROWING 8 

3.1 Current portfolio position   8 
3.2 Treasury Indicators: limits to borrowing activity 9 
3.3 Prospects for interest rates 10 
3.4 Investment and borrowing rates 11 
3.5 Borrowing strategy 11 
3.6 Policy on borrowing in advance of need 12 
3.7 Debt rescheduling 12 
3.8 Municipal Bond Agency 13 

   
4 ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY 13 

4.1 Investment policy 13 
4.2 Creditworthiness policy 15 
4.3 Country limits 17 
4.4 Investment strategy 17 
4.5 Investment risk benchmarking 18 
4.6 End of year investment report 18 

   
 APPENDICES  

12B (1) Economic Background 20 
12B (2) Minimum Revenue Provision Policy 26 
12B (3) Treasury Management Practice (TMP1) – Credit and Counterparty 

Risk Management 
28 

12B (4) Approved countries for investments 30 
12B (5) List of approved brokers for investments 31 
12B (6) Current investments as at 20th January 2017 32 
12B (7) Treasury management scheme of delegation 33 
12B (8) The treasury management role of the section 151 officer 34 

 
 
   

Page 96



2 
 

1.     INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Background 

 
The Council is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means that cash 
raised during the year will meet cash expenditure.  Part of the treasury management 
operation is to ensure that the cash flow is adequately planned, with cash being 
available when it is needed. Surplus monies are invested in low risk counterparties or 
instruments commensurate with the Council’s low risk appetite, ensuring the provision 
of adequate liquidity (cash balances) initially before considering investment return. 

 
The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the 
Council’s capital plans. These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need 
of the Council, essentially the longer term cash flow planning, to ensure that the 
Council can meet its capital spending obligations. This longer term cash management 
may involve arranging long or short term loans, or using longer term cash flow 
surpluses. On occasion any debt previously drawn may be restructured to meet 
Council risk or cost objectives. 
 
The contribution the treasury management function makes to the authority is 
critical, as the balance of debt and investment operations ensure liquidity or the 
ability to meet spending commitments as they fall due, either on day-to-day 
revenue or for larger capital projects.  The treasury operations will see a balance 
of the interest costs of debt and the investment income arising from cash deposits 
affecting the available budget.  Since cash balances generally result from reserves 
and balances, it is paramount to ensure adequate security of the sums invested, 
as a loss of principal will in effect result in a loss to the General Fund Balance. 
 
Whilst any commercial initiatives or loans to third parties will impact on the treasury 
function, these activities are generally classed as non-treasury activities, (arising 
usually from capital expenditure),and are separate from the day to day treasury 
management activities. 

 
CIPFA defines treasury management as: 

“The  management  of  the local authority’s  borrowing,  investments  and  cash  
flows,  its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective 
control of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum 
performance consistent with those risks.” 
 

Revised reporting is required for the 2019/20 reporting cycle due to revisions of 
the MHCLG Investment Guidance, the MHCLG Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP) Guidance, the CIPFA Prudential Code and the CIPFA Treasury 
Management Code.  The primary reporting changes include the introduction of a 
capital strategy, to provide a longer-term focus to the capital plans, and greater 
reporting requirements surrounding any commercial activity undertaken under the 
Localism Act 2011.  The capital strategy is being reported separately. 

 
  

Page 97



3 
 

1.2 Reporting requirements 
 
Capital Strategy 

 
The CIPFA revised 2017 Prudential and Treasury Management Codes require, for 
2019-20, all local authorities to prepare an additional report, a capital strategy 
report, which will provide the following:  

• a high-level long term overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing 
and treasury management activity contribute to the provision of services 

• an overview of how the associated risk is managed 

• the implications for future financial sustainability 
 
The aim of this capital strategy is to ensure that all elected members on the full 
council fully understand the overall long-term policy objectives and resulting capital 
strategy requirements, governance procedures and risk appetite. 
 
This capital strategy is reported separately from the Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement; non-treasury investments will be reported through the former. 
This ensures the separation of the core treasury function under security, liquidity 
and yield principles, and the policy and commercialism investments usually driven 
by expenditure on an asset.  The capital strategy will show: 

• The corporate governance arrangements for these types of activities; 

• Any service objectives relating to the investments; 

• The expected income, costs and resulting contribution;  

• The debt related to the activity and the associated interest costs;  

• The payback period (MRP policy);  

• For non-loan type investments, the cost against the current market value;  

• The risks associated with each activity. 
 
Where a physical asset is being bought, details of market research, advisers used, 
(and their monitoring), ongoing costs and investment requirements and any credit 
information will be disclosed, including the ability to sell the asset and realise the 
investment cash. 
 
Where the Council has borrowed to fund any non-financial investment, there should 
also be an explanation of why borrowing was required and why the MHCLG 
Investment Guidance and CIPFA Prudential Code have not been adhered to.  
 
If any non-financial investment sustains a loss during in a financial year, the strategy 
and revenue implications will be reported through the same procedure as the capital 
strategy. 
 
To demonstrate the proportionality between the treasury operations and the non-
treasury operation, high-level comparators are shown throughout this report. 

 
Treasury Management reporting 
 
The Council is required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three main reports 
each year, which incorporate a variety of policies, estimates and actuals. 

 
  

Page 98



4 
 

Prudential and treasury indicators and treasury strategy (this report) - The first 
and most important report covers: 

• the capital plans (including prudential indicators); 
• a minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy (how residual capital expenditure 

is charged to revenue over time); 

• the treasury management strategy (how the investments and borrowings 
are to be organised) including treasury indicators; and 

• an investment strategy (the parameters on how investments are to be managed). 

 

A mid-year treasury management report – This will update members with the 
progress of the capital position, amending prudential indicators as necessary, and 
whether any policies require revision. 

 
An annual treasury report – This provides details of a selection of actual 
prudential and treasury indicators and actual treasury operations compared to the 
estimates within the strategy. 
 
Scrutiny 
The above reports are required to be adequately scrutinised before being 
recommended to the Council.   This role is undertaken by the Audit Committee 
and the reports are also available for consideration by the Overview Scrutiny 
Group. 

 
1.3 Treasury Management Strategy for 2019/20 
The strategy for 2019/20 covers two main areas: 

 
Capital issues 

• Capital plans and prudential indicators; 

• Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy. 
 
Treasury management issues 

• current treasury position; 

• treasury indicators which limit the treasury risk and activities of the Council; 

• prospects for interest rates; 

• borrowing strategy; 

• policy on borrowing in advance of need; 

• debt rescheduling; 

• investment strategy; 

• creditworthiness policy; and 

• policy on use of external service providers. 

These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, the 
CIPFA Prudential Code, CLG MRP Guidance, the CIPFA Treasury Management 
Code and CLG Investment Guidance. 

 
1.4 Training 

 
The CIPFA Code requires the responsible officer to ensure that members with 
responsibility for treasury management receive adequate training in treasury 
management.   This especially applies to members responsible for scrutiny.  Suitable 
training is provided for members on a periodic basis as part of the wider Member 
training programme. Officers are also available to train and advise members on 

Page 99



5 
 

an ad hoc basis outside of this programme if required. The training needs of 
treasury management officers are reviewed annually as part of the PDR process 

 
1.5 Treasury management consultants 

 
The Council uses Link Asset Services Treasury Solutions as its external treasury 
management advisors in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources, 
including a benchmarking club. However, it is recognised that responsibility for 
treasury management decisions remains with the Council at all times and undue 
reliance is therefore not placed upon our external service providers. 
 

The Council also recognises that there is value in employing external providers 
of treasury management services in order to access specialist skills and resources. 
Officers will ensure that the terms of appointment and the methods by which their 
value will be assessed are properly agreed and documented, and subjected to 
regular review. 

 

The scope of investments within the Council’s operations may include both 
conventional treasury investments, (the placing of residual cash from the Council’s 
functions), and more commercial type investments, such as investment properties 
in the future. The commercial type investments require specialist advisers, and the 
Council would appoint suitably qualified specialist advisers in relation to this activity 
when required. 

 

 

  2. THE CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2019/20 – 2021/22 
 
The Council’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury management 
activity. The output of the capital expenditure plans is reflected in the prudential 
indicators, which are designed to assist members’ overview and confirm capital 
expenditure plans. 

 
2.1 Capital expenditure 

 
The Council’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of Treasury Management 
activity. This prudential indicator is a summary of the Council’s capital expenditure 
plans, both those agreed previously, and those forming part of this budget cycle. 
Members are asked to approve the capital expenditure forecasts: 

 
Capital 
expenditure 
 

2017/18 
Actual 
£’000 

2018/19 
Estimate 

£’000 

2019/20 
Estimate 

£’000 

2020/21 
Estimate 

£’000 

Non-HRA 3,275 4,894 3,587 2,088 
HRA 6,465 7,566 7,554 5,766 
Total 9,740 12,460 11,141 7,854 

 
The table below summarises the above capital expenditure plans and how 
these plans are being financed by capital or revenue resources.  Any shortfall of 
resources results in a funding borrowing need. 

 
Financing of capital 
Expenditure 

2017/18 
Actual 
£’000 

2018/19 
Estimate 

£’000 

2019/20 
Estimate 

£’000 

2020/21 
Estimate 

£’000 

Page 100



6 
 

Total as per above table 
9,740 12,460 11,141 7,854 

Financed by:     
Capital receipts 141 1,902 2,179 1,173 
Capital grants 2,275 2,130 1,590 1,058 
Capital reserves 0 1,015 557 0 
Revenue/MRR 6,964 7,413 6,815 5,623 

Net financing need for the year 0 0 0 0 

 

2.2 The Council’s borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement) 
 
The second prudential indicator is the Council’s Capital Financing Requirement 
(CFR). This is simply the total historic outstanding capital expenditure which has 
not yet been paid for from either revenue or capital resources. It is essentially a 
measure of the Council’s underlying borrowing need. Any capital expenditure 
above, which has not immediately been paid for, will increase the CFR. 
 
The CFR will not increase indefinitely if expenditure is funded by borrowing, as the 
minimum revenue provision (MRP) is a statutory annual revenue charge which 
broadly reduces the borrowing need in line with each asset’s life, and so changes 
the economic consumption of capital assets as they are used.   
 
It should be noted that the Council has only taken borrowing to fund the HRA Self-
financing. This means that the CFR is not forecast to increase, nor is there any 
reduction as there is no requirement to make a revenue provision to repay debt. 
This can be seen in the table below and the Council is asked to note the CFR 
projections in the table below.  

 
 

 2017/18 
Actual 
£’000 

2018/19 
Estimate 

£’000 

2019/20 
Estimate 

£’000 

2020/21 
Estimate 

£’000 

2021/22 
Estimate 

£’000 
Capital Financing Requirement 
CFR – non housing (248) (248) (248) (248) (248) 

CFR – housing 81,820 81,820 81,820 81,820 81,820 

Total CFR 81,572 81,572 81,572 81,572 81,572 
Movement in CFR 0 0 0 0 0 

Movement in CFR represented by 
Net financing need 
for the year (above) 

0 0 0 0 0 

Less MRP/VRP and 
other financing 
movements 

0 0 0 0 0 

Movement in CFR 0 0 0 0 0 
 
 
  

Page 101



7 
 

2.3 Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement 
 
The Council is required to pay off an element of the accumulated General Fund 
capital spend each year (the CFR) through a revenue charge (the minimum 
revenue provision - MRP), although it is also allowed to undertake additional 
voluntary payments if required (voluntary revenue provision - VRP).   
 
MHCLG regulations have been issued which require the full Council to approve 
an MRP Statement in advance of each year. A variety of options are provided to 
councils, so long as there is a prudent provision. 
 
There is no requirement on the HRA to make a minimum revenue provision but 
there is a requirement for a charge for depreciation to be made (although there 
are transitional arrangements in place). 
 
MRP Overpayments - A change introduced by the revised MHCLG MRP 
Guidance was the allowance that any charges made over the statutory minimum 
revenue provision (MRP), voluntary revenue provision or overpayments, can, if 
needed, be reclaimed in later years if deemed necessary or prudent.  In order for 
these sums to be reclaimed for use in the budget, this policy must disclose the 
cumulative overpayment made each year.  Up until the 31 March 2019 the total 
VRP overpayments were £0m. 
 
The Council currently has no capital financing requirement for the General Fund 
and therefore does not need to make a MRP provision.  As the Council is likely to 
fund capital expenditure from borrowing in the near future and as there is a statutory 
requirement to have an approved MRP Statement in place in advance of each year, 
an MRP policy has been included in this Treasury Management Strategy as 
Appendix 12B(2). Council is asked to adopt and approve the MRP policy 
statement.   
 
2.4 Core funds and expected investment balances 

 
The use of resources (capital receipts, reserves etc.) to finance capital expenditure 
or other budget decisions to support the revenue budget will have an ongoing 
impact on investments unless resources are supplemented each year from new 
sources (asset sales etc.). 
 
The proposed Capital Plan, which runs through to March 2021 and is fully funded 
from capital receipts, reserves and revenue funding. Any new proposals for 
additional capital or investment expenditure will require a business plan and will be 
considered on their merits and the availability of funding. The funding position is 
regularly reviewed and any need to borrow externally will be considered. If this 
requires a revision of this Treasury Management Strategy in year it will be brought 
back to full Council for approval. 
 

 
  

Page 102



8 
 

3 BORROWING 
 
The capital expenditure plans set out in Section 2 provide details of the service activity 
of the Council. The treasury management function ensures that the Council’s cash is 
organised in accordance with the relevant professional codes so that sufficient cash is 
available to meet this service activity.  This will involve both the management of the 
cash flow and, where capital plans require, the organisation of appropriate borrowing 
facilities. The strategy covers the relevant treasury/prudential indicators, the current and 
projected debt positions and the annual investment strategy. 
 
3.1 Current portfolio position 
 
One of the key indicators is that the Council’s  gross debt does not, except in the short 
term, exceed the total of the CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any 
additional CFR for 2019/20 and the following two financial years. This is to ensure that 
the Council conducts its activities within well-defined limits. Also the indicator allows 
some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years, but ensures that borrowing 
is not undertaken for revenue purposes. 
 
The table below shows the forward projections for external debt against the underlying 
need to finance capital expenditure through borrowing or other long term liabilities, i.e. 
the CFR, highlighting any over or under borrowing. 
 

 2017/18 
Actual 
£’000 

2018/19 
Estimate 

£’000 

2019/20 
Estimate 

£’000 

2020/21 
Estimate 

£’000 

External Debt at 1 April 81,190 81,190 81,190 81,190 

Expected change in Debt 0 0 0 0 

Actual debt at 31 March 81,190 81,190 81,190 81,190 

Capital Financing Requirement 81,572 81,572 81,572 81,572 

Under/(over) borrowing 382 382 382 382 
 
The table shows that the Council has complied with this prudential indicator in the 
current year and does not envisage difficulties for the future. This view takes into 
account current commitments, existing plans, and the proposals in the 2019/20 budget 
report. Within the above figures there is no debt that relates to commercial 
activities/non-financial investment. 
 
Within the range of prudential indicators there are a number of key indicators to ensure 
that the Council operates its activities within well-defined limits.  One of these is that 
the Council needs to ensure that its gross debt does not, except in the short term, 
exceed the total of the CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional 
CFR for 2019/20 and the following two financial years.  This allows some flexibility for 
limited early borrowing for future years, but ensures that borrowing is not undertaken 
for revenue or speculative purposes. 
 
The Council complied with this prudential indicator in the current year and does not 
envisage difficulties for the future. This view takes into account current commitments, 
existing plans, and the proposals in this budget report.   
 
  

Page 103



9 
 

3.2 Treasury Indicators: limits to borrowing activity 
 
The operational boundary. 
This is the limit beyond which external debt is not normally expected to exceed. In 
most cases, this would be a similar figure to the CFR, but may be lower or higher 
depending on the levels of actual debt and the ability to fund under-borrowing by other 
cash resources. 
 

Operational boundary 
2018/19 

Estimate 
£’000 

2019/20 
Estimate 

£’000 

2020/21 
Estimate 

£’000 

2021/22 
Estimate 

£’000 

Debt 81,190 81,190 81,190 81,190 
Commercial Activities/Non-
financial investments 

0 0 0 0 

Other long term liabilities 0 0 0 0 

Total 81,190 81,190 81,190 81,190 

 

The authorised limit for external debt.  

A further key prudential indicator represents a control on the maximum level of 
borrowing.  This represents a limit beyond which external debt is prohibited, and this 
limit needs to be set or revised by full Council.   It reflects the level of external debt 
which, while not desired, could be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in 
the longer term. 

 

This is the statutory limit determined under section 3(1) of the Local Government Act 
2003. The Government retains an option to control either the total of all councils’ plans, 
or those of a specific council, although this power has not yet been exercised 

 

It should be noted that the authorised limit (as shown in the table below) has been set 
based on the current capital expenditure and funding plans. If the Council decides to 
take forward any commercial investment plans then the authorised limit will need to be 
reviewed to ensure that the maximum level of borrowing that the Council can take is 
not exceeded. Any change to the authorised limit will need approving by full Council.  
 
The Council is asked to approve the following authorised limit: 
 
Authorised limit 2018/19 

Estimate 
£’000 

2019/20 
Estimate 

£’000 

2020/21 
Estimate 

£’000 

2021/22 
Estimate 

£’000 

Debt 96,000 96,000 96,000 96,000 

Commercial 
Activities/Non-financial 
investments 

0 0 0 0 

Other long term liabilities 0 0 0 0 
Total 96,000 96,000 96,000 96,000 

 

Separately, the Council is also limited to a maximum HRA CFR through the HRA self-
financing regime. The maximum HRA CFR cannot be greater than the HRA debt cap. 
The difference between the two is known as the HRA headroom and it equates to 
borrowing that the HRA can still take. This limit is currently: 
 

Page 104



10 
 

HRA Debt Limit  2018/19 
Estimate 

£’000 

2019/20 
Estimate 

£’000 

2020/21 
Estimate 

£’000 

2021/22 
Estimate 

£’000 

HRA debt cap *  88,770 88,770 88,770 88,770 
HRA CFR 81,820 81,820 81,820 81,820 
HRA headroom 6,950 6,950 6,950 6,950 

 
* Abolition of HRA debt cap - In October 2018, the Prime Minister announced a 
policy change of abolition of the HRA debt cap. The Chancellor announced in the 
Budget in November that the applicable date was 29 October 2018. At this stage 
the detail behind the announcement is not yet known, but the Council welcomes this 
change in policy and would probably take advantage of the new freedom in the 
future. 
 

3.3 Prospects for interest rates 
 
The Council has appointed Link Asset Services (formerly Capita Asset Services) as 
its treasury advisor and part of their service is to assist the Council to formulate a 
view on interest rates. The following table and commentary gives Links view on 
interest rate prospects. 
 

 
 
The generally positive economic statistics for the first half of 2018 meant that the 
MPC decided to increase the Bank Rate from 0.5% to 0.75% on 2 August 2018, (the 
first increase in above 0.5% since the financial crash). Due to growth slowing 
significantly during the last quarter at their November quarterly Inflation Report 
meeting, the MPC left Bank Rate unchanged, but expressed some concern at the 
Chancellor’s fiscal stimulus in his Budget, which could increase inflationary 
pressures.  However, it is unlikely that the MPC would increase Bank Rate in 
February 2019, ahead of the deadline in March for Brexit. On a major assumption 
that Parliament and the EU agree a Brexit deal in the first quarter of 2019, then the 
next increase in Bank Rate is forecast to be in May 2019, followed by increases in 
February and November 2020, before ending up at 2.0% in February 2022. 
 
The overall longer run future trend is for gilt yields, and consequently PWLB rates, 
to rise, albeit gently.  However, over about the last 25 years, we have been through 
a period of falling bond yields as inflation subsided to, and then stabilised at, much 
lower levels than before, and supported by central banks implementing substantial 
quantitative easing purchases of government and other debt after the financial crash 
of 2008.  Quantitative easing, conversely, also caused a rise in equity values as 
investors searched for higher returns and purchased riskier assets.  In 2016, we 
saw the start of a reversal of this trend with a sharp rise in bond yields after the US 

Page 105



11 
 

Presidential election in November 2016, with yields then rising further as a result of 
the big increase in the US government deficit aimed at stimulating even stronger 
economic growth. That policy change also created concerns around a significant 
rise in inflationary pressures in an economy which was already running at 
remarkably low levels of unemployment. Unsurprisingly, the Fed has continued on 
its series of robust responses to combat its perception of rising inflationary 
pressures by repeatedly increasing the Fed rate to reach 2.25 – 2.50% in December 
2018.  It has also continued its policy of not fully reinvesting proceeds from bonds 
that it holds as a result of quantitative easing, when they mature.  We therefore saw 
US 10 year bond Treasury yields rise above 3.2% during October 2018 and also 
investors causing a sharp fall in equity prices as they sold out of holding riskier 
assets. However, by early January 2019, US 10 year bond yields had fallen back 
considerably on fears that the Fed was being too aggressive in raising interest rates 
and was going to cause a recession. Equity prices have been very volatile on 
alternating good and bad news during this period. 
 
From time to time, gilt yields, and therefore PWLB rates, can be subject to 
exceptional levels of volatility due to geo-political, sovereign debt crisis, emerging 
market developments and sharp changes in investor sentiment. Such volatility could 
occur at any time during the forecast period. 
 
Economic and interest rate forecasting remains difficult with so many external 
influences weighing on the UK. The above forecasts, (and MPC decisions), will be 
liable to further amendment depending on how economic data and developments in 
financial markets transpire over the next year. Geopolitical developments, especially 
in the EU, could also have a major impact. Forecasts for average investment 
earnings beyond the three-year time horizon will be heavily dependent on economic 
and political developments. 
 
3.4 Investment and borrowing rates 
 
Investment returns are likely to remain low during 2019/20 but to be on a gently 
rising trend over the next few years. 
 
Borrowing interest rates have been volatile so far in 2018-19 and while they were 
on a rising trend during the first half of the year, they have backtracked since then 
until early January.  The policy of avoiding new borrowing by running down spare 
cash balances has served well over the last few years.  However, this needs to be 
carefully reviewed to avoid incurring higher borrowing costs in the future when 
authorities may not be able to avoid new borrowing to finance capital expenditure 
and/or the refinancing of maturing debt. 
 
There will remain a cost of carry, (the difference between higher borrowing costs 
and lower investment returns), to any new long-term borrowing that causes a 
temporary increase in cash balances as this position will, most likely, incur a revenue 
cost. 
 
3.5 Borrowing strategy 
 
As a result The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position overall.  
This means that the capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement), has 
not been fully funded with loan debt. Instead cash supporting the Council’s reserves, 
balances and cash flow has been used as a temporary measure.   This strategy is 

Page 106



12 
 

prudent as investment returns are at an historic low and counterparty risk is still an 
issue that needs to be considered. Against this background and the risks within the 
economic forecast, caution will be adopted with the 2019/20 treasury operations.  The 
Council will monitor interest rates in financial markets and adopt a pragmatic approach 
to changing circumstances both internally and externally. 
 
If the Council wishes to invest in commercial property it is likely that this will be 
funded by external borrowing in the long term. Although in the short to medium term 
the Council is able to temporarily utilise its cash balances as a short to medium term 
alternative to external borrowing i.e. internally borrow. This is considered to be an 
effective strategy at present as:  

• It enables the Council to avoid significant external borrowing costs in the short 
to medium term (i.e. making it possible to avoid net interest payments); and  

• It mitigates the risks associated with investing cash.  
 
3.6 Policy on borrowing in advance of need 
 
The Council will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs purely in order to 
profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to borrow in 
advance will be within forward approved Capital Financing Requirement estimates, and 
will be considered carefully to ensure that value for money can be demonstrated and 
that the Council can ensure the security of such funds. 
 
Risks associated with any borrowing in advance activity will be subject to prior appraisal 
and subsequent reporting through the mid-year or annual reporting mechanism. 
 
3.7 Debt rescheduling 
 
As short term borrowing rates will be considerably cheaper than longer term fixed 
interest rates, there may be potential opportunities to generate savings by switching 
from long term debt to short term debt.  However, these savings will need to be 
considered in the light of the current treasury position and the size of the cost of debt 
repayment (premiums incurred). 
 
The reasons for any rescheduling to take place will include: 

• the generation of cash savings and / or discounted cash flow savings; 

• helping to fulfil the treasury strategy; 

• enhance the balance of the portfolio (amend the maturity profile and/or the 
balance of volatility). 

 

Consideration will also be given to identify whether there is any residual potential for 
making savings by running down investment balances to repay debt prematurely as 
short term rates on investments are likely to be lower than rates paid on current 
debt. 

 

The Council currently has one long term variable rate debt which matures in 2024 
and it carries a current interest rate of 11.625%. The cost of replacing this debt is 
prohibitive and this position is unlikely to change in the next three years. 

 

The £79.19m of HRA debt is at fixed interest rates and the twenty four loans are 
repayable from 2024 to 2061.  Their maturity dates are set to match income and 

Page 107



13 
 

expenditure levels in the HRA Business Plan and they will be reviewed in line with 
that plan. However, the primary objective of the plan over the next few years is to 
invest in the Council’s housing stock and this position is not expected to change in 
the near future.  Therefore these debts are unlikely to be rescheduled over the next 
three years. All rescheduling will be reported to the Cabinet at either the half year or 
full year report stage. 

3.8 Municipal Bond Agency  

It is possible that the Municipal Bond Agency will be offering loans to local authorities 
in the future. The Agency hopes that the borrowing rates will be lower than those 
offered by the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB). This Authority may make use of 
this new source of borrowing as and when appropriate. 

 
 
4. ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY 
 
4.1 Investment policy – management of risk 
 
The MHCLG and CIPFA have extended the meaning of ‘investments’ to include both 
financial and non-financial investments.  This report deals solely with financial 
investments, (as managed by the treasury management team).  Non-financial 
investments, essentially the purchase of income yielding assets, are covered in the 
Capital Strategy, (a separate report). 
 
The Council’s investment policy has regard to the following: - 

• MHCLG’s Guidance on Local Government Investments (“the Guidance”) 

• CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross 
Sectoral Guidance Notes 2017 (“the Code”)  

• CIPFA Treasury Management Guidance Notes 2018   

• The Council’s investment priorities will be security first, portfolio liquidity second and 
then yield, (return). 

  
The above guidance from the MHCLG and CIPFA places a high priority on the 
management of risk. This authority has adopted a prudent approach to managing risk 
and defines its risk appetite by the following means: - 
 

1. Minimum acceptable credit criteria are applied in order to generate a list of highly 
creditworthy counterparties.  This also enables diversification and thus avoidance 
of concentration risk. The key ratings used to monitor counterparties are the short 
term and long-term ratings.   
 

2. Other information: ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of an 
institution; it is important to continually assess and monitor the financial sector on 
both a micro and macro basis and in relation to the economic and political 
environments in which institutions operate. The assessment will also take account 
of information that reflects the opinion of the markets. To achieve this consideration 
the Council will engage with its advisors to maintain a monitor on market pricing 
such as “credit default swaps” and overlay that information on top of the credit 
ratings.  
 

Page 108



14 
 

3. Other information sources used will include the financial press, share price and 
other such information pertaining to the banking sector in order to establish the most 
robust scrutiny process on the suitability of potential investment counterparties. 
 

4. This authority has defined the list of types of investment instruments that the 
treasury management team are authorised to use. There are two lists in appendix 
12B (3) under the categories of ‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’ investments.  
 

• Specified investments are those with a high level of credit quality and subject to a 
maturity limit of one year. 

• Non-specified investments are those with less high credit quality, may be for 
periods in excess of one year, and/or are more complex instruments which require 
greater consideration by members and officers before being authorised for use. 
 

5. Non-specified investments limit. The Council has determined that it will limit the 
maximum total exposure to non-specified investments to a total of £25m, (see 
paragraph 4.3). 
 

6. Lending limits, (amounts and maturity), for each counterparty will be set 
through applying the matrix table in paragraph 4.2. 

  
7. Transaction limits are set for each type of investment in 4.2. 
 
8. This authority will set a limit for the amount of its investments which are 

invested for longer than 365 days, (see paragraph 4.4).   
 
9. Investments will only be placed with counterparties from countries with a 

specified minimum sovereign rating, (see paragraph 4.3). 
 
10. This authority has engaged external consultants, (see paragraph 1.5), to 

provide expert advice on how to optimise an appropriate balance of security, 
liquidity and yield, given the risk appetite of this authority in the context of the 
expected level of cash balances and need for liquidity throughout the year. 

 
11. All investments will be denominated in sterling. 
 
12. As a result of the change in accounting standards for 2018/19 under IFRS 9, 

this authority will consider the implications of investment instruments which 
could result in an adverse movement in the value of the amount invested and 
resultant charges at the end of the year to the General Fund. (In November 
2018, the MHCLG concluded a consultation for a temporary override to allow 
English local authorities time to adjust their portfolio of all pooled investments 
by announcing a statutory override to delay implementation of IFRS 9 for five 
years commencing from 1.4.18.)   
 
However, this authority will also pursue value for money in treasury 
management and will monitor the yield from investment income against 
appropriate benchmarks for investment performance, (see paragraph 4.5). 
Regular monitoring of investment performance will be carried out during the year. 
 
Changes in risk management policy from last year. 
The above criteria are unchanged from last year.  

Page 109



15 
 

 
Investment instruments identified for use in the financial year are listed in 
appendix 12B (3) under the ‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’ investments 
categories. Counterparty limits will be as set through the Council’s treasury 
management practices. 
 
4.2 Creditworthiness policy 
 
This Council applies the creditworthiness service provided by Link Asset 
Services.  This service employs a sophisticated modelling approach utilising 
credit ratings from the three main credit rating agencies - Fitch, Moody’s and 
Standard and Poor’s.  The credit ratings of counterparties are supplemented with 
the following overlays: 
 

• credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies; 

• CDS spreads to give early warning of likely changes in credit ratings; 

• sovereign  ratings  to  select  counterparties  from  only  the  most 
creditworthy countries. 

 

This modelling approach combines credit ratings, credit Watches and credit 
Outlooks in a weighted scoring system which is then combined with an overlay 
of CDS spreads for which the end product is a series of colour coded bands 
which indicate the relative creditworthiness of counterparties. These colour 
codes are used by the Council to determine the suggested duration for 
investments. The Council will therefore use counterparties within the following 
durational bands: 
 

Dark pink Up to 5 years for Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds 
with a credit score of 1.25 

Light pink Up to 5 years for Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds 
with a credit score of 1.5 

Purple Up to 2 years 

Blue Up to 1 year (only applies to nationalised or semi 
nationalised UK Banks) 

Orange Up to 1 year 

Red Up to 6 months 

Green Up to 100 days 

No colour not to be used 

 
The Link Asset Services’ creditworthiness service uses a wider array of 
information other than just primary ratings. Furthermore, by using a risk 
weighted scoring system, it does not give undue preponderance to just one 
agency’s ratings. 
  
Typically the minimum credit ratings criteria the Council use will be a Short 
Term rating (Fitch or equivalents) of F1 and a Long Term rating of A-. There 
may be occasions when the counterparty ratings from one rating agency are 
marginally lower than these ratings but may still be used.  In these instances, 
consideration will be given to the whole range of ratings available, or other 
topical market information, to support their use. 

Page 110



16 
 

  
All credit ratings will be monitored weekly. The Council is alerted to changes 
to ratings of all three agencies through its use of the Link Asset Services’ 
creditworthiness service.  
 
• if a downgrade results in the counterparty / investment scheme no 

longer meeting the Council’s minimum criteria, its further use as a new 
investment will be withdrawn immediately. 

• in addition to the use of credit ratings the Council will be advised of 
information in movements in credit default swap spreads against the 
iTraxx benchmark and other market data on a daily basis via its 
Passport website, provided exclusively to it by Link Asset Services. 
Extreme market movements may result in downgrade of an institution or 
removal from the Council’s lending list. 

 
Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of this external service.  In addition 
this Council will also use market data and market information, information on 
any external support for banks to help support its decision making process. 
 
UK banks – ring fencing 
The largest UK banks, (those with more than £25bn of retail / Small and 
Medium-sized Enterprise (SME) deposits), are required, by UK law, to 
separate core retail banking services from their investment and international 
banking activities by 1st January 2019. This is known as “ring-fencing”. Whilst 
smaller banks with less than £25bn in deposits are exempt, they can choose 
to opt up. Several banks are very close to the threshold already and so may 
come into scope in the future regardless. 
 
Ring-fencing is a regulatory initiative created in response to the global 
financial crisis. It mandates the separation of retail and SME deposits from 
investment banking, in order to improve the resilience and resolvability of 
banks by changing their structure. In general, simpler, activities offered from 
within a ring-fenced bank, (RFB), will be focused on lower risk, day-to-day 
core transactions, whilst more complex and “riskier” activities are required to 
be housed in a separate entity, a non-ring-fenced bank, (NRFB). This is 
intended to ensure that an entity’s core activities are not adversely affected 
by the acts or omissions of other members of its group. 
 
While the structure of the banks included within this process may have 
changed, the fundamentals of credit assessment have not. The Council will 
continue to assess the new-formed entities in the same way that it does others 
and those with sufficiently high ratings, (and any other metrics considered), 
will be considered for investment purposes. 
 
  

Page 111



17 
 

4.3 Country limits 
 
The Council has determined that it will only use approved counterparties from 
countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AA- from Fitch, other than 
the UK where the Council has set no limit. The list of countries that qualify using 
this credit criteria as at the date of this report are shown in Appendix 12B (4). 
This list will be added to, or deducted from by officers should ratings change in 
accordance with this policy. 
 
4.4 Investment strategy 
 
In-house funds - Investments will be made with reference to the core balance 
and cash flow requirements and the outlook for short-term interest rates (i.e. 
rates for investments up to 12 months). Greater returns are usually obtainable 
by investing for longer periods. While most cash balances are required in 
order to manage the ups and downs of cash flow (amend as appropriate), 
where cash sums can be identified that could be invested for longer periods, 
the value to be obtained from longer term investments will be carefully 
assessed.  

• If it is thought that Bank Rate is likely to rise significantly within the time 
horizon being considered, then consideration will be given to keeping most 
investments as being short term or variable.  

• Conversely, if it is thought that Bank Rate is likely to fall within that time 
period, consideration will be given to locking in higher rates currently 
obtainable, for longer periods. 

 
Investment returns expectations.    
 
On the assumption that the UK and EU agree a Brexit deal in spring 2019, then 
Bank Rate is forecast to increase steadily but slowly over the next few years to 
reach 2.00% by quarter 1 2022.  Bank Rate forecasts for financial year ends 
(March) are:  

• 2018/19  0.75%   

• 2019/20  1.25% 

• 2020/21  1.50% 

• 2021/22  2.00%   

The suggested budgeted investment earnings rates for returns on investments 
placed for periods up to about three months during each financial year are as 
follows:  
 

 Now 
2018/19  0.75%  
2019/20  1.00% 
2020/21  1.50%  
2021/22  1.75%  
2022/23  1.75%  
2023/24  2.00%  
Later years  2.50%  

The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is probably neutral. 

Page 112



18 
 

The balance of risks to increases in Bank Rate and shorter term PWLB rates, are 
probably also even and are dependent on how strong GDP growth turns out, how 
slowly inflation pressures subside, and how quickly the Brexit negotiations move 
forward positively 
 
 
Additionally the Council has loans to other Local Authorities and has invested in two 
property funds in 2018/19 following a selection process assisted by our Treasury 
Advisors Link. Both of these investment types are for periods of greater than 365 days 
and it is anticipated that returns on investments will be above the rates shown for the 
proportion of funding invested for these longer periods. Potential sums to be 
invested in this way are given below and the current snapshot of investments held for 
over 365 days is shown in Appendix 12B (6). 
 
 
Investment treasury indicator and limit - total principal funds invested for 
greater than 365 days. These limits are set with regard to the Council’s liquidity 
requirements and to reduce the need for early sale of an investment, and are 
based on the availability of funds after each year-end. 
 
 
The Council is asked to approve the treasury indicator and limit: - 
 
Maximum principal sums invested > 365 days 

£m 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

Principal sums 
invested > 
365 days 

£25m £25m £25m 

 

4.5. Investment risk benchmarking 
 
This Council will use an investment benchmark to assess the investment 
performance of its investment portfolio. For cash investments this will be the 3 
month London Interbank Bid Rate (LIBID) which matches the weighted average 
time period of our current cash investments. Should the Council invest in 
Property Funds an appropriate additional benchmark will be added to measure 
the performance of these investments. This will be reported in the next available 
treasury report to Members. 
 
4.6      End of year investment report 
 
At the end of the financial year, the Council will report on its investment activity 
as part of its Annual Treasury Report.

Page 113



19 
 

 

  APPENDICES FOR APPENDIX 12B 
 

12B (1). Economic Background 
 

12B (2). Minimum Revenue Provision Policy 
 

12B (3). Treasury management practice 1 – credit and counterparty risk 
management 

 
12B (4). Approved Countries for Investment 

 
12B (5). Approved Brokers for investments 

 
12B (6). Current Investments as at 18 January 2018 

 
12B (7). Treasury management scheme of delegation 

 
12B (8). The treasury management role of the section 151 officer

Page 114



20 
 

APPENDIX 12B(1) 

ECONOMIC BACKGROUND 
 
GLOBAL OUTLOOK. World growth looks to be on an encouraging trend of 
stronger performance, rising earnings and falling levels of unemployment. In 
October, the IMF upgraded its forecast for world growth from 3.2% to 3.6% for 
2017 and 3.7% for 2018. 

 
In addition, inflation prospects are generally muted and it is particularly notable 
that wage inflation has been subdued despite unemployment falling to historically 
very low levels in the UK and US. This has led to many comments by economists 
that there appears to have been a fundamental shift downwards in the Phillips 
curve (this plots the correlation between levels of unemployment and inflation e.g. 
if the former is low the latter tends to be high). In turn, this raises the question of 
what has caused this? The likely answers probably lay in a combination of a shift 
towards flexible working, self- employment, falling union membership and a 
consequent reduction in union power and influence in the economy, and 
increasing globalisation and specialisation of individual countries, which has 
meant that labour in one country is in competition with labour in other countries 
which may be offering lower wage rates, increased productivity or a combination 
of the two. In addition, technology is probably also exerting downward pressure 
on wage rates and this is likely to grow with an accelerating movement towards 
automation, robots and artificial intelligence, leading to many repetitive tasks being 
taken over by machines or computers. Indeed, this is now being labelled as being 
the start of the fourth industrial revolution. 

 
KEY RISKS - central bank monetary policy measures 
Looking back on nearly ten years since the financial crash of 2008 when liquidity 
suddenly dried up in financial markets, it can be assessed that central banks’ 
monetary policy measures to counter the sharp world recession were 
successful. The key monetary policy measures  they used  were  a combination 
of lowering central interest rates and flooding financial markets with liquidity, 
particularly through unconventional means such as Quantitative Easing (QE), 
where central banks bought large amounts of central government debt and 
smaller sums of other debt. 

 
The key issue now is that that period of stimulating economic recovery and 
warding off the threat of deflation is coming towards its close and a new period 
has already started in the US, and more recently in the UK, on reversing those 
measures i.e. by raising central rates and (for the US) reducing central banks’ 
holdings of government and other debt. These measures are now required in 
order to stop the trend of an on-going reduction in spare capacity in the economy, 
and of unemployment falling to such low levels that the re-emergence of inflation 
is viewed as a major risk. It is, therefore, crucial that central banks get their timing 
right and do not cause shocks to market expectations that could destabilise 
financial markets. In particular, a key risk is that because QE-driven purchases 
of bonds drove up the price of government debt, and therefore caused a sharp 
drop in income yields, this then also encouraged investors into a search for yield 
and into investing in riskier assets such as equities. This resulted in bond markets 
and equity market prices both rising to historically high valuation levels 
simultaneously. This, therefore, makes both asset categories vulnerable to a 
sharp correction. It is important, therefore, that central banks only gradually 
unwind their holdings of bonds in order to prevent destabilising the financial 
markets. It is also likely that the timeframe for central banks unwinding their 

Page 115



21 
 

holdings of QE debt purchases will be over several years. They need to balance 
their timing to neither squash economic recovery by taking too rapid and too strong 
action, or, alternatively, let inflation run away by taking action that was too slow 
and/or too weak. The potential for central banks to get this timing and 
strength of action wrong are now key risks. 

 
There is also a potential key question over whether economic growth has become 
too dependent on strong central bank stimulus and whether it will maintain its 
momentum against a backdrop of rising interest rates and the reversal of QE. In 
the UK, a key vulnerability is the low level of productivity growth, which may 
be the main driver for increases in wages; and decreasing consumer 
disposable income, which is important in the context of consumer expenditure 
primarily underpinning UK GDP growth. 

 
A further question that has come to the fore is whether an inflation target for 
central banks of 2%, is now realistic given the shift down in inflation pressures 
from internally generated inflation, (i.e. wage inflation feeding through into the 
national economy), given the above mentioned shift down in the 
Phillips curve. 

  

Some economists favour a shift to a lower inflation target of 1% to emphasise 
the need to keep the lid on inflation.  Alternatively, it is possible that a central 
bank could simply ‘look through’ tepid wage inflation, (i.e. ignore the overall 2% 
inflation target), in order to take action in raising rates sooner than might otherwise 
be expected. However, other economists would argue for a shift UP in the 
inflation target to 3% in order to ensure that central banks place the emphasis 
on maintaining economic growth through adopting a slower pace of withdrawal of 
stimulus. In addition, there is a strong argument that central banks should 
target financial market stability. As mentioned previously, bond markets and 
equity markets could be vulnerable to a sharp correction. There has been much 
commentary, that since 2008, QE has caused massive distortions, imbalances 
and bubbles in asset prices, both financial and non-financial.  Consequently, 
there are widespread concerns at the potential for such bubbles to be burst by 
exuberant central bank action. On the other hand, too slow or weak action would 
allow these imbalances and distortions to continue or to even inflate them further. 
Consumer debt levels are also at historically high levels due to the prolonged 
period of low cost of borrowing since the financial crash. In turn, this cheap 
borrowing has meant that other non-financial asset prices, particularly house 
prices, have been driven up to very high levels, especially compared to income 
levels. Any sharp downturn in the availability of credit, or increase in the cost of 
credit, could potentially destabilise the housing market and generate a sharp 
downturn in house prices.  This could then have a destabilising effect on 
consumer confidence, consumer expenditure and GDP growth. However, no 
central bank would accept that it ought to have responsibility for specifically 
targeting house prices. 

 
UK. After the UK surprised on the upside with strong economic growth in 2016, 
growth in 2017 has been disappointingly weak; quarter 1 came in at only 
+0.3% (+1.8% y/y),  quarter 2 was +0.3% (+1.5% y/y) and quarter 3 was +0.4% 
(+1.5% y/y).  The main reason for this has been the sharp increase in inflation, 
caused by the devaluation of sterling after the EU referendum, feeding increases 
in the cost of imports into the economy. This has caused, in turn, a reduction in 
consumer disposable income and spending power and so the services sector of 
the economy, accounting for around 80% of GDP, has seen weak growth as 

Page 116



22 
 

consumers cut back on their expenditure. However, more recently there have 
been encouraging statistics from the manufacturing sector which is seeing 
strong growth, particularly as a result of increased demand for exports. It has 
helped that growth in the EU, our main trading partner, has improved significantly 
over the last year while robust world growth has also been supportive. However, 
this sector only accounts for around 10% of GDP so expansion in this sector will 
have a much more muted effect on the overall GDP growth figure for the UK 
economy as a whole. 

 
While the Bank of England is expected to give forward guidance to prepare 
financial markets for gradual changes in policy, the Monetary Policy Committee, 
(MPC), meeting of 14 September 2017 managed to shock financial markets and 
forecasters by suddenly switching to a much more aggressive tone in terms of its 
words around warning that Bank Rate will need to rise soon. The Bank of England 
Inflation Reports during 2017 have clearly flagged up that it expected CPI inflation 
to peak at just under 3% in 2017, before falling back to near to its target rate of 
2% in two years’ time. The Bank revised its forecast for the peak to just over 3% 
at the 14 September meeting. (Inflation actually came in at 3.1% in November so 
that may prove now to be the peak.)  This marginal revision in the Bank’s forecast 
can hardly justify why the MPC became so aggressive with its wording; rather, 
the focus was on an emerging view that with unemployment having already fallen 
to only 4.3%, the lowest level since 1975, and improvements in productivity being 
so weak, that the amount of spare capacity in the economy was significantly 
diminishing towards a point at which they now needed to take action. In addition, 
the MPC took a more tolerant view of low wage inflation as this now looks like a 
common factor in nearly all western economies as a result of automation and 
globalisation. However, the Bank was also concerned that the withdrawal of the 
UK from the EU would effectively lead to a decrease in such globalisation 
pressures in the UK, and so this would cause additional inflationary pressure over 
the next few years. 

 
At Its 2 November meeting, the MPC duly delivered a 0.25% increase in Bank Rate. 
It also gave forward guidance that they expected to increase Bank Rate only twice 
more in the next three years to reach 1.0% by 2020.  This is, therefore, not quite 
the ‘one and done’ scenario but is, nevertheless, a very relaxed rate of increase 
prediction in Bank Rate in line with previous statements that Bank Rate would only 
go up very gradually and to a limited extent. 

 
However, some forecasters are flagging up that they expect growth to accelerate 
significantly towards the end of 2017 and then into 2018. This view is based 
primarily on the coming fall in inflation, (as the effect of the effective devaluation 
of sterling after the EU referendum drops out of the CPI statistics), which will bring 
to an end the negative impact on consumer spending power.  In addition, a strong 
export performance will compensate for weak services sector growth.  If this 
scenario was indeed to materialise, then the MPC would be likely to accelerate its 
pace of increases in Bank Rate during 2018 and onwards. 

 
It is also worth noting the contradiction within the Bank of England between 
action in 2016 and in 2017 by two of its committees. After the shock result of 
the EU referendum, the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) voted in August 
2016 for emergency action to cut Bank Rate from 0.50% to 0.25%, restarting 
£70bn of QE purchases, and also providing UK banks with £100bn of cheap 
financing. The aim of this was to lower borrowing costs, stimulate demand for 
borrowing and thereby increase expenditure and demand in the economy. The 

Page 117



23 
 

MPC felt this was necessary in order to ward off their expectation that there would 
be a sharp slowdown in economic growth. Instead, the economy grew robustly, 
although the Governor of the Bank of England strongly maintained that this was 
because the MPC took that action. However, other commentators regard this 
emergency action by the MPC as being proven by events to be a mistake.  Then 
in 2017, we had the Financial Policy Committee (FPC) of the Bank of England 
taking action in June and September over its concerns that cheap borrowing rates, 
and easy availability of consumer credit, had resulted in too rapid a rate of growth  
in  consumer  borrowing  and  in  the  size  of  total  borrowing,  especially  of  
unsecured borrowing. It, therefore, took punitive action to clamp down on the 
ability of the main banks to extend such credit!  Indeed, a PWC report in October 
2017 warned that credit card, car and personal loans and student debt will hit the 
equivalent of an average of £12,500 per household by 2020.  However, averages 
belie wide variations in levels of debt with much higher exposure being biased 
towards younger people, especially the 25 -34 year old band, reflecting their lower 
levels of real income and asset ownership. 

 
One key area of risk is that consumers may have become used to cheap rates 
since 2008 for borrowing, especially for mortgages.  It is a major concern that 
some consumers may have over extended their borrowing and have become 
complacent about interest rates going up after Bank Rate had been unchanged 
at 0.50% since March 2009 until falling further to 0.25% in August 2016. This is 
why forward guidance from the Bank of England continues to emphasise slow 
and gradual increases  in  Bank  Rate  in  the  coming  years.   However,  
consumer  borrowing  is  a  particularly vulnerable area in terms of the Monetary 
Policy Committee getting the pace and strength of Bank Rate increases right - 
without causing a sudden shock to consumer demand, confidence and thereby to 
the pace of economic growth. 

 
Moreover, while there is so much uncertainty around the Brexit negotiations, 
consumer confidence, and business confidence to spend on investing, it is far too 
early to be confident about how the next two to three years will actually pan out. 

 
EZ.  Economic growth in the eurozone (EZ), (the UK’s biggest trading partner), 
had been lack lustre for several years after the financial crisis despite the ECB 
eventually cutting its main rate to -0.4% and embarking on a massive programme 
of QE.  However, growth picked up in 2016 and has now gathered substantial 
strength and momentum thanks to this stimulus.  GDP growth was 0.6% in 
quarter 1 (2.1% y/y), 0.7% in quarter 2 (2.4% y/y) and +0.6% in quarter 3 (2.6% 
y/y).  However, despite providing massive monetary stimulus, the European 
Central Bank is still struggling to get inflation up to its 2% target and in November 
inflation was 1.5%. It is therefore unlikely to start on an upswing in rates until 
possibly 2019. It has, however, announced that it will slow down its monthly QE 
purchases of debt from €60bn to €30bn from January 2018 and continue to at least 
September 2018. 

 
USA. Growth in the American economy was notably erratic and volatile in 2015 and 
2016.  2017 is following that path again with quarter 1 coming in at only 1.2% but 
quarter 2 rebounding to 3.1% and

Page 118



24 
 

quarter 3 coming in at 3.2%.  Unemployment in the US has also fallen to the lowest 
level for many years, reaching 4.1%, while wage inflation pressures, and inflationary 
pressures in general, have been building. The Fed has started on a gradual 
upswing in rates with four increases in all and four increases since December 2016; 
the latest rise was in December 2017 and lifted the central rate to 1.25 – 1.50%. 
There could then be another four increases in 2018. At its September meeting, 
the Fed said it would start in October to gradually unwind its $4.5 trillion balance 
sheet holdings of bonds and mortgage backed securities by reducing its 
reinvestment of maturing holdings. 

 
CHINA. Economic growth has been weakening over successive years, despite 
repeated rounds of central bank stimulus; medium term risks are increasing. 
Major progress still needs to be made to eliminate excess industrial capacity and 
the stock of unsold property, and to address the level of non- performing loans in 
the banking and credit systems. 

 
JAPAN. GDP growth has been gradually improving during 2017 to reach an 
annual figure of 2.1% in quarter 3.  However, it is still struggling to get inflation up 
to its target of 2%, despite huge monetary and fiscal stimulus. It is also making 
little progress on fundamental reform of the economy. 

 
 
 
 
Brexit timetable and process 

     
Brexit timetable and process 

• March 2017:  UK government notified the European Council of its 
intention to leave under the Treaty on European Union Article 50 on 29 March 
2019. 

• 25.11.18  EU27 leaders endorsed the withdrawal agreement 

• Dec 2018  vote in the UK Parliament on the agreement was 
postponed 

• 21.12.18 – 8.1.19  UK parliamentary recess 

• 15.1.19  Brexit deal defeated in the Commons vote by a large 
margin 

• By 29.3.19  second vote (?) in UK parliament  

• By 29.3.19 if the UK Parliament approves a deal, then ratification by 
the EU Parliament requires a simple majority 

• By 29.3.19  if the UK and EU parliaments agree the deal, the EU 
Council needs to approve the deal; 20 countries representing 65% of the EU 
population must agree 

• 29.3.19  Either the UK leaves the EU, or asks the EU for agreement 
to an extension of the Article 50 period if the UK Parliament has been unable to 
agree on a Brexit deal. 

• 29.3.19: if an agreement is reached with the EU on the terms of Brexit, then this 
will be followed by a proposed transitional period ending around December 
2020.   

• UK continues as a full EU member until March 2019 with access to the single 
market and tariff free trade between the EU and UK. Different sectors of the UK 
economy may leave the single market and tariff free trade at different times 
during the transitional period. 

Page 119



25 
 

• The UK and EU would attempt to negotiate, among other agreements, a bi-
lateral trade agreement over that period.  

• The UK would aim for a negotiated agreed withdrawal from the EU, although the 
UK could also exit without any such agreements in the event of a breakdown of 
negotiations. 

• If the UK exits without an agreed deal with the EU, World Trade Organisation 
rules and tariffs could apply to trade between the UK and EU - but this is not 
certain. 

• On full exit from the EU: the UK parliament would repeal the 1972 European 
Communities Act. 

  

Page 120



26 
 

APPENDIX 12B(2) 

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy 

1. The council is required to pay off an element of the accumulated General 
Fund borrowing each year through a revenue charge (the MRP), and is also 
allowed to undertake additional voluntary payments (VRP). 
 
2. MHCLG Regulations have been issued which require full council to approve 
an MRP Statement in advance of each year. A variety of options are provided 
so long as there is a prudent provision. 
 
3. Council is recommended to approve the following MRP Statement: 
 
For capital expenditure incurred: 
 
(A) Before 1st April 2008 or which in the future will be Supported Capital 
Expenditure including the Adjustment A, the MRP policy will be to charge MRP 
on an annuity basis so that there is provision for the full repayment of debt over 
50 years; 
 
(B) From 1st April 2008 for all unsupported borrowing (excluding finance leases) 
the MRP policy will be to charge MRP on an annuity basis so that there is 
provision for the full repayment of debt over the life of the asset; Asset life is 
deemed to begin once the asset becomes operational. MRP will commence 
from the financial year following the one in which the asset becomes 
operational. 
 
(C) MRP in respect of unsupported borrowing taken to meet expenditure, which 
is treated as capital expenditure by virtue of either a capitalisation direction or 
regulations, will be determined in accordance with the asset life method as 
recommended by the statutory guidance. 
 
(D) Expenditure in respect of loans made to the council’s wholly owned 
subsidiaries will not be subject to a minimum revenue provision as the council 
will have undertaken sufficient due diligence to expect these loans will be repaid 
in full to the council by a capital receipt either during the loan agreement term 
or at the end of the agreement. Therefore the council considers that it can take 
a prudent view that the debt will be repaid in full at the end of the loan agreement 
(or during if it is an instalment loan), so MRP in addition to the loan debt 
repayments is not necessary. 
 
(E) Loans awarded to third parties for capital purposes - where the Council gives 
a loan to a third party towards expenditure which would, if incurred by the 
Council, be capital expenditure, the amounts paid out count as capital 
expenditure for capital financing purposes. The expenditure is therefore 
included in the calculation of the Council’s Capital Financing Requirement. 
When the Council receives the repayment of an amount loaned, the income will 
be classified as a capital receipt. Where the capital receipts will be applied to 
reduce the Capital Financing Requirement, there will be no revenue provision 
made for the repayment of the debt liability (i.e. unless the eventual receipt is 
expected to fall short of the amount expended). 
 

Page 121



27 
 

(F) Investment properties - where expenditure is incurred to acquire properties 
meeting the accounting definition of investment properties, the Capital 
Financing Requirement will increase by the amount expended. Where the 
Council will subsequently recoup the amount expended (e.g. via the sale of an 
asset), the income will be classified as a capital receipt. Where the capital 
receipts will be applied to reduce the Capital Financing Requirement, there will 
be no revenue provision made for the repayment of the debt liability (i.e. unless 
the fair value of the properties falls below the amount expended). 
 
This is subject to the following details: 

• An average asset life for each project will normally be used. There will 
not be separate MRP schedules for the components of a building (e.g. 
plant, roof etc.). Asset life will be determined by the Chief Finance Officer. 
A standard schedule of asset lives will generally be used (as stated in the 
Statement of Accounts accounting policies). 

• MRP will commence in the year following the year in which capital 
expenditure financed from borrowing is incurred, except for single assets 
when expenditure is being financed from borrowing the MRP will be 
deferred until the year after the asset becomes operational. 

• Other methods to provide for debt repayment may occasionally be used 
in individual cases where this is consistent with the statutory duty to be 
prudent, as justified by the circumstances of the case, at the discretion of 
the Chief Finance Officer. 

• There is no requirement on the HRA to make a minimum revenue 
provision but there is a requirement for a charge for depreciation to be 
made. Transitional arrangements with respect to depreciation, 
revaluation and impairments; put in place at 1 April 2012 were due to 
expire on 31 March 2017. However the Item 8 determination released on 
24 January 2017 has extended indefinitely the ability to charge 
depreciation, revaluations and impairments to the HRA but reverse in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement. 

• Repayments included in annual finance leases are excluded from MRP 
as they are deemed to be a proxy for MRP. 

 

MRP Overpayments - A change introduced by the revised MHCLG MRP 
Guidance was the allowance that any charges made over the statutory minimum 
revenue provision (MRP), voluntary revenue provision or overpayments, can, if 
needed, be reclaimed in later years if deemed necessary or prudent.  In order 
for these sums to be reclaimed for use in the budget, this policy must disclose 
the cumulative overpayment made each year.  Up until the 31 March 2019 the 
total VRP overpayments were £0m. 
 
 

Page 122



28 
 

 Minimum credit 
criteria / colour 
band 

** Max % of total 
investments/ £ limit per 
institution 

Max. maturity 
period 

DMADF – UK Government N/A Unlimited 6 months 

 

UK Government gilts 
UK sovereign 
rating 

 

Unlimited 
 

12 months 

 

UK Government Treasury bills 
UK sovereign 
rating 

 

Unlimited 
 

12 months 

Bonds issued by multilateral 
development banks 

 

AAA 
 

Unlimited 
 

6 months 

Money Market Funds (CNAV, 
LVAV & VNAV) 

 

AAA 

 

£7m any one 
institution and £18m in total 

 

Liquid 

 

Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds 
with a credit score of 1.5 

AAA 
£7m any one 
institution and £18m in total 

Liquid 

Local authorities N/A 
£5m any one institution and £20m in 
total 

 

24 months 

Property Funds N/A £5m in total 20 Years 

 

Term deposits with banks and 
building societies 

Purple 

 

 
Blue 
 
 
Orange 

£8m any 
one institution and 
£12m in total 

 
£7m any one 
institution and £12m in total 

 
£8m any 
one institution and 
£20m in total 

Up to 12 
months 

 
 
 
Up to 12 months 
 
 
 

Up to 12 months 

 
Term deposits with banks and 
building societies 

Red 
 
 
 
Green 
 
 
No Colour 

£8m any 
one institution and 
£40m in total 

 
£6m any one 
institution and £20m in total 

 
Nil 

Up to 6 
Months 

 
 
 
Up to 100 days 
 
Not for use 

 

APPENDIX 12B(3) 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT PRACTICE (TMP1) – CREDIT AND 
COUNTERPARTY RISK MANAGEMENT 

 
SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: All such investments will be sterling denominated, with 
maturities up to maximum of 1 year with the exception of other Local Authorities which 
have a maximum of 2 years and investments in Property Funds which are longer-term 
investments. All investments will meet the minimum ‘high’ quality criteria where 
applicable. 

 
A variety of investment instruments will be used, subject to the credit quality of the 
institution, and depending on the type of investment made it will fall into one of the above 
categories. The criteria, time limits and monetary limits applying to institutions or 
investment vehicles are: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 123



29 
 

 

 

Non Specified Investments: In light of the current and forecast low interest rates on 
specified investments the Council included the opportunity to invest in established 
Property Funds run by Fund Managers in a previous Treasury Management Strategy. 
These funds are longer term investments (typically 2-5 years) and give potentially higher 
returns than more liquid investment categories. Investments totaling £5m have been 
made in Property Funds in 2018. These investments will still form part of the £25m limit 
for investments of over 365 days duration, which is felt to be affordable within the Councils 
available reserves and balances. 

 
Accounting treatment of investments.  The accounting treatment may differ from the 
underlying cash transactions arising from investment decisions made by this Council. To 
ensure that the Council is protected from any adverse revenue impact, which may arise 
from these differences, we will review the accounting implications of new 
transactions before they are undertaken.

Page 124



30 
 

APPENDIX 12B(4) 

APPROVED COUNTRIES FOR INVESTMENTS 
 

This list is based on those countries which have sovereign ratings of AA- or higher 
(we show the lowest rating from Fitch, Moody’s and S&P) and also, (except - at the 
time of writing - for Hong Kong, Norway and Luxembourg), have banks operating in 
sterling markets which have credit ratings of green or above in the Capita Asset 
Services credit worthiness service. 

 
AAA 

       Australia 

       Canada 

       Denmark 

       Germany 

       Luxembourg 

       Netherlands 

       Norway 

       Singapore 

       Sweden 

       Switzerland 
 
 

AA+ 

       Finland 

       U.S.A. 

 

AA 

       Abu Dhabi (UAE) 

       France 
       Hong Kong 
        U.K. 
 

AA- 
Belgium 
Qatar 

 

Page 125



31 
 

 

APPENDIX 12B(5) 

 

 

List of Approved Brokers for Investments 
 
The list below represents approved brokers that the Council will use to facilitate its 
investment strategy when necessary; 

 
 
 

       King and Shaxson 
 

       Tradition (UK) Ltd 
 

       RP Martin 
 

       Link Asset Services Agency Treasury Services

Page 126



32 
 

 

APPENDIX 12B (6) 

 

 

Current Investments as at 17th January 2019 (for information only). 
 

For illustrative purposes only the Council’s investments as at 17th 
January 2019 are set out below.  Please note that these investments alter on a 
daily basis. 

 
 

Institution Colour Amount £m Maturity Date 

Liverpool City Council N/A 2,000 25/01/2019 

Bournemouth Borough 
Council 

N/A 2,000 27/09/2019 

Wyre Forest District Council N/A 2,000 09/10/2020 

Sumitomo Mitsui Banking 
Corporation Europe 

Red 2,000 12/02/2019 

Sumitomo Mitsui Banking 
Corporation Europe 

Red 2,000 18/03/2019 

Close Brothers Red 2,000 26/04/2019 

Nationwide Building Society Red 5,000 08/07/2019 

Standard Chartered Bank Red 8,000 35 Days 

Bank of Scotland Orange 8,000 95 Days 

HSBC Bank Orange 5,000 3 Months 

Santander Orange 3,000 180 Days 

Money Market Funds 
AAA 
Rated 

17,090 1 Day 

Property Funds N/A 5,000  

TOTAL  63,090 
 

 
 

Page 127



33 
 

 

APPENDIX 12B(7) 

 

 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT SCHEME OF DELEGATION 
 
 
(i) Council 

 
• receiving and reviewing reports on treasury management policies, practices 

and activities; 
• approval of annual strategy. 
 

 
(ii) Cabinet 

 
• approval of/amendments to the organisation’s adopted clauses, treasury 

management policy 
• statement and treasury management practices; 
• budget consideration and approval; 
• approval of the division of responsibilities; 
• receiving and reviewing monitoring reports and acting on recommendations; 

 
 
(iii) Audit Committee/Overview Scrutiny Board 
 

• reviewing the treasury management policy and procedures and making 
recommendations to the responsible body.

Page 128



34 
 

 
APPENDIX 12B(8) 

 

 

 THE TREASURY MANAGEMENT ROLE OF THE SECTION 151 OFFICER 
 
 The S151 (responsible) officer 

 
• recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, 

reviewing the same regularly, and monitoring compliance; 
• submitting regular treasury management policy reports; 
• submitting budgets and budget variations; 
• receiving and reviewing management information reports; 
• reviewing the performance of the treasury management function; 
• ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the 

effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management function; 
• ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit; 
• recommending the appointment of external service providers. 
• ensuring that due diligence has been carried out on all treasury and non-financial 

investments and is in accordance with the risk appetite of the authority 
• ensure that the authority has appropriate legal powers to undertake 

expenditure on non- financial assets and their financing 
• ensuring the proportionality of all investments so that the authority does not 

undertake a level of investing which exposes the authority to an excessive level 
of risk compared to its financial resources 

• ensuring that an adequate governance process is in place for the approval, 
monitoring and ongoing risk management of all non-financial investments and long 
term liabilities 

• ensuring that members are adequately informed and understand the risk 
exposures taken on by an authority 

• ensuring that the authority has adequate expertise, either in house or externally 
provided, to carry out the above 

Page 129



OVERVIEW SCRUTINY GROUP – 11TH FEBRUARY 2019

Report of the Cabinet

OVERVIEW SCRUTINY GROUP PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY – 
CABINET RESPONSE

Purpose of Report

To set out the Cabinet’s responses to the recommendations of the Group on pre-decision 
scrutiny items.

Action Requested

To note the Cabinet’s responses to the recommendations submitted by the Group on items 
considered for pre-decision scrutiny.  

Policy Context

One of the principles of effective scrutiny, identified by the Centre for Public Scrutiny, is “provide 
a constructive critical friend challenge to the Executive”.

Pre-decision Scrutiny

Since the May meeting of the Group, the Cabinet has considered the following items on which 
the Group undertook pre-decision scrutiny:

A. PLAYING PITCHES, OPEN SPACES AND BUILT FACILITIES STRATEGIES

B. DISCRETIONARY HOUSES IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION LICENSING SCHEME OPTIONS

C. TENANCY STRATEGY

Details of the Group’s consideration of the items as reported to the Cabinet on the 15th January 
2019 are set out in the appendix to this report. 

The Chair of the Group, Councillor Capleton, attended the Cabinet’s meeting on the 15th 
January 2019 to present the Group’s reports to the Cabinet.

Cabinet Response 

The Cabinet considered the Group’s reports and acknowledged the work undertaken and the 
views of the Group.  In particular, the Cabinet responded as follows to the reports:

Playing Pitches, Open Spaces and Built Facilities Strategies

The Cabinet adopted the officer recommendations, which the Group had supported.

Discretionary Houses in Multiple Occupation Licensing Scheme Options

The Cabinet adopted the officer recommendations, which the Group had supported.

Tenancy Strategy

The Cabinet adopted the officer recommendations, which the Group had supported.Page 130

Agenda Item 7



Report Implications

The following implications have been identified for this report:

Financial Implications 

None.

Risk Management 

No risks have been identified in connection with this report.

Background Papers: None

Officer to contact: Nadia Ansari
Democratic Services Officer
01509 634502
nadia.ansari@charnwood.gov.uk 

Page 131

mailto:nadia.ansari@charnwood.gov.uk


APPENDIX 

PLAYING PITCHES, OPEN SPACES AND BUILT FACILITIES STRATEGIES

Recommendation of the Overview Scrutiny Group

That the Cabinet be informed that the Group supports the recommendations as set out in the 
report of the Head of Cleansing and Open Spaces.

Reason 

Having considered the report and asked questions of the Lead Member for Performance of 
Major Contracts, the Strategic Director for Neighbourhoods and Community Wellbeing, the 
Head of Leisure and Culture and the Head of Cleansing and Open Spaces on the matter, the 
Group concluded that it would be appropriate for the Cabinet to approve the recommendations 
set out in the report.

Meeting Discussion

The Lead Member for Performance of Major Contracts, the Strategic Director for 
Neighbourhoods and Community Wellbeing, the Head of Leisure and Culture and the Head  of  
Cleansing  and   Open   Spaces   attended   the   meeting   to   assist   with consideration of the 
item and gave the following responses to issues raised:

(i) Confirmation was given that in some cases the Council was not adopting new 
developments, rather they were being managed by not for profit organisations. 
The Council was happy with how the organisations were managing the spaces 
and there did not appear to be any issues with quality, although it was only the 
start of the programme.

(ii) The Council had already committed resources to support some of the plans 
from the General Fund. Further funding would be secured through the SUE’s and 
from partner organisations such as the FA (Football Association).

(iii) A robust strategy was in place to ensure that Section 106 money was spent in 
time. Parish clerks were informed of the timescale and there was a planning 
officer in place to manage the Section 106 agreements and monitor the 
timescales.

(iv) Reference was made to concerns from County Councillor Max Hunt regarding 
the strategies, which had been circulated to the Group prior to the meeting.

(v) The Council was open to adopting land and open spaces if the developers were 
willing to pay the commuted sum required. Decisions were made on an individual 
basis.

(vi) The strategy was created in line with National guidance which ensured there 
was a consistent approach.

(vii) The  Group  was  assured  that  there  had  been  a  very  thorough  public 
consultation with   extensive   communication   to   ensure   involvement   from 
members of the public and parish and town councils. The action plans would also 
continue to involve the public on an ongoing basis.

 

Page 132



DISCRETIONARY HOUSES IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION LICENSING SCHEME OPTIONS

Recommendations of the Overview Scrutiny Group

That the Cabinet be informed that although the Group disputes some of the data provided in 
the report the Group supports the recommendations as set out in the report of the Head of 
Strategic and Private Sector Housing.

Reason

Having considered the report and asked questions of the Lead Member for Regulatory 
Services, Enforcement and Licensing and the Head of Strategic and Private Sector Housing on 
the matter, the Group concluded that it would be appropriate for the Cabinet to approve the 
recommendations set out in the report.

Meeting Discussion

The Lead Member for Regulatory Services, Enforcement and Licensing and the Head of 
Strategic and Private Sector Housing attended the meeting to assist with consideration of the 
item and gave the following responses to issues raised:

(i) The Group was advised that the evidence gathered for the report was based on 
the level   of   formal   complaints   received   regarding   HMO   properties.   In 
Charnwood the complaint level was under 20% whereas other Councils who 
had introduced a discretionary licensing scheme cited complaint levels of up to
45%.  The  Council  had  to  ensure  that  there  was  sufficient  demonstrable 
evidence to prove the need for a discretionary licensing scheme in the Borough 
and at present the evidence suggested that the need was not there.  However, 
the Lead Member for Regulatory Services, Enforcement and Licensing referred 
to many Members having additional anecdotal evidence that problems with 
HMO’s were much more widespread than as indicated by the available formal 
evidence.

(ii) Funding of £65,000 from the Rogue Landlord Enforcement Scheme had been 
secured to carry out further research in the Borough relating to HMO’s. The 
Group was advised that £15,000 would be used by the Planning Department and 
be invested in actions for the Local Plan. The other £50,000 would be used to  
pay  for  external  staff  to  carry  out  research  in  the  area,  investigating 
properties and interviewing residents.

(iii) The Group was advised that once further research evidence had been gathered 
it would be used to assess whether a discretionary licensing scheme could be 
justified. If so, this would involve setting license fees to cover the administration 
costs of the proposed scheme.

(iv) The Council already had a Corporate Enforcement Policy in place to address 
complaints using an incremental approach which was replicated in service 
specific policies.

(v) The  Group  was  concerned  that  there  was  a  void  between  the  anecdotal 
evidence they had regarding HMO’s and the evidence reported to the Council. 
There was an agreement that something needed to be done to gather the 
further evidence required to be able to introduce an appropriate scheme.

Page 133



TENANCY STRATEGY

Recommendations of the Overview Scrutiny Group

That the Cabinet be informed that the Group supports the recommendations as set 
out in the report of the Head of Strategic and Private Sector Housing.

Reason

Having considered the report and asked questions of the Lead Member for Housing 
and the Head of Strategic and Private Sector Housing on the matter, the Group 
concluded that   it   would   be   appropriate   for   the   Cabinet   to   approve   
the recommendations set out in the report.

Meeting Discussion

The Lead Member for Housing and the Head of Strategic and Private Sector 
Housing attended the meeting to assist with consideration of the item and gave the 
following responses to issues raised:

(i) The Group was advised that under the Localism Act there was an 
option for local authorities and Registered Providers to use fixed term 
tenancies. The strategy made reference to the guidelines, but the 
Council had not yet decided whether to adopt the fixed term tenancies 
as part of their own policy.

(ii) The report was commended for recognising the need to provide 
affordable housing for residents and the Group was pleased with 
the way the Council dealt with tenants on an individual basis.

(iii) A separate Tenancy Policy would be presented to Cabinet after 
consultation had been completed with tenants to get their views.

 

Page 134



OVERVIEW SCRUTINY GROUP – 11TH FEBRUARY 2019

Report of the Head of Strategic Support

WORK PROGRAMME

Purpose of Report

1. To consider the list of forthcoming Executive Key Decisions and the Group’s 
Work Programme in order to schedule items to be considered for pre-decision 
scrutiny.

2. To provide an opportunity for members of the Group to raise suggestions on 
issues for scrutiny, in addition to pre-decision scrutiny, which fall within the 
Group’s remit, for scheduling by the Scrutiny Management Board.

Work Programme 

The Group’s current Work Programme is attached at Appendix 1.

In addition to Cabinet pre-decision scrutiny, the Group is also able to consider for 
inclusion on the Work Programme (subject to the agreement of Scrutiny 
Management Board):

(i) Scrutiny of external public service providers and partners;
(ii) Scrutiny of outside bodies, especially those which the Council gives grants to 

and/or has service level agreements with;
(iii) Scrutiny of services which are shared with other local authorities including 

joint scrutiny of those services.

Key Decisions

To enable the Group to be aware of the Key Decisions to be taken by the Cabinet 
over the coming months and to determine which, if any, of these items should be 
programmed for pre-decision scrutiny, details of forthcoming Exempt and Key 
Decisions to be taken by the Cabinet are attached as Appendix 2.

Items dated prior to or for this meeting have been removed to avoid confusion on 
Appendix 2.

Background Papers: None
Officer to contact: Nadia Ansari

Democratic Services Officer
(01509) 634502

Page 135

Agenda Item 8



Responsible 
Body 

Meeting 
Date 

Issue 
Scope of Item / 

Terms of Reference 
Reason for Scrutiny 

Invitees / 
Officers 

Progress / Notes / Action 
Requested 

Overview 
Scrutiny 
Group 

11th March 
2019 

 
 (standing 

item) 

OSG Pre-decision 
scrutiny – Cabinet 
Response 

A report of Cabinet, 
setting out the 
response of Cabinet to 
recommendations by 
the Overview Scrutiny 
Group on pre-decision 
scrutiny items. 

 

N. Ansari 
(report) 
Lead 

Officer 
(meeting) 

 

Overview 
Scrutiny 
Group 

11th March 
2019 

 
 (standing 

item) 

Work Programme 
To agree and schedule 
items to be considered 
at future meetings. 

To allow the Group to identify items, including 
the scrutiny of forthcoming Key Decisions, pre-
decision scrutiny and the scrutiny of external 
public service providers and partners. 

N. Ansari 
(report) 
Lead 

Officer 
(meeting) 

  

Overview 
Scrutiny 
Group 

11th March 
2019 

 
 (standing 

item) 

Cabinet items for 
pre-decision 
scrutiny 

  
To be 

confirmed 

Items may be determined by the 
Chair and Vice-chair in consultation 
with the Democratic Services 
Manager. 
 
Further items may also be added 
following publication of the Cabinet 
agenda. 

Overview 
Scrutiny 
Group 

11th March 
2019  

 
(if 

applicable, 
standing 

item) 

Pre-decision 
scrutiny of any 
specific financial 
matters to be 
considered by 
Cabinet. 

 

Pre-decision scrutiny of any out-turn reports, 
virements and in-year service pressures, 
particularly when they are related to additional 
costs arising from decisions by other agencies 
to reduce services.  

To be 
confirmed 

Agreed by SMB 23 January 2019 
(see minute 31.2) (supports 
recommendation of Budget 
Scrutiny Panel Jan 2019). 

P
age 136

Nadiaa
Text Box
APPENDIX 1



Responsible 
Body 

Meeting 
Date 

Issue 
Scope of Item / 

Terms of Reference 
Reason for Scrutiny 

Invitees / 
Officers 

Progress / Notes / Action 
Requested 

Overview 
Scrutiny 
Group 

11th March 
2019 

Local 
Development 
Scheme 

 Pre-decision scrutiny of Cabinet report. 
R. 
Bennett 

Added by SMB 23 January 2019. 

Overview 
Scrutiny 
Group 

June 2019 
Capital Plan 
Outturn 2018/19 

 Cabinet item for pre-decision scrutiny. 
T. 

Stankley 
Added by SMB 08 August 2018 
(see min 14.3). 

Overview 
Scrutiny 
Group 

June 2019 

General Fund and 
HRA Revenue 
Outturn 2018/19 
and Carry 
Forward of 
Budgets 

 Cabinet item for pre-decision scrutiny. 
T. 

Stankley 
Added by SMB 08 August 2018 
(see min 14.3). 

Overview 
Scrutiny 
Group 

As 
required 

Capital Plan 
Amendment 
Reports 

 Cabinet Report for Pre-decision Scrutiny. 
T. 

Stankley 

Agreed by OSG at its meeting on 
13th November 2017, with the item 
to be included when the Chair and 
Vice-chair identify that there are 
particular issues that require 
scrutiny in that quarter’s report. 

P
age 137



Responsible 
Body 

Meeting 
Date 

Issue 
Scope of Item / 

Terms of Reference 
Reason for Scrutiny 

Invitees / 
Officers 

Progress / Notes / Action 
Requested 

 
Note: Over the next 10 months, meetings of the Overview Scrutiny Group will be held as follows: 
 
11 March 2019 
8 April 2019 
3 June 2019 
1 July 2019 
5 August 2019 
16 September 2019 
14 October 2019 
11 November 2019 
9 December 2019 
 

 

P
age 138



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  
 
 
 

FORTHCOMING KEY 
DECISIONS AND DECISIONS 
TO BE TAKEN IN PRIVATE 

BY CHARNWOOD BOROUGH 
COUNCIL’S EXECUTIVE 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Published 
16th January 2019 

 

 
What is a Key Decision? 
A key decision is one which: 

 commits the Council to expenditure, savings or increases or 
reductions in income of £100,000 or more in any financial 
year;  

 makes proposals in relation to the budget or the policy 
framework under Budget and Policy Framework Procedure 
14.2(a); or 

 will result in the closure of any facility from which Borough 
Council services are provided or a reduction by more than 
10% in the level of a discrete service provided. 

 
In other cases the impact of the decision will be considered in 
terms of the strategic nature of the decision, the effect on the 
amenity of the community or quality of service provided by the 
Council to a significant number of people living or working in the 
locality affected, the size of the area affected and the likely 
public interest in the decision.  
 
What is a Private Meeting? 
Meetings of the Council’s Cabinet are open to the public to 
attend.   All or part of a meeting may be held in private, where 
the item of business to be considered may result in confidential 
or exempt information being disclosed. Definitions of confidential 
and exempt information are set out in the Access to Information 
Procedures in the Council’s Constitution. 
  
Representations 
Members of the public are able to make representations about 
forthcoming key decisions to be taken by the Council’s 
Executive, these should be made in writing (including via e-mail) 
to the responsible officer (details are listed for each proposed 
key decision).  Members of the public are also able to make 
representations concerning proposals to hold a meeting in 
private, these should be made in writing (including via e-mail) to 
Democratic Services (contact details below).   In both cases, 
representations should be submitted by midday on the working 
day preceding the date on which the decision is due to be taken. 

 

Other information 
This document supersedes all previous Forward Plans. 
 
 
If you have any general queries, please contact: 
 
Karen Widdowson 
Democratic Services Manager 
Charnwood Borough Council, 
Southfield Road, Loughborough, Leicestershire, LE11 2TX 
Tel: 01509 634785 
Email: democracy@charnwood.gov.uk    

Page 139

Nadiaa_1
Text Box
APPENDIX 2



 

Decision Item What is the nature of decision to be taken? 
Who will 
take the 

decision? 

When is the 
earliest a 

decision will 
be taken? 

Documents 
to be 

considered? 

Will the report be 
considered in 

public? 

Who can give me more 
information? 

Capital Strategy To consider a Capital Strategy, for recommendation to 
Council. 

Cabinet 
 
 
Council 

14th February 
2019 
 
25th February 
2019 

Report Yes Tina Stankley 
Head of Finance and 
Property Services 
Tel: 01509 634810 
tina.stankley@charnwood
.gov.uk 

Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement, 
Minimum Revenue 
Provision Strategy and 
Annual Investment 
Strategy 2019-20 
 

To seek approval to the Treasury and Investment 
Strategy for 2019-20 and to seek approval to the 
annual report on the Prudential Code. 

Cabinet 
 
 
Council 

14th February 
2019 
 
25th February 
2019 

Report Yes Tina Stankley 
Head of Finance and 
Property Services 
Tel: 01509 634810 
tina.stankley@charnwood
.gov.uk 

2019-20 General Fund 
and HRA Revenue 
Budgets and Council 
Tax 

To seek approval to the Revenue Budget, Capital 
Plan, Financial Plan for 2019-20 and to propose the 
Council Tax for approval by Council. 

Cabinet 
 
 
Council 

14th February 
2019 
 
25th February 
2019 

Report Yes Tina Stankley 
Head of Finance and 
Property Services 
Tel: 01509 634810 
tina.stankley@charnwood
.gov.uk 

Charnwood Grants To consider applications for revenue funding received 
in round four (additional) of the Community Facilities 
Capital Grants and Community Development Grant 
Schemes for 2018/19. 

Cabinet 14th March 
2019 

Report Yes Julie Robinson 
Head of Neighbourhood 
Services 
Tel: 01509 634590 
julie.robinson@charnwoo
d.gov.uk 

Children and Young 
People’s Strategy 
2019-2024 

To consider the Children and Young People’s Strategy 
2019-2024 for approval. 

Cabinet 14th March 
2019 

Report Yes Julie Robinson 
Head of Neighbourhood 
Services 
Tel: 01509 634590 
julie.robinson@charnwoo
d.gov.uk 

Housing Income and 
Financial Inclusion 
Policy 2019-2024 

To consider a Housing Income and Financial Inclusion 
Policy 2019-2024 for approval. 

Cabinet 14th March 
2019 

Report Yes Peter Oliver 
Head of Landlord 
Services  
Tel: 01509 634952 
peter.oliver@charnwood.
gov.uk  

P
age 140



 

Decision Item What is the nature of decision to be taken? 
Who will 
take the 

decision? 

When is the 
earliest a 

decision will 
be taken? 

Documents 
to be 

considered? 

Will the report be 
considered in 

public? 

Who can give me more 
information? 

Revenues and Benefits 
– Future Service 
Delivery Options 

To review the future service delivery options for the 
Revenues and Benefits Service and approve a final 
option to be implemented. 

Cabinet 14th March 
2019 

Report No Karey Barnshaw 
Head of Customer 
Experience 
Tel: 01509 634923 
karey.barnshaw@charnw
ood.gov.uk   

Capital Plan 
Amendment Report 

To consider and approve amendments to the current 
Capital Plan. 

Cabinet 
 
 
Council 

14th March 
2019 
 
25th March 
2019 

Report Yes Tina Stankley 
Head of Finance and 
Property Services 
Tel: 01509 634810 
tina.stankley@charnwood
.gov.uk 

Annual Procurement 
Plan 2019/20 

To seek approval to the Annual Procurement Plan for 
2019/20. 

Cabinet 14th March 
2019 
 

Report Yes Tina Stankley 
Head of Finance and 
Property Services 
Tel: 01509 634810 
tina.stankley@charnwood
.gov.uk 

Housing Capital 
Programme 

To approve the annual investment programme for 
improvements to the Council’s housing stock.  

Cabinet 14th March 
2019 
 

Report Yes Peter Oliver 
Head of Landlord 
Services 
Tel: 01509 634952 
peter.oliver@charnwood.
gov.uk  

Local Development 
Scheme 

To approve a revised Local Development Scheme 
(LDS) so that the programme for the preparation of 
planning documents for Charnwood is agreed. 

Cabinet 14th March 
2019 

Report Yes Richard Bennett 
Head of Planning and 
Regeneration 
Tel: 01509 634763 
richard.bennett@charnwo
od.gov.uk  

Business Plan 2019/20 To set out the Council’s principal activities in delivering 
the Corporate Plan for the Council Year 2019/20. 

Cabinet 14th March 
2019 

Report Yes Adrian Ward 
Head of Strategic Support 
Tel: 01509 634573 
adrian.ward@charnwood.
gov.uk  

P
age 141



 

Decision Item What is the nature of decision to be taken? 
Who will 
take the 

decision? 

When is the 
earliest a 

decision will 
be taken? 

Documents 
to be 

considered? 

Will the report be 
considered in 

public? 

Who can give me more 
information? 

Charnwood Grants To consider applications for revenue funding received 
in round one of the Community Facilities Capital 
Grants and Community Development Grant Schemes 
for 2019/20. 

Cabinet June 2019 Report Yes Julie Robinson 
Head of Neighbourhood 
Services 
Tel: 01509 634590 
julie.robinson@charnwoo
d.gov.uk 

Capital Plan Outturn 
2018/19 

To report the Council’s capital expenditure results for 
2018/19 subject to audit. 

Cabinet June 2019 Report Yes Tina Stankley 
Head of Finance and 
Property Services 
Tel: 01509 634810 
tina.stankley@charnwood
.gov.uk 

General Fund and 
HRA Revenue Outturn 
Report (2018/19) and 
Carry Forward of 
Budgets 

To report the Council’s revenue expenditure results for 
2018/19 subject to audit.  

Cabinet June 2019 Report Yes Tina Stankley 
Head of Finance and 
Property Services 
Tel: 01509 634810 
tina.stankley@charnwood
.gov.uk 

Capital Plan 
Amendment Report 

To consider and approve amendments to the Capital 
Plan. 

Cabinet 
 
Council 

July 2019 
 
September 
2019 

Report Yes Tina Stankley 
Head of Finance and 
Property Services 
Tel: 01509 634810 
tina.stankley@charnwood
.gov.uk  

Amendments to 
Annual Procurement 
Plan 

To consider possible amendments to the Annual 
Procurement Plan. 

Cabinet July 2019 Report  Yes Tina Stankley 
Head of Finance and 
Property Services 
Tel: 01509 634810 
tina.stankley@charnwood
.gov.uk 

Charnwood Dog 
Control Public Spaces 
Protection Order 2019 

To approve the formal Notice of Intention to renew the 
Borough-wide Public Spaces Protection Order for Dog 
Control (dog fouling, dogs on leads and dogs under 
control) under Section 59 of the Anti-social Behaviour, 
Crime and Policing Act 2014. 

Cabinet July 2019 Report Yes Alan Twells  
Head of Regulatory 
Services 
Tel: 01509 634650 
alan.twells@charnwood.g
ov.uk  

P
age 142



 

Decision Item What is the nature of decision to be taken? 
Who will 
take the 

decision? 

When is the 
earliest a 

decision will 
be taken? 

Documents 
to be 

considered? 

Will the report be 
considered in 

public? 

Who can give me more 
information? 

Charnwood Grants To consider applications for revenue funding received 
in round two of the Community Facilities Capital 
Grants and Community Development Grants Schemes 
for 2019/20. 

Cabinet September 
2019 

Report Yes Julie Robinson 
Head of Neighbourhood 
Services 
Tel: 01509 634590 
julie.robinson@charnwoo
d.gov.uk 

Amendments to 
Annual Procurement 
Plan 

To consider possible amendments to the Annual 
Procurement Plan. 

Cabinet September 
2019 

Report Yes Tina Stankley 
Head of Finance and 
Property Services 
Tel: 01509 634810 
tina.stankley@charnwood
.gov.uk 

Capital Plan 
Amendment Report 

To consider and approve amendments to the Capital 
Plan. 

Cabinet 
 
 
Council 

September 
2019 
 
November 
2019 

Report Yes Tina Stankley 
Head of Finance and 
Property Services 
Tel: 01509 634810 
tina.stankley@charnwood
.gov.uk 

 Medium Term 
Financial Strategy 
2020-2023 

To present a revised MTFS to Cabinet and Council for 
approval. 

Cabinet 
 
 
Council 

November 
2019 
 
January 2020 
 

Report 
 
 
Report 

Yes 
 
 
Yes 

Tina Stankley 
Head of Finance and 
Property Services 
Tel: 01509 634810 
tina.stankley@charnwood
.gov.uk  

Draft Capital Plan 
2020/21 – 2022/23 

To consider the draft Capital Plan for consultation. Cabinet December 
2019 

Report Yes Tina Stankley 
Head of Finance and 
Property Services 
Tel: 01509 634810 
tina.stankley@charnwood
.gov.uk 

Charnwood Grants To enable Cabinet to consider applications for funding 
received in round three of the Community Facilities 
Capital Grants and Community Development Grants 
Schemes for 2019/20. 

Cabinet December 
2019 

Report Yes Julie Robinson 
Head of Neighbourhood 
Services 
Tel: 01509 634590 
julie.robinson@charnwoo
d.gov.uk  

P
age 143



 

Decision Item What is the nature of decision to be taken? 
Who will 
take the 

decision? 

When is the 
earliest a 

decision will 
be taken? 

Documents 
to be 

considered? 

Will the report be 
considered in 

public? 

Who can give me more 
information? 

 Draft General Fund 
and HRA 2020-21 
Budgets 

To seek approval to the Draft Revenue Budget for 
2020-21 as a basis for consultation. 

Cabinet December 
2019 

Report Yes Tina Stankley 
Head of Finance and 
Property Services 
Tel: 01509 634810 
tina.stankley@charnwood
.gov.uk 

Capital Plan 
Amendment Report 

To consider and approve amendments to the Capital 
Plan. 

Cabinet 
 
 
Council 

December 
2019 
 
January 2020 
 

Report Yes Tina Stankley 
Head of Finance and 
Property Services 
Tel: 01509 634810 
tina.stankley@charnwood
.gov.uk 

Amendments to 
Annual Procurement 
Plan 

To consider possible amendments to the Annual 
Procurement Plan. 

Cabinet December 
2019 

Report Yes Tina Stankley 
Head of Finance and 
Property Services 
Tel: 01509 634810 
tina.stankley@charnwood
.gov.uk 

 
 

P
age 144



 

EXECUTIVE MEETINGS TO BE HELD IN PRIVATE 
 

The following items are due to be considered by the Council’s Cabinet and the public could potentially be excluded since exempt or 
confidential information could be considered.  

 
Decision Item What is the nature of decision to be taken? Who will 

take the 
decision? 

When is the 
earliest a 
decision will 
be taken? 

Documents 
to be 
considered? 

Will the report 
be 
considered in 
public? 

Who can give me more 
information? 

Revenues and Benefits 
– Future Service 
Delivery Options 

To review the future service delivery options for the 
Revenues and Benefits Service and approve a final 
option to be implemented. 

Cabinet 14th March 
2019 

Report No Karey Barnshaw 
Head of Customer 
Experience 
Tel: 01509 634923 
karey.barnshaw@charnwoo
d.gov.uk 

 
When items are considered in exempt or confidential session, the reasons for exemption would fall into one or more of the following 
categories: 
1. Information relating to any individual. 
2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information). 
4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any 

labour relations matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the 
authority. 

5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings. 
6. Information which reveals that the authority proposes— 

(a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or 
(b) to make an order or direction under any enactment. 

7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime.

P
age 145



 

CABINET MEMBERS 
 
Members of the Council’s Cabinet are as follows: 
 

 Name (Group) Lead Member Responsibilities 

Councillor Morgan 
(Conservative) 

Leader of the Council 
Whole Council, Strategic Partnerships and 
Communications 

Councillor Barkley 
(Conservative) 

Deputy Leader of the Council 
Finance and Property 

Councillor Bokor 
(Conservative) 

Loughborough 

Councillor Harper-Davies 
(Conservative) 

Performance of Major Contracts 

Councillor Mercer 
(Conservative) 

Housing 

Councillor Poland 
(Conservative) 

Equalities, Member and Strategic Services 

Councillor Rollings 
  (Conservative) 

Deputy Lead Member for Customer Services  

Councillor Smidowicz 
(Conservative) 

Regulatory Services, Enforcement and Licensing 

Councillor Taylor 
 (Conservative) 

Communities, Safety and Wellbeing 

Councillor Vardy 
(Conservative) 

Planning, Inward Investment and Tourism 
Strategy 

 
 
 

Page 146


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting
	Minutes

	6a Lightbulb Service Implementation Update
	6b Capital Strategy 2019/20
	7 Overview scrutiny group pre-decision scrutiny - cabinet response
	8 Work programme
	app 1
	app 2




